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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(as at 31st December 2019)

DEVELOPMENT OF THE ACTIVITY

In 2019, the implementation of the new business model undertaken 
in recent years by Intesa SanPaolo Luxembourg Bank (the Bank 
hereafter) to strengthen the ability to consolidate and grow in an 
external difficult context continues. The Bank achieves solid results 
with a corporate flavor in a market characterized by the persistence 
of negative trends. In the first quarter of 2019 the Equity markets 
rebounds worldwide making gains while Government and Corporate 
bonds advance after the weak end of 2018 as concerns over the 
US-China trade dispute eases and major central banks grow more 
accommodative. The US Fed decided in fact no further interest 
rate rises during the year, blocking on the 2.25% - 2.5% range, with 
a revised growth forecasts down to 2.1% from the previous 2.3%, 
causing the Treasury 3M/10Y yield curve inversion for the first time 
since 2007, a pre-recession signal. European Central Bank promises 
as well to keep rates unchanged until the end of the year, setting the 
base for the third TLTRO program, of two years starting in September, 
to stimulate the European economy whose macroeconomic slowdown 
is higher than expected. Nevertheless, the TLTRO details released 
in March disappoint the markets, while ongoing low interest rates 
continue to erode net interest margins for Banks and the delay to 
Brexit beyond March 2019 leads to a Risk off sentiment. The eurozone 
economy grows by just 0.2% in the last quarter of 2018 and in the 
same time Germany sees zero growth while Italy slips into recession. 
In this contest, while the 10-year Bund becomes a safety investment 
with its yields more than 30 bps lower, falling below zero toward 
the end of March for the first time since October 2016, the stock 
market sectors show a mixed picture. Economically sensitive areas 
of the market such as industrials and information technology perform 
well, especially in US, after having suffered a difficult Q4, but also 
the safe haven consumer staples and real estate sectors are among 
the top performers. Healthcare generates instead more muted gains 
due to uncertainty over potential regulatory changes while gains in 
financials are also hindered by the Fed’s and ECB’s comments on rate 
trajectory. High yield credit outperforms investment grade, with both 
outperforming government bond markets. Global growth concerns 
remain a drag, however. China’s economy grows at its weakest pace 
since 1990. The Chinese government lowers its full-year growth target 
to 6-6.5% and outlines higher public spending and tax cuts, while the 
central bank cuts the reserve requirement ratios for banks. The Bank 
closes the Q1 with positive results in all its Business Divisions even 
if these results are lower than expected due to a delay in the closing 
of new deals and because of a risk off strategy on Italian Securities.

The second quarter of 2019 continues to be driven by concerns over 
the US-China trade war, which causes a steep fall in May when it 
escalates. US raises tariffs on 200 $Bn worth of Chinese imports and 
adds Chinese telecommunications group Huawei to a trade blacklist 
while China counters with retaliatory tariffs on US goods. However, 
developed Stock markets increase, supported by increasingly 
accommodative central banks and hopes of progress in trade tensions 
by the end of June, when signs emerge of progress in talks, following 
the G20 Osaka summit. Q2 is a positive quarter for both riskier assets 
and government bonds making gains as the Fed and ECB confirm the 
growing positiveness among policymakers, with both clearing the way 
for further policy measures if needed. In the Eurozone, the Equities 
top performing sectors included again information technology, 
consumer discretionary and industrials and in US, the S&P 500 set 
a new record high while trade-exposed areas of the market, such 
as semiconductors and carmakers ebb and flow over the quarter as 

trade tensions persist. Investors mainly switch to US financial assets 
after the Q1 GDP positive release of 3.2%, revised at 3.1%, higher than 
expected. President Mario Draghi hints that further monetary policy 
easing, such as new bond purchases, or rates cuts could be used if 
the eurozone inflation outlook fails to improve; cyclical areas of the 
financial markets as well as Financials generally perform strongly. In 
the Eurozone the GDP growth is at 0.4% quarter-on-quarter, slightly 
over the expectations with an annual inflation of 1.2% for June, stable 
if compared to the one of May, with the need for an ECB intervention. 
In Italy, after a cut of European Commission forecast for 2019 GDP 
growth to 0.1% from 0.2% and some concerns about the ability to keep 
Deficit/GDP under 3%, the 10Y BTP/Bund Spread widens temporary at 
a level of 274 bps. In Spain, the general elections see the incumbent 
Socialist Party (PSOE) emerges as the largest party making some 
turbulences. The Eurozone financial markets suffer a political 
instability related to Brexit as Theresa May resigns as leader of the 
Conservative Party in UK with the announcement of an extension to 
the Brexit deadline making the UK 10-year yield underperforming 
and 10-year German Bund becoming again a safety investment with 
yield falling over 25bps lower at -0.33%. In the Q2 the Bank continues 
to perform as in the first quarter with positive outcomes from the 
Corporate activity and Credit Risk management.

The third quarter of 2019 is a mixed one for Equities, with developed 
markets making small gains and Government bond yields declining 
markedly due to heightened risk aversion in August when US-
China trade tensions escalate again and speculation over possible 
impeachment proceedings for President Trump further add 
uncertainty. Corporate bonds outperform government bonds, benefit 
from the decline in global yields and, more recently, an improvement 
in risk sentiment. With such a risk aversion, Investment grade 
corporate bonds outperform the riskier high yield part of the market. 
Ongoing global growth concerns rumble on, but central banks remain 
supportive. Despite US economic data is largely stable, the August 
growth concerns lead to a rate cut by the Fed for an amount of  
25 bps. The direct effect is a yield curve inversion indicating significant 
economic pessimism among bond investors. For the first time since 
2007, the 10Y Treasury yield is traded less than 2Y one while in UK 
the Brexit issue and internal political leads to unrest as well to a yield 
curve inversion for the first time since 2008. In the Eurozone, the 
ECB takes steps to boost the flagging economy, including restarting 
quantitative easing and committing to buying. Christine Lagarde, head 
of the International Monetary Fund, replaces Mario Draghi as president 
of the ECB at the end of his term on 31st of October. Economic data 
remains lackluster with confirmation that the Eurozone economy 
expand just 0.2% in Q2 and Germany Q2 GDP is negative for the first 
time at -0.1%. In such a situation, the market Risk off leads the already 
negative 10Y Bund yield to a level of -0.58%, a threshold even lower 
than the 3-month Euribor and the ECB deposit rate. In Italy, politics are 
back in focus as the governing coalition of the right-wing League and 
populist Five Star break up. Instead, Five Star forms a new coalition 
with the Democratic Party, which helps the 10Y BTP/Bund Spread 
to narrow under the resistance of 200 bps. Meanwhile UK sees an 
elevated political uncertainty as Boris Johnson takes over as the UK’s 
new prime minister on a “do or die” pledge to achieve Brexit. In the 
third Quarter, the Bank maintains a positive and stable cruising speed 
that replays the same revenues trend of the previous year with an 
increasing weight of the corporate incomes.

During the fourth quarter global Equity markets is broadly higher 
in the fourth quarter for progress on the US-China trade deal which 
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reaches a partial conclusion with the agreement in the so called 
“phase one”. Duties are suspended and the tariff on 120 $Mio of 
Chinese goods is halved to 7.5%, while China increases the purchases 
of American products by 32 $Bn in the next two years. The exception 
is for emerging markets that struggle with a stronger US dollar while 
Government bonds yields rise and corporate bonds outperform, as 
markets reflect the better mood and central banks remain again 
supportive. The Fed lowers interest rates by 25 basis points, as 
expected, for the third time this year to a range of 1.5% to 1.75%, while 
European Central Bank starts a “depo tearing” program on the 1st 
of November. Christine Lagarde takes over as president of the ECB 
alleviating the recent economic tensions in the eurozone by stating 
that inflation will reach 1.7% in the fourth quarter of 2022 and outlining 
a better scenario, with the first signs of price growth, economic 
stabilization and less risk. Positive signs of growth arrive also from 
macroeconomic data with a Eurozone GDP growth for Q3 removing 
recession worries, expanding by 0.2% quarter-on-quarter. Only UK 
equities underperform against the backdrop of a very strong rebound 
in sterling but the elections victory of Boris Johnson, who obtains 
an absolute majority of the seats, determines a high probability of a 
definitive Brexit on 31 January. Worldwide, consumer discretionary, 
IT and healthcare in US, industrials and materials are among the top 
gaining sectors, supported by hopes of an improving trade picture. By 
contrast, defensive sectors such as consumer staples and utilities are 
weak during the quarter. Emerging market equities record a strong 
return, benefiting from a pick-up in risk appetite. Commodities side the 
Brent crude advances 3% ahead of the December OPEC meeting while 
natural gas rallies 17%. Conversely, the combination of a stronger US 
dollar and the initial uncertainty over a potential US-China “phase 
one” trade deal weighs on industrial metals prices. The Bank ends the 
year with a final rush that leads to present a better economic results 
in comparison with the previous year: all the Divisions show a positive 
economic return taking profit from every available opportunity and 
showing a solid operating organization. Finally is to be highlighted 
the ongoing growth of the Corporate Portfolio, especially in terms of 
volume, which will compensate the incomes coming from the year end 
maturity of intragroup loans.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Bank is 100% owned by Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International 
S.A., Luxembourg is itself fully owned by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (“the 
Parent Company”).

As Parent Company of the Intesa Sanpaolo Banking Group, the Parent 
Company is responsible, pursuant to the Italian Consolidated Law 
on Banking, for the management and coordination of the companies 
belonging to the Banking Group and issues rules as required for the 
implementation of Bank of Italy instructions in the interest of the 
Group’s stability. The Group’s subsidiaries must comply with such rules.

For the purpose of application of such rules, the Parent Company 
has designed reporting procedures between it and its subsidiaries, 
through which the latter refer.

Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg S.A. duly complies with the 
requirements and provisions set forth by its Parent Company, 
especially in terms of assessing effective and transparent financial 
reporting.

The Bank is an issuer under a EUR 70 billion medium term note 
issuance programme on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange under 
the guarantee of the Parent Company. The notes issued under this 
programme by the Bank are of a minimum quota of EUR 100,000. 

Information on corporate governance and ownership structures in Italy 
is required under art. 123-bis of the Italian Consolidated Law on Banking. 
In compliance with this law, the Parent Company produces a separate 
report on this matter which can be viewed in the Governance section 
of the Intesa Sanpaolo website, at www.group.intesasanpaolo.com. 
The Intesa Sanpaolo Banking Group has also adopted a Corporate 
Governance Code available on the Borsa Italiana website (under Borsa 
Italiana/Rules/Corporate Governance).

In Luxembourg, the Bank has chosen Luxembourg as its origin member 
country and therefore applies CSSF circular 12/552 as subsequently 
amended.

The Bank has drawn up a Corporate Governance Policy in accordance 
with the CSSF Circular 12/552 (as amended), which requires 
institutions to set out in writing governance central administration 
arrangements and the internal controls framework.

RISK CONTROL

The risk management process, developed in connection with local 
requirements and Parent Company guidelines, consists in the 
identification, analysis and mitigation of major risks of the Bank 
(compliance and reputational risk, market risks, liquidity risk, credit 
risk and operational risk). It includes different mitigating controls and 
structures.

The Assets/Liabilities Committee monitors the financial risks incurred 
by the Bank. The Committee performs the supervision of the Bank’s 
investment strategies, assets/liabilities mismatching, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk and the liquidity policy. Its main purpose is to ensure 
that the risk profiles remain at the sustainable limit fixed for the Bank.

The work of the Assets/Liabilities Committee is directly supported by 
the Risk Control Function.

The Compliance function identifies, assesses and controls the 
compliance risks by ensuring adherence to legal and regulatory 
requirements and ethical principles including AML.

Credit risk is mainly monitored by the Credit Department on a daily 
basis. A monthly report on Credit Risk is prepared by the Risk Control 
Function with periodical reporting of the risks to the governance 
bodies of the Bank.

The Legal Department monitors constantly the legal risks of the Bank 
and coordinates and monitors activities with external lawyers.

The Internal Audit function evaluates the effectiveness of the Bank’s 
risk management process and the Internal Control System. It performs 
various audit missions with relevant reporting of the results and 
residual risks of the different processes to the Bank’s Management 
and Corporate bodies.
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SUBSIDIARIES AND BRANCHES

The Bank holds only one fully owned subsidiary, Lux Gest Asset 
Management S.A., Luxembourg, which is active as a management 
company for investment funds.

The Bank purchased the Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. Amsterdam Branch 
from the Group through a contribution in kind on 1 February 2016.

As a consequence, the Bank operates through its head-office located 
in Luxembourg-city and through its Branch located in Amsterdam at 
31 December 2019.

PERSPECTIVES

As a subsidiary of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., the Bank operates within the 
worldwide business strategy of the Intesa Sanpaolo Banking Group. 

As per current Business Plan, the Bank is expected to continue with 
the further strengthening of the corporate activities. More in detail:
•	� Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg (“ISPBL”) within the Group 

Corporate & Investment Banking Division (CIB Division) will 
continue to serve Corporate clients and Financial Institutions (FIs) 
in strict coordination with the CIB Division of the Intesa Sanpaolo 
Group (ISP Group), offering a wide range of products/services, 
which can be synthetized in: Commercial Banking, Transaction 
Banking, and Structured Finance. ISPBL also provides Private 
Banking Services, mostly to private and institutional clients 
related to the Intesa SanPaolo Group.

•	 �ISPBL will provide local coverage to customers located in the 
Benelux area, in line with the service model adopted by the CIB 
Division, will aim to be the specialist local bank for Italian groups 
and other foreign customers in Benelux, will develop relationship 
with major international FIs, in particular for Treasury products and 
debt programs, and will act as the local platform to support ISP 
International network in structuring and underwriting international 
corporate debt, monitoring, managing and optimizing lending books;

•	� The World Health Organization declared the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) to be a public health emergency on January 30 2020. 
The virus has had important consequences across the globe, and 
its full impact is not yet known. In addition to the immeasurable 
human toll, the coronavirus is altering business and consumer 
activity in affected areas and beyond. There are obvious and well-
publicized impacts common to most companies, like to the supply 
chain, but the indirect impacts may be overlooked in times of crisis. 

Governing bodies of the Bank are monitoring the situation on a 
continuous basis in connection and coordination with the relevant 
structures of its ultimate Parent Company and the Regulators. In 
particular the Bank:
•	� created a dedicated Crisis Unit since February 24 2020 for the 

identification and management of all operational risks; 
•	� started an analysis on credit exposures possibly affected in direct 

or indirect way by COVID-19 consequences;
•	� strengthened liquidity management in strict coordination with 

Head Office;
•	� took several decisions to reduce operational impacts, like kick off 

of Smart Working since the second week of March 2020 for 100 
relevant employees of the Bank (potentially extended to all staff 
by the third week of March);

•	� started an overall and continuous assessment of the whole 
activities to identify any potential new impact in order to react 
promptly.

With reference to relationships with the relevant structures of the 
ultimate Parent Company, the Bank started a strict coordination with 
Intesa Sanpaolo Group in terms of information flows to the European 
Central Bank (ECB) (the Bank, in fact, is directly involved in weekly 
meetings with the ECB Joint Supervisory Team dedicated to the crisis) 
as well to CSSF (who raised some questions and received proper 
answers by the Bank).

At the moment, thanks to the ongoing monitoring activities and 
actions put in place, the Bank is not experiencing specific issues on 
IT, Operations, Liquidity and Credit risk and it can guarantee a proper 
evolution of its activities.

DEPOSIT GUARANTEE SCHEME AND RESOLUTION MECHANISM

The Luxembourg Government has transposed in national law the 
following two European directives on 18 December 2015:
•	 2014/59
•	 2014/49
which respectively established:
•	� a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions 

and investment firms; 
•	 a deposit guarantee scheme.

The introduction of the two above mentioned directives had a direct 
impact on the Bank, which was called to contribute to the Resolution 
Fund paying an amount of EUR 5,501,915 and to contribute to the 
Fonds de garantie des dépôts (FGDL) paying an amount of EUR 46,667. 

FINANCIAL ELEMENTS FOR 2018

Total assets as at 31 December 2019 stood at EUR 22.2 billion  
(31 December 2018: EUR 21.0 billion).

Loans and advances to credit institutions (including balances with 
central banks) amounted to EUR 9.3 billion as at 31 December 2019, 
showing a slight increase when compared to 31 December 2018  
(EUR 8.1 billion). Loans and advances granted to customers other than 
credit institutions amounted to EUR 10.6 billion as at 31 December 
2019 (EUR 10.4 billion as at 31 December 2018).

Financial assets held for trading are mainly composed of derivative 
financial instruments measured at their fair value and amounted 
to EUR 30 million at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:  
EUR 48 million). Those are mainly composed of cross currency 
interest rate swaps and foreign exchange derivative contracts. 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss included 
one asset disposed at the beginning of 2019; it amounted to EUR 10.4 
million as at 31 December 2018 and it was a financial debt instrument 
purchased to be kept in the Bank’s portfolio but measured at fair value.

Financial instruments measured at Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI), which amounted to EUR 2.3 billion 
as ar 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: EUR 2.4 billion), are 
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composed of sovereign debt securities (Italian, Spanish, French, 
Luxembourgish, German, Dutch and Belgian Governments) for an 
amount of EUR 1.7 billion, debt securities issued by the other public 
entities for an amount of EUR 0.2 billion and other bonds for an amount 
of EUR 0.4 billion. The caption also included one loan, which has been 
valued at fair value for an amount of EUR 7.0 million.

Concerning liabilities, during 2016 Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg 
S.A. participated in the Long Term Refinancing Operation (LTRO) 
mechanism with the Luxembourg Central Bank (“BCL”) for an amount 
of EUR 0.8 billion. To enter into such program, the Bank pledged in 
favour of the BCL part of its debt instruments kept in its financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio, 
which were eligible for such purpose.

Deposits from customers amounted to EUR 3.2 billion at end of the 
year (31 December 2018: EUR 6.3 billion). The Bank also issued debt 
certificates for an amount of EUR 12.7 billion as at 31 December 2019 
(31 December 2018: EUR 10.2 billion) composed as follows:
—	� certificates of deposit: EUR 5.4 billion (mainly subscribed by 

Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A., the Bank’s local 
parent company);

—	� non-convertible bonds: EUR 7.3 billion, which are part of a 
European Commercial Paper program and of the European 
Medium Term Notes program described herein.

The net profit for the year amounted to EUR 94.1 million as at 31 
December 2019 (2018: EUR 104.0 million), with a ROE equal to 4.06%. 

Net interest income amounted to EUR 154.1 million at the end of 2019 
(end 2018: EUR 143.0 million). Interest income and expense reflected 
the corporate lending activity development.

Net fee and commission income was positive and amounted to  
EUR 35.4 million as at 31 December 2019, showing a decrease when 
compared to 2018 (EUR 42.5 million).

Net (un)realised losses on financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading amounted to EUR 39.0 million as at 31 December 2019  
(31 December 2018: loss of EUR 60.3 million). The lower loss 
compared to last year was mainly due to NPV trend of derivatives 
contracts during 2019 and lower differentials paid compared to 2018.

Net realised gains on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss amounted to EUR 5.3 million as at 31 December 
2019 (31 December 2018: gain of EUR 25.2 million) mainly thanks 
to gains of EUR 5.2 million realised on the sale of several securities 
measured at FVTOCI.

Total administrative expenses amounted to EUR 43.2 million, higher 
than 2018 administrative expenses caption mainly due to a higher 
contribution the Bank paid to the Single Resolution Fund.

Due to the implementation of IFRS 9 principle, which came into force 
starting from 1 January 2018, the Bank booked a net impairment loss 
on financial assets for EUR 6.6 million in 2019. Detailed information 
are presented in Note 3 and 26.

Due to the implementation of IFRS 16 principle, which came into force 
starting from 1 January 2019, the Bank booked higher depreciations 
for EUR 2.2 million in 2019, mainly due to operating leases on real 
estate location contracts.

Provisions booked in relation to current income taxes are linked 
to the Amsterdam branch; the Luxembourg Head Quarter has not 
booked any provision in relation to current income taxes due to the 
fact that current taxes are managed applying the local rules on the 
consolidation of taxable results with the ones generated by its direct 
shareholder in Luxembourg.

However, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities generated 
by temporary differences have been booked as at 31 December 2019.

The net profit of the year available for distribution, including retained 
earnings (but excluding First Time Adoption “FTA” and reclassification 
from revaluation reserves) amounted to EUR 94,094,546. Retained 
earnings amount included also functional property revaluation of  
EUR 24,513,535, which has been reclassified from revaluation reserve 
to retained earnings following the functional property disposal 
concluded in 2018.

The Board of Directors will propose the following allocation of the 
profit to the Annual General Meeting, which will be held to approve 
the financial statements as at 31 December 2019:

(In €)

Net profit of 2019 financial year 94,082,728

Retained profit from previous year (excluding FTA 
and reclassification from revaluation reserves) 11,818

Amount attributable to shareholders 94,094,546

Allocation to legal reserve (5% net profit) 4,704,137

Allocation to the NWT reserve 17,256,550

Dividend for the financial year  
(77% rounded up) 72,100,000

Total 94,060,687

Retained profit carried forward to the next 
financial year (excluding first time adoption)

33,859

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Bank is not aware of any adjusting or non-adjusting event that 
would have occurred between 31 December 2019 and the date when 
the present financial statements were authorised for submission by 
the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

MISCELLANEOUS

The Bank did not purchase own shares during the year 2019. No research 
and development costs have been sustained during the year 2019.

CONCLUSION

The Board of Directors is satisfied concerning the profits generated. It 
thanks the Authorised Management of the Bank for its activity and all 
the employees for their professional behaviour and the quality of the 
services provided to the Bank’s clients.

Luxembourg, 20 March 2020 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

ASSETS NOTES 2019 2018

Cash and cash balances with central banks 3, 4 726,382,833 109,032,333

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 3, 5

Financial assets held for trading 30,193,047 48,445,482

Financial assets designated at fair value --- 10,365,456

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 613,898 789,701

30,806,945 59,600,639

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income (“FVTOCI”)
3, 6 2,265,365,852 2,351,170,517

Loans and advances 3, 4, 7

a) Loans and advances to credit institutions 8,558,435,684 7,991,992,641

b) Loans and advances to customers 10,586,894,810 10,390,345,939

19,145,330,494 18,382,338,580

Derivatives held for hedging 3, 15 2,111,798 210,014

Tangible fixed assets 8, 34 4,608,604 782,391

Intangible assets 9 469 1,593

Current tax assets 10 8,969,210 6,201,905

Deferred tax assets 10 5,754,733 22,975,999

Other assets 3, 11 35,638,829 25,473,149

TOTAL ASSETS 22,224,969,767 20,957,787,120

(In €)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(As at 31st December 2019)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(As at 31st December 2019)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY NOTES 2019 2018

Deposits from central banks 3, 12 809,894,291 812,487,716

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Financial liabilities held for trading 3 80,700,893 67,343,507

Financial liabilities designated at fair value 3, 13 --- 10,240,794

80,700,893 77,584,301

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (“AC”) 3, 14

a) Deposits from credit institutions 2,874,862,323 1,072,688,424

b) Deposits from customers 3,164,036,018 6,295,783,310

c) Debts evidenced by certificates 12,730,158,046 10,183,437,695

18,769,056,387 17,551,909,429

Derivatives held for hedging 3, 15 98,241,822 69,043,776

Provisions 16 4,377,959 3,059,512

Current tax liabilities 10 6,760,165 9,174,660

Deferred tax liabilities 10 3,524,440 3,176,749

Other liabilities 11 39,621,981 49,128,944

TOTAL LIABILITIES 19,812,177,938 18,575,565,087

Equity 6, 17

Share capital 1,389,370,555 1,389,370,555

Share premium 7,720,692 7,720,692

Revaluation reserve (5,170,699) (40,545,366)

Other reserves and retained earnings 926,788,553 921,678,999

Net profit for the year 94,082,728 103,997,153

TOTAL EQUITY 2,412,791,829 2,382,222,033

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 22,224,969,767 20,957,787,120

(In €)
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31st December 2019

(In €) NOTES 2019 2018

CONTINUING OPERATIONS:

a) Interest income 277,649,165 274,873,684

b) Interest expenses (123,567,681) (131,862,197)

Net interest income 18 154,081,484 143,011,487

a) Fee and commission income 95,055,176 74,599,552

b) Fee and commission expenses (59,704,907) (32,063,819)

Net fee and commission income 19 35,350,269 42,535,733

Dividend income 20 50,878 672,427

Net (un)realised losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading 21 (39,047,692) (60,292,897)

Net unrealised gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for 

hedging
15 (156,650) 148,117

Net (un)realised gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss
22 44,528 98,102

Net realised gains on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value 

through profit or loss
23 5,255,755 25,205,201

a) Other income 2,919,397 7,563,784

b) Other expenses (4,586,124) (10,420,388)

Net other expenses 24 (1,666,727) (2,856,604)

Administrative expenses 25, 31 (43,203,915) (38,841,193)

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9, 34 (2,235,676) (960,820)

Provisions 16 (1,172,388) 178,688

Net impairment result on financial assets 26 (6,591,048) (2,616,536)

Tax (expense) income 10 (6,626,090) (2,284,552)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 94,082,728 103,997,153

(In €)
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(In €) 2019 2018

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 94,082,728 103,997,153

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Tangible assets --- (24,513,535)

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified --- 6,638,265

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss

Net change in fair value on financial assets at fair value through other  
comprehensive income and expected credit losses

47,907,295 (58,424,220)

Deferred tax relating to the components of other comprehensive income (12,532,628) 15,198,298

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 35,374,667 (61,101,192)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 129,457,395 42,895,961

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED) 
for the year ended 31st December 2019

(In €)
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RESERVES

 Issued share 
capital 

Share 
premium

 Revaluation 
reserves 

 Legal 
reserve 

 Other 
reserves 

 Retained 
earnings 

Total 
Reserve and 

retained 
earnings

 Profit of the 
year before 

appropriation  Total 

Note 17 6, 17 17 17 17 17

BALANCE AS AT 
1ST DECEMBER 2018 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 19,840,795 59,641,565 812,541,743 (9,777,131) 862,406,177 135,474,318 2,414,812,537

Total comprehensive 
income --- --- (60,386,161) --- --- (715,031) (715,031) 103,997,153 42,895,961

Transfers and 
appropriation of prior 
year’s profit --- --- --- 6,773,716 28,726,284 (25,682) 35,474,318 (35,474,318) ---

Dividend for the 
financial year --- --- --- --- --- --- --- (100,000,000) (100,000,000)

Recycling from OCI --- --- --- --- --- 24,513,535 24,513,535 --- 24,513,535

Capital decrease --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

Capital increase --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

BALANCE AS AT 
31ST DECEMBER 2018 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 (40,545,366) 66,415,281 841,268,027 13,995,691 921,678,999 103,997,153 2,382,222,033

 BALANCES AS AT 
 1ST JANUARY 2019 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 (40,545,366) 66,415,281 841,268,027 13,995,691 921,678,999 103,997,153 2,382,222,033

Total comprehensive 
income --- --- 35,374,667 --- --- --- --- 94,082,728 129,457,395

Transfers and 
appropriation of prior 
year’s profit --- --- --- 5,199,858 --- (2,705) 5,197,153 (5,197,153) ---

Dividend for the 
financial year --- --- --- --- --- --- --- (98,800,000) (98,800,000)

Foreign translation 
difference --- --- --- --- --- (87,599)* (87,599) --- (87,599)

Capital decrease --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

Capital increase --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

BALANCE AS AT 
31ST DECEMBER 2019 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 (5,170,699) 71,615,139 841,268,027 13,905,387 926,788,553 94,082,728 2,412,791,829

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

*�Foreign translation difference generated by IFRS 9 FTA due to loss allowance calculation on loans and advances denominated in foreign currencies.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31st December 2019

(In €)
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(In €) NOTES 2019 2018

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 100,708,818 106,281,705

Adjustments:
a) Depreciation / amortisation
b) Impairment for credit losses
c) Reversal of loan impairment
d) Provisions and other income/expenses
e) Fair value adjustments

8, 9
26
26
16

251,270
14,115,047
(7,523,999)

1,318,447
57,864,454

960,820
18,747,448

(16,130,912)
1,380,374

50,102,102

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING PROFITS BEFORE CHANGES 
IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 166,734,037 161,341,537

Net (Increase)/decrease in trading assets (767,282) 13,249,423

Net (Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to credit institutions (1,723,119,410) 2,390,680,668

Net (Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers (202,652,178) (1,672,449,676)

Net (Increase)/decrease in financial assets at FVTOCI 133,133,866 793,041,817

Net (Increase)/decrease in financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit and loss 12,709,584 1,693,304

Net (Increase)/decrease in other assets (10,165,680) (3,100,716)

Net Increase/(decrease) in relation to leasing contracts 2, 8, 34 (1,984,406) ---

Net Increase/(decrease) in trading financial liabilities (7,054,437) 54,312,778

Net Increase/(decrease) in deposits from credit institutions 1,802,212,417 364,352,626

Net Increase/(decrease) in deposits from central banks (2,593,425) (501,562,107)

Net Increase/(decrease) in deposits from customers (3,134,314,305) (288,214,886)

Net Increase/(decrease) in financial liabilities at FVtPL  
& in other liabilities (19,872,418) (5,482,192)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,987,733,637) 1,307,862,576

Dividends received 20 50,878 672,427

Acquisition and disposal of property and equipment 8 436,542 31,072,055

NET CASH FLOWS/(USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 487,420 31,744,482

Dividends paid 17 (98,800,000) (100,000,000)

Net increase/(decrease) in debts evidenced by certificates 14 2,546,720,351 (828,336,269)

NET CASH FLOWS/(USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,447,920,351 (928,336,269)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (539,325,866) 411,270,789

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,158,672,594 3,747,401,805

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents (539,325,866) 411,270,789

Cash and cash equivalents: exchange rate fluctuations --- ---

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 4 3,619,346,728 4,158,672,594

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31st December 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

(In €)
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NOTE 1 – 
GENERAL INFORMATION
Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg S.A. (hereafter the “Bank” or 
“ISPBL”) was incorporated in Luxembourg on 2 June 1976 as a limited 
company under Luxembourg Law.

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 5 October 2015 has 
changed the name of the Bank from “Société Européenne de Banque 
S.A.” to “Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg S.A.”.

The main activities of the Bank are focused on corporate business, 
private banking and financial markets activities. Until 6 July 2008, 
the Bank provided services to investment funds such as central 
administration, transfer agent and custodian. On 7 July 2008, fol-
lowing a decision of the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on  
25 June 2008, these activities were transferred for no considera-
tion to another Luxembourg entity of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group. At 
the same date, private banking and corporate activities were trans-
ferred for no consideration from another Luxembourg entity of Intesa 
Sanpaolo Group to the Bank. 

Since 31 December 2012, the Bank prepares consolidated financial 
statements according to the Transparency Law, as the Bank issues 
European Medium Term Notes on the Luxembourg stock market and 
fully controls the company Lux Gest Asset Management S.A. and until 
31 March 2013 Intesa Sanpaolo Private Bank (Suisse) S.A.

On 1 February 2016, the Bank purchased the Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
Amsterdam Branch (the “Branch”) from the Group through a contribu-
tion in kind. For that purpose, 13,750 shares have been issued to Intesa 
Sanpaolo S.p.A. consisting of EUR 4,279,308.01 to share capital and 
EUR 7,720,691.99 to share premium in exchange of the Branch.

On 22 September 2016, the Bank performed a capital increase of EUR 
449,999,892.27 through the issuance of 1,445,911 shares integrally 
subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A. The sub-
scribed capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 was therefore 
of EUR 989,370,720.28, composed of 3,178,983 shares (integrally 
subscribed).

On 25 October 2017, the Bank performed a capital increase of EUR 
399,999,835.08 through the issuance of 1,285,254 shares integrally 
subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A. The sub-
scribed capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2017 was therefore 
of EUR 1,389,370,555.36 composed of 4,464,237 shares (integrally 
subscribed).

On 1 October 2018, the Bank issued a subordinated loan of EUR 
200,000,000 subscribed by Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International 
S.A. The subordinated loan matures on 2 October 2028.

As at 31 December 2019, 100% of the Bank share capital is owned by 
Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A.

Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A. is fully consolidated in the 
consolidated financial statements of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (hereaf-
ter the “Group”). Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. produces consolidated finan-
cial statements available for public use that comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union (EU).

The Bank co-operates to a significant extent with its ultimate Parent 
Company and other entities of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group.

These financial statements were authorised for submission to 
the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting by the Bank’s Board of 
Directors on 20 March 2020.

The registered office of the Bank is: 19-21, boulevard Prince Henri in 
Luxembourg.

NOTE 2 – 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1.1.     �STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the relative interpretations 
of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) as adopted for use in the European Union (“IFRS”) and with the 
going concern principle.

This is the first set of financial statements in which IFRS 16 Leases has 
been applied. The related changes to significant accounting policies 
are described below.

2.2.	� SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is 
required to make accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities. Use of available information 
and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of esti-
mates. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates 
and the differences may be material to the financial statements.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The most significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows:

2.2.1.     �FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market partic-
ipants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the 
most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. 
The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument 
using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A mar-
ket is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing informa-
tion on an on-going basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses val-
uation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs 
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and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 
techniques incorporate all of the factors that market participants 
would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial 
recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the 
consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair 
value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the 
fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for 
an identical asset or liability nor is based on a valuation technique that 
uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instru-
ment is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the differ-
ence between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction 
price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on 
an appropriate basis but no later than when the valuation is wholly 
supported by observable data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an 
ask price, then the Bank measures assets and long positions at a bid 
price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed 
to market risk and credit risk that are managed by the Bank on the 
basis of the net exposure to either market risk or credit risk are meas-
ured on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long 
position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for a particular risk 
exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are allocated to the indi-
vidual assets and liabilities based on the relative risk adjustment of 
each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable 
on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could 
be required to be paid. 

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hier-
archy as of the end of the reporting period during which the change 
has occurred.

2.2.2.     �IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS
Judgements are made in establishing the criteria for determining 
whether credit risk on the financial assets has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating 
forward-looking information into measurement of expected credit 
losses (“ECL”) and selection and approval of models used to measure 
ECL. 

2.2.3.     �CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
LIABILITY

Assessments are made for every financial asset and liability of the 
business model within which the assets are held and assessment 
of whether the contractual terms of the financial assets are solely 
payments of principal and interests (“SPPI”) on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

2.2.4.     �VALUATION OF UNQUOTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS 
Valuation of unquoted equity investments and credit exposures is nor-
mally based on one of the following:
-	� recent arm’s length transactions;
-	� current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the 

same;
-	� expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for 

items with similar terms and risk characteristics; or
-	� other valuation models.

The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted 
equity investments and credit exposures requires significant estima-
tion. The Bank calibrates the valuation techniques periodically and 
tests them for validity using either prices from observable current 
market transactions in the same instrument of from other available 
observable market data.

2.3.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Bank initially applied the following standards and amendments to 
standards from 1 January 2019:
•	� Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 

39 and IFRS 7);
•	 IFRS 16 Leases. 

A number of other new standards are also effective from 1 January 
2019 but they do not have a material effect on the Bank’s financial 
statements.

—   IBOR REFORM
Please refer to dedicated section in Note 3.

—   IFRS 16
The regulations 
The new accounting standard IFRS 16, issued by the IASB in January 
2016 and endorsed by the European Commission through Regulation 
no. 1986/2017, replaced IAS 17 “Leases”, IFRIC 4 “Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a lease”, SIC 15 “Operating leases 
– Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the substance of transactions 
involving the legal form of a lease”, with effect from 1 January 2019, 
established the requirements for accounting for lease contracts. 

In accordance with the new standard, entities are required to decide 
whether a contract is (or contains) a lease, based on the concept of 
control of the use of an identified asset for a set period of time. As a 
result, rental, hire or free loan agreements come under the scope of 
the new rules. 

In view of the above, significant changes have been made to the 
accounting for lease transactions in the financial statements of 
the lessee/user, with the introduction of a single accounting model 
for lease contracts for the lessee, based on the right-of-use model. 
Specifically, the main change consists of the elimination of the distinc-
tion between operating and finance leases, established by IAS 17: all 
lease contracts must therefore be accounted for in the same way with 
the recognition of an asset and a liability. 

Unlike the standards in force until 31 December 2018, the account-
ing model envisages the recognition of the right of use of the leased 
asset under the Statement of the Financial Position - Assets and for 
lease payments not yet paid to the lessor under the Statement of the 
Financial Position - Liabilities. 

The method of recognition of the profit or loss components has also 
changed: in IAS 17 lease payments were shown under the caption 
Administrative Expenses, whereas under IFRS 16 the charges relating 
to the amortisation of the “right of use” and the interest expense on 
the payable are recognised.
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In terms of disclosure, the minimum information required from the 
lessees includes: 
•	� the sub-division of the leased assets among different “classes”; 
•	 an analysis by due date of the liabilities related to the leases; 
•	� the information that is potentially helpful for a better under-

standing of the entity’s activities with regard to the lease con-
tracts (for example, prepayment or extension options). 

For leases by the lessors there are no substantial changes, other than 
some additional disclosure requirements, for the accounting, where 
the current distinction is maintained between operating leases and 
finance leases. 

In addition, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 16 and the 
IFRIC clarifications (“Cloud Computing Arrangements” document of 
September 2018), software has been excluded from the scope of IFRS 
16 and is therefore accounted for in accordance with IAS 38 and its 
requirements. 

From 1 January 2019, the effects on the financial statements result-
ing from the adoption of IFRS 16 can be identified for the lessee – with 
the same income and final cash flows – as an increase in the assets 
recorded in the financial statements (leased assets), an increase in 
the liabilities (the payable for the leased assets), a reduction in admin-
istrative expenses (lease payments) and an accompanying increase 
in financial costs (the remuneration of the payable recognised) and 
depreciation (relating to the right of use). 

With regard to the statement of profit and loss, when the entire term 
of the contracts is considered, the economic impact does not change 
over the period of the lease, both when the former IAS 17 or the new 
IFRS 16 are applied, but its distribution over time is different. 

In 2018, the Bank, jointly with Intesa Sanpaolo Group, initiated a spe-
cific project for the implementation of IFRS 16 – Leases, aimed at 
examining and determining the qualitative and quantitative impacts, 
and identifying and implementing the practical and organisational 
measures required for consistent, systematic and effective adoption 
within the Group as a whole and for each of its individual subsidiaries. 
From a procedural perspective, a specific application has been imple-
mented at Group level for the determination of values according to 
IFRS 16.

2.3.1.     �SCOPE OF THE CONTRACTS – LESSEE SIDE
 
—  �CLASSIFICATION AND ANALYSIS OF LEASE TRANSACTIONS IN LIGHT OF THE 

APPLICABLE REGULATIONS
As noted above, the Standard applies to all types of contracts con-
taining a lease, i.e. contracts that give the lessee the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a particular period of time (period of 
use) in exchange for consideration. The logic underlying the Standard 
is that “control” over an asset requires that asset to be identified, for 
example when it is explicitly specified in the contract, or if it is implic-
itly specified at the time it is made available for use by the customer. 
An asset is not specified if the supplier has the substantive right to 
substitute it, or if the supplier has the practical ability to substitute the 
asset with alternative assets throughout the period of use and bene-
fits economically from the exercise of that right. 

Once it has been established that the underlying asset of the contract 
is an identified asset, it is necessary to assess whether the entity has 
the right to control its use because it has both the right to obtain sub-
stantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset and the 
right to direct the use of the identified asset. For the Bank, the analysis 
of contracts falling within the scope of this standard concerned those 

relating to the following cases: 
(i)	 real estate, 
(ii)	 and vehicles.

The real estate lease contracts represent the most significant area of 
impact from implementation, because these contracts represent 95% 
of the value of the rights of use. In contrast, although they are signifi-
cant in terms of number, the impact of vehicles leases is negligible in 
terms of the amount of the right of use.

Real estate lease contracts include properties designated for use as 
offices. The contracts normally have a term of more than 12 months 
and typically have renewal and termination options that can be exer-
cised by the lessor and the lessee in accordance with the law or spe-
cific contractual provisions. These contracts do not include significant 
restoration costs for the Bank at the end of the lease. 

For vehicles, these are long-term rental contracts relating to the com-
pany fleet made available to employees (mixed use) in Luxembourg 
and to the organisational structure of the branch in Amsterdam. They 
have a multi-year term, with no renewal options, and these contracts 
do not include the option to purchase the asset.

—  �THE CHOICES MADE BY THE BANK (IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GROUP)
The Bank has chosen to carry out the first-time adoption (FTA) of IFRS 
16 through the recognition of the cumulative effect of the adoption 
of the standard at the date of first-time adoption and not restating 
the comparative information of the financial statements of first-time 
adoption of IFRS 16. 

As a result, the financial statements figures for 2019 will not be com-
parable with regard to the valuation of the rights of use and the corre-
sponding lease liability. 

Upon first-time adoption, the Bank has adopted some of the practical 
expedients provided for in the standard in paragraph C10 and follow-
ing. In particular, contracts with a remaining lease term of 12 months 
or less (“short term”) have not been included. 

Also after full adoption, the Bank has also decided not to apply the 
new standard to contracts with a total lease term of 12 months or 
less and to contracts with a value of the underlying asset, when new, 
of 5,000 euro or less (“low value”). In this case, the lease payments 
for these leases are recognised as an expense – in the same way as 
in the past – on a straight-line basis for the lease term or on another 
systematic basis if that basis is more representative of the pattern of 
the lessee’s benefit. 

With regard to the sale and leaseback agreement outstanding as at 
the date of first-time adoption, the Bank has applied the transition 
model for the other lease contracts to the leases resulting from these 
transactions, and classified as operating leases according to IAS 17 
requirements, as required by the standard. A summary is provided 
below of some of the choices made by the Bank regarding the treat-
ment of leases on the lessee side, such as, for example, the contrac-
tual term, discount rate, and lease and non-lease components. 

—   CONTRACTUAL TERM
The lease term is determined by the non-cancellable period for which 
the Bank has the right to use the underlying asset, also considering: 
(i)	� the periods covered by the option to extend the lease, if the les-

see is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 
(ii)	� and the periods covered by the option to terminate the lease, if 

the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. 
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At the transition date and at the commencement date of each contract 
entered into after 1 January 2019, the Bank has established the term 
of the lease, based on the facts and circumstances that exist at that 
date and that have an impact on the reasonable certainty of exercising 
the options included in the lease arrangements. 

In line with the choice made for the real estate contracts, for the other 
types of leases, in which the contract includes a renewal clause, the 
Bank has decided – for all the new contracts (and also at the FTA date) 
– to assess the reasonable certainty of exercising the option, taking 
into account both the requirements of the Standard and the strategy 
regarding the individual contracts.

—   DISCOUNT RATE
With regard to the discount rate, based on the requirements of IFRS 
16, the Bank uses the implicit interest rate for each lease contract, 
when it is available. For leases from the lessee’s point of view, in some 
cases, for example for rental agreements, the implicit interest rate 
cannot always be readily determined without using estimates and 
assumptions (the lessee does not have enough information about the 
unguaranteed residual value of the leased asset). In these cases, the 
Bank has developed a methodology for setting the incremental inter-
est rate as an alternative to the implicit interest rate and has decided 
to adopt the Funds Transfer Pricing (FTP) method. This is based on 
an unsecured and amortising rate curve, which envisages lease pay-
ments for the lease contract that are typically constant over the lease 
term, rather than a single payment upon maturity. The FTP method 
takes into account the creditworthiness of the lessee, the term of the 
lease, the nature and quality of the collateral provided and the eco-
nomic environment in which the transaction takes place and is there-
fore in line with the requirements of the standard.

2.3.2.     �THE EFFECTS OF THE FIRST TIME ADOPTION (FTA) 
OF IFRS 16

The adjustment of the opening balance sheet following the adoption 
of IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach has resulted in 
an increase in assets following the recognition of the new rights of 
use of 5.6 million euro in caption “property plan and equipment” and in 
the financial liabilities (payable to the lessor) of the same amount in 
caption “financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”. There have 
therefore been no impacts on shareholders’ equity from the first-time 
adoption of the standard, because, as a result of the decision to adopt 
the modified approach (option B), upon first-time adoption the values 
of the assets and liabilities are the same, net of the reclassification 
of accruals and deferrals and the presentation of leases previously 
classified as finance leases under IAS 17. 

At the time of the transition, IFRS 16 allows a company to choose 
whether to apply the new definition of lease contract to all contracts 
or whether to use a “practical expedient” whereby the company may 
continue to regard as valid the assessment of the contracts previ-
ously identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 (paragraph C3 of  
IFRS 16). 

Specifically, the Bank has used the practical expedient provided for in 
paragraph C3 above for the FTA. In particular, for all operating leases 
already covered by IAS 17, it has recognised the liability determined as 
the discounted future lease payments and the right of use of the same 
amount (so-called modified B).

To provide a better representation of any differences between the 
scope of IAS 17 and the new standard, the table below shows the rec-
onciliation between the two scopes (as required by paragraph C12 of 
IFRS 16), detailing in particular: 

•	� the commitments arising from operating leases disclosed in 
accordance with IAS 17 as at 31 December 2018;

•	� the effect of the discounting of the operating leases using the 
incremental borrowing rate as at the date of initial application;

•	� and the lease liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position as at the date of initial application.

2.3.3.     �RECONCILIATION BETWEEN COMMITMENTS FOR  
IAS 17 OPERATING LEASES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 
AND LIABILITIES FOR IFRS 16 LEASES  
AS AT 1 JANUARY 2019

(In €) Liabilities

Operating lease commitments at  
31 December 2018 as disclosed under IAS 17 5,690,762

IFRS 16 recognition exemption (21,621)

Recognition exemption for leases with less 
than 12 months of lease term at transition

(14,421)

Recognition exemption for leases of low-value 
assets

(7,200)

Other variations (i.e. non-deductible T.V.A.) (50,093)

Operating leases under IFRS 16 –  
before discounting 5,619,048

Discounting effect (46,678)

Lease liabilities recognized  
at 1 January 2019 5,572,370

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate for the lessee 
applied to the lease liabilities recognised in the balance sheet at the 
date of initial application is 0.533% for real estate in Luxembourg, 
0.59% for real estate in Amsterdam and 0.477% for vehicles.

With regard to leases, the table below shows the breakdown of the 
categories of rights of use identified. Specifically, the rights of use 
acquired through leases relating to real estate contracts are shown 
under sub-caption “building and land”; those relating to contracts for 
cars and other vehicles are shown under sub-caption “other”. 

(In €) Assets

Right-of-use assets acquired through 
leases as at 1 January 2019 5,572,370

Building and land 5,310,466

Other 261,904

2.3.4.     �STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effec-
tive for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2019 and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted 
them in preparing these financial statements.

The following amended standards are not expected to have a signifi-
cant impact on the Bank’s financial statements:
•	� Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS 

Standards;
•	� Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3).
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2.4.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Except for the changes explained in (c) Changes in accounting policies, 
the accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 
to all periods presented in these financial statements.

2.4.1.     �FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial statements are presented in euro (EUR), which is the 
Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 
in euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
statement of financial position date. The gain or loss arising from such 
translation is recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms 
of historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency 
measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences on non-monetary financial assets are a compo-
nent of the change in their fair value. Depending on the classification of 
a non-monetary financial asset, exchange differences are recognised 
either in the statement of profit or loss or in other comprehensive 
income. The elements of the statement of profit or loss are translated 
into euro on a daily basis using the prevailing exchange rates.

2.4.2.     �FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

(i)	 Recognition and initial measurement

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, deposits, debt secu-
rities issued and subordinated liabilities on their value date. All other 
financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales 
of financial assets) are recognised on their value date, which is the 
date on which the Bank becomes part to the contractual provisions of  
the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value 
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are attributable 
to its acquisition or issue.

(ii)	 Classification

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: 
amortised cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both the 
following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:
•	� The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to 

hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
•	� The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on speci-

fied dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

A debt instrument is measured at FVTOCI only if it meets both of the 
following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:
•	� The asset is held within a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets; and

•	� The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on speci-
fied dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trad-
ing, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes 
in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-invest-
ment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be meas-
ured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI as at FVTPL if doing so elim-
inated or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise.

Business model assessment

The Bank assesses the objective of a business model in which an 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the 
business is managed and information is provided to management. The 
information considered includes:
•	� The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the oper-

ation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether man-
agement’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest rev-
enue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the 
duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities 
that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through 
the sale of assets;

•	� How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported 
to the Bank’s management;

•	� The risks that affect the performance of the business model 
(and the financial assets held within that business model) and 
its strategy for how those risks are managed;

•	� The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the 
reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales 
activity. However, information about sales activity is not consid-
ered in isolation, but as part of an all-overall assessment of how 
the Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is 
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or whose performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they 
are neither held to collect contractual terms nor held both to collect 
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair 
value of the financial asset on initial recognition. “Interest” is defined 
as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk 
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particu-
lar period of time and for other lending risks and costs, as well as  
profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank 
considered contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assess-
ing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could 
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change the timing or amount of the contractual cash flows such that 
it would not meet the condition. In making the assessment, the Bank 
considers:
•	� Leverage features; 
•	� Prepayment and extension terms; 
•	� Terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified 

assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and 
•	� Features that modify consideration of the time value of money 

(e.g. periodical reset of interest rates). 

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recog-
nition, except in the period after the Bank changes its business model 
for managing financial assets.

Financial liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guaran-
tees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL 
depending on the business model allocation and the SPPI test result.

(iii)	 Derecognition

Financial assets 

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the finan-
cial asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it 
does not retain control of the financial asset.

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity invest-
ment securities designated as at FVTOCI is not recognised in profit 
or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in trans-
ferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created 
or retained by the Bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets rec-
ognised on its statement of financial position, but retains either all or 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or 
a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derec-
ognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and 
sale-and-repurchase transactions.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers sub-
stantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset 
and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues to recognise 
the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by 
the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the trans-
ferred asset.

Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obli-
gations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

(iv)	 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is 
reported in the statement of financial position when the Bank has a 

legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and the 
transactions are intended to be settled on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.4.3.     �FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS

Assets and liabilities held for trading
Assets and liabilities held for trading are assets and liabilities acquired 
by the Bank for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, 
or held as part of a portfolio that is managed together for the short-
term profit or position taking.

Assets and liabilities held for trading are initially recognised and sub-
sequently measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, 
with transaction costs recognised in profit or loss. All changes in fair 
value are recognised as part of the net trading income in profit or loss.

Designation at fair value through profit or loss
—   FINANCIAL ASSETS 
At initial recognition, the Bank has designated certain financial assets 
as at FVTPL because this designation eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch, which would otherwise arise. 

—   FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The Bank has designated certain financial liabilities as at FVTPL 
because the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

2.4.4.     �LOANS AND ADVANCES

Loans and advances captions in the statement of financial position 
include:
•	� loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are ini-

tially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transac-
tional costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the 
effective interest method;

•	� finance lease receivables.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters 
into an agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) 
at a fixed price on a future date (reverse repo or stock borrowing), the 
arrangement is accounted for as a loan or advance, and the underlying 
asset is not recognised in the Bank’s financial statements.

2.4.5.     �FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

The financial assets at FVTOCI in the statement of financial position 
include:
•	� Debt investment securities measured at amortised cost: these 

are initially measured at fair value plus incremental transaction 
costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effec-
tive interest rate;

•	� Debt and equity investment securities mandatorily measured at 
FVTPL or designated as at FVTPL: these are at fair value with 
changes recognised immediately in profit or loss;

•	� Debt securities measured at FVTOCI; and
•	� Equity investment securities designated at FVTOCI;
•	� Loans belonging to the “Originate to share” deals, where a syn-

dicated loan is either originated by the Bank or by a third-party 
with the intent to distribute a quota on the primary or post-pri-
mary market and holding the rest. If there is the willingness 
and the possibility to sell to third-parties a part of the loan, that 
amount is designated at FVTOCI.
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For the debt securities measured at FVTOCI, gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI, except for the following, which are recognised in 
profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at 
amortised cost: 
•	 interests revenue using the effective interest method; and
•	 Foreign exchange gains and losses.

When debt securities measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumu-
lative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss.

The Bank elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading. The 
election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis on initial rec-
ognition and is irrevocable.

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never re-classified 
to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss. 
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly rep-
resent a recovery of part of the cost of the impairment, in which 
case they are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains and losses rec-
ognised in OCI are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an 
investment.

2.4.6.     �FINANCIAL LIABILITIES OTHER THAN HELD FOR 
TRADING AND HEDGING

(i)	 Classification

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities other than derivatives in the 
following categories: financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The Bank 
uses the fair value option either when:
-	� it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recog-

nition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring 
liabilities or recognise the gains and losses on them on different 
bases; or

-	� a group of financial liabilities is managed and its performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a docu-
mented risk management or investment strategy, and informa-
tion about the Bank is provided internally on that basis to the 
entity’s key management personnel.

(ii)	 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Interest-bearing liabilities – other than financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss – are recognised initially at fair value less attribut-
able transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bear-
ing liabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amor-
tisation process.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value through the statement of profit or loss.

(iii)	 Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the lia-
bility is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an exist-
ing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modifi-
cation is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 

recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective car-
rying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

2.4.7.     �DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i)	 Classification

Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments or a financial guarantee contract. Gains and losses on 
investments held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss.

(ii) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are 
restated at fair value. The method of recognising the resulting fair 
value gain or loss depends on whether the derivatives are designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. 

Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and 
as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 

(iii)	 Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a 
host contract). The Bank accounts for an embedded derivative sepa-
rately from the host contract when:
•	� The host contract is not in the scope of IFRS 9;
•	� The host contract is not itself carried at FVTPL;
•	� The terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition 

of a derivative if they were contained in a separate contract; and
•	� The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded deriva-

tive are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract.

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss unless they form a 
part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. 
Separated embedded derivatives are presented in the statement of 
financial position together with the host contact.

(iv)	 Trading

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted 
for as trading instruments. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair 
value of trading derivatives is recognised immediately in the state-
ment of profit and loss. 

(v)	 Hedge accounting

The Bank may use derivative financial instruments to hedge its expo-
sure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from opera-
tional, financing and investment activities. Where there is a hedging 
relationship between a derivative instrument and a related item being 
hedged, the hedging instrument is measured at fair value. The treat-
ment of any resulting gains and losses is set out below.

As permitted by IFRS 9, the Bank has elected to continue to apply the 
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39.

On initial designation of the hedge, the Bank formally documents:
-	� the relationship between the hedging instruments and the 

hedged items;
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-	� the risk management objectives and strategies in undertaking 
the hedge;

-	� the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 
hedging relationship.

The Bank makes an assessment, both at inception of the hedge rela-
tionship and on an on-going basis, of whether the hedging instruments 
are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair 
value or cash flows of the respective hedged items during the period 
for which the hedge is designated, and whether the actual results of 
each hedge are within the range of 80%-125%. 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Bank has classified hedges 
as fair value hedges.

Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. The change in the fair value of the hedged 
item attributable to the hedged risk is recorded as a part of the carry-
ing value of the hedged item and is also recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the 
adjustment to carrying value is amortised through the statement of 
profit or loss over the remaining term to maturity. Any adjustment to 
the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument for which the 
effective interest rate method is used, is amortised through the state-
ment of profit or loss.

Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall 
begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for 
changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged. If the 
hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised 
immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a  
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative changes in the fair value of 
the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised 
as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised  
in the statement of profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of the 
hedging instrument are also recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss.

(vi)	 Derecognition

Derivatives are derecognised when the rights and obligations under 
the instrument are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

2.4.8.     �FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS  
AND LOAN COMMITMENT 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are those contracts 
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due 
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently measured at the higher of:
•	� The amount of the loss allowance;
•	� The premium received on initial recognition less income recog-

nised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

Loan commitments provided by the Banks are firm commitments to 
provide loans or advances under pre-specified terms and conditions 
and are measured as the amount of the loss allowance. The Bank has 

not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market 
interest rate. 

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments are recognised 
in off balance sheet.

The Bank recognises loan commitments when it has fulfilled all its 
obligations and related contracts have been duly signed by all the 
counterparties involved.

The Bank recognises a loss allowance in compliance with IFRS 9.

2.4.9.     �REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS AND REVERSE 
REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The Bank enters into purchases (sales) of investments under agree-
ments to resell (repurchase) substantially identical investments 
at a certain date in the future at a fixed price. Investments pur-
chased subject to commitments to resell them at future dates are 
not recognised. The amounts paid are recognised in loans to either 
banks or customers. The advances are shown as collateralised  
by the underlying security. Investments sold under repurchase 
agreements continue to be recognised in the statement of finan-
cial position and are measured in accordance with the accounting 
policy of the category to which they relate. The proceeds from the 
sale of the investments are reported as liabilities to either banks  
or customers.

The difference between the sale and repurchase considerations is 
recognised on an accrual basis over the period of the transaction and 
is included in interest.

2.4.10.     �IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following finan-
cial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
•	� Financial assets that are debt instruments; 
•	� Financial guarantee contracts issued; and 
•	� Loan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to life-
time ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 
12-month ECL:
•	� debt investment securities that are determined to have low 

credit risk at the reporting date; and 
•	� other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on 

which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial 
recognition.

The Bank considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk 
when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood 
definition of “investment grade”. The Bank does not apply the low 
credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events 
on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after 
the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is 
recognised are referred to as “Stage 1 financial instruments”.

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instru-
ments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not cred-
it-impaired are referred to as “Stage 2 financial instruments”.
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—   MEASUREMENT OF ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are 
measured as follows:
•	� financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting 

date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the differ-
ence between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to 
receive); 

•	� financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: 
as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows;

•	� undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the differ-
ence between the contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that 
the Bank expects to receive; and 

•	� financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reim-
burse the holder less any amounts that the Bank expects to 
recover. 

—   RESTRUCTURED FINANCIAL ASSETS
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an 
existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial 
difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether 
the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as 
follows:
•	� If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of 

the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from 
the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash 
shortfalls from the existing asset; 

•	� If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the 
existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is 
treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at 
the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calcu-
lating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that 
are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the 
reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the 
existing financial asset.

—   CREDIT-IMPAIRED FINANCIAL ASSETS
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets 
carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVTOCI 
are credit impaired (referred to as “Stage 3 financial assets”). A finan-
cial asset is “credit impaired” when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the follow-
ing observable data:
•	� significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
•	� a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
•	� the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that 

the Bank would not consider otherwise; 
•	� it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy 

or other financial reorganisation; or 
•	� the disappearance of an active market for a security because of 

financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrow-
er’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired unless there 
is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has 
reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. 
In addition, a retail loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is consid-
ered credit-impaired even when the regulatory definition of default is 
different.

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt 
is credit-impaired, the Bank considers the following factors:
•	� The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in 

the bond yields;
•	� The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness;
•	� The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt 

issuance;
•	� The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in hold-

ers suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt 
forgiveness;

•	� The international support mechanisms in place to provide the 
necessary support as “lender of last resort” to that country, as 
well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of govern-
ments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an 
assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective 
of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the 
required criteria.

—   �PRESENTATION OF ALLOWANCE FOR ECL IN THE STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial 
position as follows:
•	� financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction 

from the gross carrying amount of the assets; 
•	� loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: gener-

ally, as a provision; 
•	� where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an 

undrawn component, and the Bank cannot identify the ECL on 
the loan commitment component separately from those on the 
drawn component: the Bank presents a combined loss allow-
ance for both components. The combined amount is presented 
as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn 
component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross 
amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and 

•	� debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: no loss allowance is 
recognised in the statement of financial position because the 
carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, 
the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair  
value reserve.

—   �WRITE-OFF
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial 
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case 
when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets or 
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay 
the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out 
at the individual asset level. 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in “Net 
impairment result” in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforce-
ment activities in order to comply with the Bank’s procedures for 
recovery of amounts due.

—   NON-INTEGRAL FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
The Bank assesses whether a financial guarantee contract held is an 
integral element of a financial asset that is accounted for as a com-
ponent of that instrument or is a contract that is accounted for sepa-
rately. The factors that the Bank considers when making this assess-
ment include whether:
•	� the guarantee is implicitly part of the contractual terms of the 

debt instrument; 
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•	� the guarantee is required by laws and regulations that govern 
the contract of the debt instrument; 

•	� the guarantee is entered into at the same time as and in contem-
plation of the debt instrument; and 

•	� the guarantee is given by the parent of the borrower or another 
company within the borrower’s group.

If the Bank determines that the guarantee is an integral element of the 
financial asset, then any premium payable in connection with the ini-
tial recognition of the financial asset is treated as a transaction cost of 
acquiring it. The Bank considers the effect of the protection when meas-
uring the fair value of the debt instrument and when measuring ECL. 

If the Bank determines that the guarantee is not an integral element of 
the debt instrument, then it recognises an asset representing any pre-
payment of guarantee premium and a right to compensation for credit 
losses. A prepaid premium asset is recognised only if the guaranteed 
exposure neither is credit-impaired nor has undergone a significant 
increase in credit risk when the guarantee is acquired. These assets 
are recognised in “other assets”. The Bank presents gains or losses on 
a compensation right in profit or loss in the line item “Net impairment 
result”.

In addition, the Bank proceeds with an estimation of a potential col-
lective impairment allowance against exposures which, although not 
specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater 
risk of default than when originally granted. This takes into considera-
tion factors such as deterioration in country risk, industry and techno-
logical obsolescence, as well as identified structural weaknesses or 
deterioration in cash flows. 

When financial instruments are grouped if expected credit losses is 
measured on a collective basis, parameters are modelled taking into 
consideration four options based on the information available:
•	� An ECL percentage is calculated on each contract the Bank has 

with a customer. It represents the most precise calculation it is 
possible to perform because it means that the Bank is able to 
define a specific PD and LGD for that specific transactions with 
a customer.

•	� An ECL percentage is calculated on a specific customer. It rep-
resents a less accurate calculation, because the Bank has the 
information to perform a PD and an LGD for that customer and 
the ECL% out-coming from the procedure is applied to each 
transaction with that customer.

•	� An ECL percentage might also be calculated on a specific prod-
uct. When it is not possible to calculate a proper PD and LGD for 
a client, the Bank identifies an ECL based on the type of product 
concluded with that client.

•	� A residual ECL percentage. It represents the last and most con-
servative category where a specific ECL% has been identified to 
be applied to all transactions which cannot be classified in one 
of the previous categories.

2.4.11.     �TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, 
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, 
and an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Intangible assets are included at purchase price or production cost, 
less accumulated amortisation.

Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment. Where parts of an item of property, plant 
and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreci-
ated. The estimated useful lives are as follows (on a straight line basis):
–	 buildings	 40 years
–	 transformation costs	 5-10 years
–	 fixtures and fittings	 5 years
–	 softwares	 3 years

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the 
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. The 
asset’s residual value, if not insignificant, and useful lives and meth-
ods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
financial year-end.

The Bank recognises the cost of replacing part of a plant and equip-
ment item at incurrence in the carrying amount of this item if that cost 
is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss as an expense as incurred.

2.4.12.     �OTHER ASSETS

This caption includes assets such as prepaid charges, accrued income 
or unearned income. 

Other assets are stated at cost less impairment. 

2.4.13.     �IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indi-
cation that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank 
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individ-
ual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax dis-
count rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly 
traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset.

For assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Bank makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. A pre-
viously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the 
case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
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amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impair-
ment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such rever-
sal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is 
carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase.

2.4.14.     �CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position 
comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following reserves: 
•	� Credit institutions established in Luxembourg are required to 

hold minimum reserves with the Luxembourg Central Bank. 
These deposits represent 2% of some of their liabilities and 
are considered as not available. Compliance with the reserve 
requirement is determined on the basis of the institutions’ aver-
age daily reserve holdings over the maintenance period, thus 
reserves of credit institutions can vary from one day to another 
following their treasury management, the money market or 
their expectations in interest rates. 

•	� Concerning the branch of the Bank located in Amsterdam, a 
minimum reserves has also to be hold at De Nederlandsche 
Bank (DNB). The amount of minimum reserves to be held by 
each institution is determined in relation to its reserve base, 
which is defined in relation to elements of its balance sheet. 
The balance sheet data are calculated by the institutions them-
selves and reported to DNB within the general framework of the 
ECB’s money and banking statistics.

2.4.15.     �EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in 
exchange for service rendered by employees or for the termination of 
employment.

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 
twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. They include:
-	� wages, salaries and social security contributions; 
-	� paid annual leave and paid sick leave; 
-	� profit-sharing and bonus; and 
-	� non-monetary benefits (such as medical care, housing or cars) 

for current employees.

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than ter-
mination benefits and short-term employee benefits) that are paya-
ble after the completion of employment. The Bank contributes to a 
defined contribution retirement plan located with an external insur-
ance company. The Bank does not grant any other employee benefits.

2.4.16.     �PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and when it is proba-
ble that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Bank expects some 
or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insur-
ance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 

relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss 
net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risk specific to the liability. Where dis-
counting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as an interest expense.

2.4.17.     �OTHER LIABILITIES

This caption includes liabilities such as income perceived in advance, 
accrued expenses and expenses due but not yet paid. Other liabilities 
are stated at cost.

2.4.18.     �DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A discontinued operation is a component of the Bank’s business, the 
operations and the cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished 
from the rest of the Bank and which:
-	� represents a separate major line of business or geographical 

area of operations;
-	� is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate 

major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
-	� is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of dis-
posal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held 
for sale.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the state-
ment of comprehensive income is re-presented as of the operation has 
been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

2.4.19.     �INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

—   EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATE
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. 

The “effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts esti-
mated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instruments to:
•	� the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
•	� the amortized cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments 
other than purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, the Bank 
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instruments, but not ECL. For purchased or originated cred-
it-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated using the estimated future cash flows including ECL.

The calculation of effective interest rate includes transaction costs 
and fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial 
asset or a financial liability.

—   AMORTISED COST AND GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT
The “amortised cost” of a financial asset or financial liability is the 
amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured 
on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus 
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, 
for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. 
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The “gross carrying amount of a financial asset” is the amortised 
cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss 
allowance.

—   CALCULATION OF INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is 
calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a financial liabil-
ity. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest 
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the 
asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 
The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estima-
tion of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in 
market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for 
fair value hedge adjustments at the date on which amortisation of the 
hedge adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired sub-
sequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying 
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. 
If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of inter-
est income reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of 
interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk 
of the asset improves.

—   PRESENTATION
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method pre-
sented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes:
•	� interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost;
•	� interest on debt instruments measured at FVTOCI; and
•	� interest in relation with derivatives designated in fair value 

hedges of interest rate risk.

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI 
includes:
•	� financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and
•	� interest in relation with hedging derivatives designated in fair 

value hedges of interest rate risk.

2.4.20.     �FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fee and commission income arises on financial services provided by 
the Bank including cash management services, brokerage services, 
investment advice and financial planning, investment banking ser-
vices, project and structured finance transactions, and asset manage-
ment services. Fee and commission income is recognised when the 
corresponding service is provided.

The Bank recognises the whole amount of fees and commissions 
income into the statement of profit or loss when their purpose is to 
reimburse specific or general costs incurred by the Bank in prepar-
ing and completing a transaction and they do not represent additional 
return on a loan or receivable.

If a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down 
of a loan, then the related loan commitment fee is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the commitment period.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial 
instrument in the Bank’s financial statements may be partially in the 
scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, 

then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part 
of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and the applies IFRS 15 
to the residual.

For more details on fee and commission income see Note 19.

2.4.21.     �NET (UN) REALISED GAINS AND LOSSES ON 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Net trading income comprises gains and losses related to trading 
assets and liabilities, and includes all fair value changes, interests and 
foreign exchange differences.

2.4.22.     �NET REALISED GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL 
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities are recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss at the date of sale, based on difference 
between the consideration paid or collected and the carrying amount 
of such instruments. 

In case of financial assets measured at FVTOCI, gains and losses are 
adjusted to take into consideration premiums and discounts accrued 
as at the date of sale. 

2.4.23.     �DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss when 
the Bank’s right to receive the payment is established.

2.4.24.     �INCOME TAX

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recog-
nised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items rec-
ognised directly in equity or in OCI.

—   CURRENT INCOME TAX
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted by the 
statement of financial position date.

In accordance to the local law (article 164 LIR) a company can neu-
tralise its current income taxes thanks to the consolidation of taxa-
ble results with the taxable losses generated by its Parent Company 
located in Luxembourg.

—   DEFERRED INCOME TAX 
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on tempo-
rary differences at the statement of financial position date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary dif-
ferences, except:
-	� where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recogni-

tion of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and

-	� in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint 
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ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary dif-
ferences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary dif-
ferences, carry forward and unused tax credits and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be avail-
able against which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of 
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi-
cient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reas-
sessed at each statement of financial position date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial posi-
tion date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

2.4.25.     �SEGMENT REPORTING

An operating segment is a component of the Bank that engages in busi-
ness activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with any 
of the Bank’s other components, whose operating results are regu-
larly reviewed by the Bank’s management to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, 
and for which discrete financial information is available.

2.4.26.     �OPERATING LEASES

Policy before 1 Janaury 2019
Assets held under operating leases are not recognised in the Bank’s 
statement of financial position. Payments made under operating 
leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral 
part of the total lease expense over the term of the lease.

Policy after 1 Janaury 2019
Please refer to the section “Changes in accounting policies – IFRS 16”.

NOTE 3 –  
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1.	 INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

The Parent Company governing body (Board of Directors), supported 
by specific Committees, defines the “risk profile” at Group level for all 
the Group entities. The Group risk profile definition considers risk man-
agement and control as key factors to guarantee a solid and sustaina-
ble creation of value in a risk controlled environment in order to assure 
financial stability and reputation of the Group and to provide a transpar-
ent portfolio risk representation. The risk policy is consequently aimed 
to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return.

The local Risk Management unit operates under the direction of the 
Chief Risk Officer and applies the Group business strategies and 
objectives, defines scopes and methods to manage risks:
-	� assures different types of risk measurement and control i.e. 

market, interest rate, liquidity and operational risks following 
specific policies;

-	� revaluates the Bank assets according to mark-to-market and 
fair value principle defined in a “Fair Value Policy” issued at 
Group level;

-	� measures financial risks in the banking book and assures that 
the local limits stated by the Parent Company are respected. A 
periodic reporting is made to the Parent Company;

-	� provides the relevant reports to the Parent Company, the Audit 
Committee, the Board of Directors, the General Management 
and to the Asset/Liabilities Committee.

The Risk Management function supports the risk identification and 
measurement processes by providing details and own assessments, 
proposes risk management policies and approaches compliant with 
regulatory and the ultimate Parent Company requirements. 

The Credit function provides details, own assessments and complies 
with regulatory and ultimate Parent Company requirements with 
regards to credit risk, and coordinates the decisions taken by the 
Credit and Asset Quality Committee.

The Accounting department provides the capital data details and sup-
ports the reconciliation with the supervisory capital.

The Compliance function encompasses all measures aiming to avoid 
that the Bank incurs any loss, financial or not, due to the fact it does 
not comply with applicable laws and regulations. It is an independent 
function that identifies, assesses, advises, monitors and reports on 
the Bank’s compliance risk.

The Organization & Human Resources Division assures adequate 
organizational framework and clear lines of responsibilities, with rel-
evant documentation.

The Internal Audit provides an independent, periodic and comprehen-
sive review of the processes and of the compliance with regulatory 
and Group requirements.

Roles and responsibilities of the Bank’s bodies and departments/
functions have been defined in coordination with the ultimate Parent 
Company.
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3.2	  CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its cus-
tomers, clients or counterparties failed to discharge their contractual 
obligations. 
Credit risk arises due to: 
-	� exposure to corporate and private clients;
-	� exposure to institutional counterparties.

The Bank’s credit risk management is based on the commercial and 
risk strategy drawn up by the Management and validated by the Board 
of Directors. The main principles are as follows:
-	�� the Bank grants credits in priority to corporate clients who are 

often also clients of the Group or are part of the Group;
-	� calculation of the impact on capital requirements is made for 

all new credit transactions. The objective is to maintain the ade-
quate ratio of the own funds beyond the 10.5% required by local 
regulation;

-	� each new customer relation must be approved by the “Client 
Control Committee” and where applicable by the “Committee of 
acceptance of new customers and operations”;

-	� the main exposures are toward the ultimate Parent Company;
-	� the Bank does not systematically require a 100% collateral as a 

guarantee. It depends on the reputation of the borrower.

Credit risk is assessed by reviewing: 
-	 large exposure;
-	 credit limits and collaterals; 
-	 credit lines;
-	 financial analysis;
-	 ratings. 

The Bank has in place a manual of procedures, which describes the 
controls, review and reports regarding credit risk. The Bank has a 
regular Credit Committee which reviews major transactions and 
risk situations. Periodic reporting on credit risk is made to the Audit 
Committee. 

(i)	 Credit quality analysis

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of 
financial assets measured at amortised cost, financial assets meas-
ured at FVTOCI. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, 
the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan 
commitments and financial guarantees contracts, the amounts in the 
table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.

Explanation of the terms “Stage 1”, “Stage 2” and “Stage 3” is also 
included in Note 2.

The table below details the amount of loss allowances by stage and 
type of exposure as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

In 2018
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Loans and advances 7,982,815 1,419,499 11,785,770 21,188,084

Off balance sheet exposures 958,682 351,445 --- 1,310,127

Financial assets at FVTOCI 620,935 17,900 --- 638,835

IFRS 9 Loss allowance 9,562,432 1,788,844 11,785,770 23,137,046

In 2019
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Loans and advances 9,231,484 6,325,632 11,936,964 27,494,080

Off balance sheet exposures 1,146,515 1,483,259 --- 2,629,774

Financial assets at FVTOCI 612,636 464,150 --- 1,076,786

IFRS 9 Loss allowance 10,990,635 8,273,041 11,936,964 31,200,640



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS     33

The following table shows the distribution of loss allowance calculated on loans and advances as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by level of risk 
and stages, specifying the amount of impairment calculated in relation to each bucket.

In 2018
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Loans and advances to credit institutions at AC

Grades A: Low-fair risk 7,978,511,180 71,961 --- 7,978,583,141

Grades B: Higher risk 10,041,030 32,883 --- 10,073,913

Grades C: UTP (“Unlikely To Pay”) --- --- --- ---

Grades C: UR (“Unrated”) 6,985,185 235,010 --- 7,220,195

Loss allowance (3,883,961) (647) --- (3,884,608)

Carrying amount 7,991,653,434 339,207 --- 7,991,992,641

Loans and advances to customers at AC

Grades A: Low-fair risk 6,316,249,020 20,022,361 --- 6,336,271,381

Grades B: Higher risk 1,040,453,803 118,905,745 --- 1,159,359,548

Grades C: UTP (“Unlikely To Pay”) 305 1,141 43,891,293 43,892,739

Grades C: UR (“Unrated”) 197,303,492 2,670,755,410 66,845 2,868,125,747

Loss allowance  (4,098,854) (1,418,852)  (11,785,770) (17,303,476)

Carrying amount 7,549,907,766 2,808,265,805 32,172,368 10,390,345,939

Total amount loans and advances 18,382,338,580

Including loss allowances (21,188,084)

In 2019
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Loans and advances to credit institutions at AC

Grades A: Low-fair risk 8,561,916,901 24,933 --- 8,561,941,834

Grades B: Higher risk --- 3,632 --- 3,632

Grades C: UTP (“Unlikely To Pay”) --- 28,209 --- 28,209

Grades C: UR (“Unrated”) 3,780 235,344 --- 239,124

Loss allowance (3,776,206) (909) --- (3,777,115)

Carrying amount 8,558,144,475 291,209 --- 8,558,435,684

Loans and advances to customers at AC

Grades A: Low-fair risk 7,771,275,055 358,530,616 --- 8,129,805,671

Grades B: Higher risk 810,197,723 306,309,947 --- 1,116,507,670

Grades C: UTP (“Unlikely To Pay”) --- 202 44,341,058 44,341,260

Grades C: UR (“Unrated”) 476,962,694 842,994,199 281 1,319,957,174

Loss allowance (5,455,278) (6,324,723) (11,936,964) (23,716,965)

Carrying amount 9,052,980,194 1,501,510,241 32,404,375 10,586,894,810

Total amount loans and advances 19,145,330,494

Including loss allowances (27,494,080)
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The following table shows the distribution of loss allowances calculated on guarantees, loan commitments and uncommitted off balance sheet 
items as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by level of risk and stages, specifying the amount of impairment calculated in relation to each bucket.

In 2018
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Financial guarantees, loan commitments  
and uncommitted credit lines

Grades A: Low-fair risk 10,545,968,082 116,829 --- 10,546,084,911

Grades B: Higher risk 491,037,784 89,004,693 --- 580,042,477

Grades C: UTP (“Unlikely To Pay”) --- 4,547 --- 4,547

Grades C: UR (“Unrated”) 868,357,270 336,068,157 --- 1,204,425,427

Loss allowance (958,682) (351,445) --- (1,310,127)

Carrying amount 11,904,404,454 424,842,781 --- 12,329,247,235

Financial guarantees, loan commitments  
and uncommitted credit lines

12,330,557,362

Uncommitted off balance sheet items (5,369,784,399)

Financial guarantees and loan commitments 6,960,772,963

In 2019
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Financial guarantees, loan commitments  
and uncommitted credit lines

Grades A: Low-fair risk 5,853,246,300 557,944,622 --- 6,411,190,922

Grades B: Higher risk 459,711,341 12,130,915 --- 471,842,256

Grades C: UTP (“Unlikely To Pay”) --- 5,004,601 2 5,004,603

Grades C: UR (“Unrated”) 749,971,999 409,456,232 --- 1,159,428,231

Loss allowance (1,146,515) (1,483,259) --- (2,629,774)

Carrying amount 7,061,783,125 983,053,111 2 8,044,836,238

Financial guarantees, loan commitments  
and uncommitted credit lines

8,047,466,012

Uncommitted off balance sheet items (3,091,695,513)

Financial guarantees and loan commitments 4,955,770,499
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The following table sets out the credit quality of financial assets at FVTOCI. The analysis has been based on external ratings.

Loss allowance calculated on loan at FVTOCI amounted to EUR 2,754 as at 31 December 2019 and its fair value amounted to EUR 7,040,755.

In 2018
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Financial assets at FVTOCI 

A 31,419,383 --- --- 31,419,383

A- 353,978,291 --- --- 353,978,291

A+ 17,939,179 --- --- 17,939,179

A3 11,458,217 --- --- 11,458,217

AA 196,893,927 --- --- 196,893,927

AA- 30,125,004 --- --- 30,125,004

Aa1 --- 10,353,500 --- 10,353,500

Aa2 19,873,042 --- --- 19,873,042

AAA 403,169,067 --- --- 403,169,067

Baa1 5,023,318 --- --- 5,023,318

BB 7,864,841 7,059,690 --- 14,924,531

BBB 1,213,309,800 --- --- 1,213,309,800

BBB- 26,827,458 --- --- 26,827,458

BBB+ 15,664,615 --- --- 15,664,615

Loss allowance (620,935) (17,900) --- (638,835)

TOTAL 2,332,925,207 17,395,290 --- 2,350,320,497

In 2019
(In €) STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 TOTAL

Financial assets at FVTOCI 
A- 424,671,057 --- --- 424,671,057

A+ 26,358,268 --- --- 26,358,268

AA 73,740,222 --- --- 73,740,222

AA- 55,277,575 --- --- 55,277,575

Aa2 20,245,127 --- --- 20,245,127

Aa3 26,773,314 --- --- 26,773,314

Aaa 32,738,255 --- --- 32,738,255

AAA 438,744,849 41,579,961 --- 480,324,810

Baa1 12,374,898 10,156,972 --- 22,531,870

BB 14,983,554 --- --- 14,983,554

BBB 952,437,327 94,133,848 --- 1,046,571,175

BBB+ 11,399,221 --- --- 11,399,221

BBB- 22,499,464 --- --- 22,499,464

Loss allowance (609,882) (464,150) --- (1,074,032)

TOTAL 2,111,633,249 145,406,631 --- 2,257,039,880
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During the year there was no significant change in carrying amount value that contributed to a significant change in loss allowance.

During the year there was no significant change in carrying value that 
contributed to a significant change in loss allowance.

3.2.1.     �INPUTS, ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODOLOGY USED 
FOR ESTIMATING IMPAIRMENT

With respect to impairment, a model developed at Intesa Sanpaolo 
Group level has been introduced for instruments measured at amor-
tised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income (other 
than equity instruments) based on the concept of “expected loss”, 
aimed at recognising losses in a more timely manner. IFRS 9 requires 
that entities recognise expected credit losses over the next 12 months 
(stage 1) starting from initial recognition of the financial instrument. 
The time horizon for calculating expected losses is the entire resid-
ual life of the asset being measured if credit risk has increased 
“significantly” since initial recognition (stage 2) or if it is impaired  
(stage 3). More specifically, the introduction of the new impairment 
rules involves the:
•	� allocation of performing financial assets to different credit risk 

stages (staging), which correspond to value adjustments based 
on 12-month Expected Credit Losses (ECL) (Stage 1), or lifetime 
ECL over the remaining duration of the instrument (Stage 2), if 
there is a significant increase in the credit risk (SICR) determined 

by comparing the Probabilities of Default at the initial recogni-
tion date and at the reporting date;

•	� allocation of the non-performing financial assets to Stage 3, 
again with value adjustments based on the lifetime ECL;

•	� inclusion of forward-looking information in the calculation of 
the ECL, also consisting of information on the evolution of the 
macroeconomic scenario.

In particular:
•	� the new impairment model methodology has been established 

for the tracking of the credit quality of the positions included in 
the portfolios of financial assets measured at amortised cost 
and at fair value through other comprehensive income;

•	� the parameters have been established for determining the sig-
nificant increase in credit risk, for the correct allocation of per-
forming exposures to stage 1 or stage 2. With regard to impaired 
exposures, on the other hand, the alignment of the definitions 
of accounting and regulatory default – already currently pres-
ent – means that the current criteria for the classification of 
exposures as “non-performing/impaired” can be considered the 
same as the classification criteria for exposures within stage 3;

•	� the models have been produced – which include the for-
ward-looking information – to be used for the stage allocation 

The following table shows the reconciliation from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance concerning:

(In €) TRANSFERS  
BETWEEN

STAGE 1 & 2

TRANSFERS  
BETWEEN

STAGE 2 & 3

TRANSFERS  
BETWEEN

STAGE 1 & 3

NO  
TRANSFERS

TOTAL

TO 2 
FROM 1

TO 1 
FROM 2

TO 3 
FROM 2

TO 2 
FROM 3

TO 3 
FROM 1

TO 1 
FROM 3

Balance at 1 January 2019 23,137,046

New financial assets originated or 
purchased

--- --- --- --- --- --- 14,615,257 14,615,257

Remeasurement of loss allowance – 
increase

1,345,268 1,412 --- 440 --- --- 634,030 1,981,150

Remeasurement of loss allowance – 
decrease

(525) (3,909) --- --- --- --- (1,234,790) (1,239,224)

Write offs and assets derecognized --- --- --- --- --- --- (7,293,589) (7,293,589)

Balance at 31 December 2019 31,200,640

TRANSFERS  
BETWEEN

STAGE 1 & 2

TRANSFERS  
BETWEEN

STAGE 2 & 3

TRANSFERS  
BETWEEN

STAGE 1 & 3

NO  
TRANSFERS

TOTAL

TO 2 
FROM 1

TO 1 
FROM 2

TO 3 
FROM 2

TO 2 
FROM 3

TO 3 
FROM 1

TO 1 
FROM 3

Balance at 1 January 2018 20,900,485

New financial assets originated  
or purchased

--- --- --- --- --- --- 19,479,256 19,479,256

Remeasurement of loss allowance – 
increase

9,082 --- --- --- --- --- 234,831 243,913

Remeasurement of loss allowance – 
decrease

(173,326) (632,954) (2) --- (4,922) --- (1,130,215) (1,941,419)

Write offs and assets derecognised --- --- --- --- --- --- (15,545,189) (15,545,189)

Balance at 31 December 2018 23,137,046
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(based on the lifetime PD) and for the calculation of the 12-month 
expected credit loss (ECL) (to be applied to stage 1 exposures) 
and the lifetime ECL (to be applied to stage 2 and stage 3 expo-
sures). To take into account forward-looking information and 
the macroeconomic scenarios in which the Bank may have to 
operate, it was decided to adopt, as reported in greater detail 
below, the so-called “most likely scenario + Add-on” approach.

With regard to the tracking of credit quality – in line with the regula-
tory content of the standard and the instructions from the Supervisory 
Authorities regarding the methods for applying the reporting standard 
for larger sized banks – the policy has been established to be applied 
for the specific analysis of the credit quality of each individual relation-
ship (both in the form of securitised exposure and the form of lending). 
This is aimed at identifying any “significant deterioration in credit risk” 
between the initial recognition date and the reporting date, with the 
consequent need for classification to stage 2, as well as, vice versa, 
the conditions for returning to stage 1. In other words, this operational 
choice involves, case-by-case and at each reporting date, the compar-
ison – for the purposes of staging – between the credit quality of the 
financial instrument at the time of measurement and at the time of 
initial disbursement or purchase.

With regard to the above, the factors that – in accordance with the 
standard and its operational implementation by the Bank – constitute 
the main drivers to be taken into consideration regarding the “trans-
fers” between the different stages are the following:
•	� the variation (beyond set thresholds) of the lifetime probabili-

ties of default compared to the time of initial recognition of the 
financial instrument. This is therefore an assessment made on a 
“relative” basis, which constitutes the main driver;

•	� the presence of a past due position that – subject to the materi-
ality thresholds identified by the regulations – has been in that 
status for at least 30 days. If these circumstances apply, the 
credit risk of the exposure is considered to have “significantly 
increased” and, the exposure is therefore transferred to stage 2 
(when the exposure was previously included in stage 1);

•	� the presence of forbearance measures, which – again on a pre-
sumption basis – result in the classification of the exposures 
under those whose credit risk has “significantly increased” since 
initial recognition; 

•	� lastly, for banks belonging to the international scope, some of 
the indicators from the credit monitoring systems specifically 
used by each bank are considered for the purposes of the trans-
fer between “stages” where appropriate;

•	� this refers in particular to the watch lists, i.e. the credit moni-
toring systems that, based on the current credit quality of the 
borrower, identify performing exposures above a certain level of 
risk.

Focusing on the main trigger out of those referred to above (i.e. the 
change in the lifetime probability of default), the significant increase 
in credit risk (“SICR”) is determined by comparing the relative change 
in the lifetime probability of default recorded between the initial rec-
ognition date of the relationship and the observation date (Lifetime PD 
Change) with predetermined significance thresholds. The assignment 
of a Lifetime PD to the individual relationships is carried out by allo-
cating the ratings for each segment according to the masterscale at 
both the initial recognition date and the observation date. Ratings are 
determined based on internal models, where available, or on business 
models. If there are no ratings, the Benchmark PDs are assigned to the 
type of counterparty being assessed.

The significant deterioration is therefore based on the increase in the 
lifetime PD caused by downgrades of the position, measured in terms 

of notches, from its origination to the reporting (observation) date, 
as well as the change in the forecast of the future macro-economic 
factors. The above-mentioned “relative” change in lifetime PD is an 
indicator of the increase or decrease in credit risk during the reporting 
period. To establish whether, in accordance with IFRS 9, any increase 
in credit risk can be considered “significant” (and therefore entail a 
transition between stages), it is necessary to set specific thresholds. 
Increases in lifetime PD below these thresholds are not considered 
significant and, consequently, do not result in the transfer of individ-
ual credit lines/tranches of debt securities from stage 1 to stage 2. 
However, this transfer is required if there are relative increases in PD 
above these thresholds. The thresholds used are determined based on 
a process of simulations and optimisations of forecast performance, 
carried out using granular historical portfolio data. Specific thresh-
olds are set for the Corporate, Retail, Large Corporate and Retail SME 
models and extended to the other models based on methodological 
affinity. The thresholds differ according to residual maturity, annual 
granularity and rating class at the time of disbursement/purchase of 
each individual financial instrument. The determination of the thresh-
olds has been calibrated to find a suitable balance between the per-
formance indicators relating to the ability of the thresholds to:
•	� detect stage 2 positions before their transition to default;
•	� identify positions for which a return to stage 1 is due to an actual 

improvement in credit rating.

Some specific considerations apply for the “staging” of the debt secu-
rities. Unlike loans, for this type of exposure, sales and purchases 
after initial recognition (made using the same ISIN) may form part of 
the ordinary management of the positions (with the consequent need 
to identify methods to be adopted for identifying the sales and repay-
ments in order to determine the remaining quantities of the individual 
transactions that need to be allocated a credit quality/rating upon 
origination to be compared with that parameter at the reporting date). 
In this regard, the use of the “first-in-first-out” or “FIFO” method (for 
the recognition of the recorded ECL in the statement of profit or loss, 
in the event of sales or repayments) was considered to help in pro-
viding a more transparent management of the portfolio, also for the 
front office operators, while also enabling the continued updating of 
the credit rating based on new purchases.

Lastly, solely with regard to the first-time adoption of the standard, 
for certain categories of exposures (specifically identified and mainly 
related to performing debt securities measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, held by the Parent Company and the 
Italian bank subsidiaries), the low credit risk exemption established 
by IFRS 9 has been used. Based on the exemption, exposures which, 
at the date of transition to the new standard, had a credit rating equiv-
alent to investment grade have been considered to have a low credit 
risk and therefore as stage 1.

Once the allocation to the various credit risk stages has been estab-
lished, the expected credit losses (ECL) are determined at individual 
transaction or securities tranche level, using the IRB/Business mod-
els, based on the parameters of Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given 
Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD), to which appropriate 
corrections are made to ensure compliance with the specific require-
ments of IFRS 9. These corrections include the adoption of a Point 
in Time (PIT) PD compared to the Through the Cycle (TTC) PD used 
for Basel purposes, the estimate of the PDs and, where necessary, of 
the multi-period LGDs to determine the lifetime expected credit loss 
for the financial instrument, and the removal of the economic down-
turn component from the LGD calculation, as well as the use of the 
effective interest rate of the individual transactions in the discounting 
process.
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The measurement of the financial assets – both performing and  
stage 3 – also reflects the best estimate of the effects of future con-
ditions and in particular the economic conditions that affect the for-
ward-looking PDs and LGDs. Information on future macroeconomic 
scenarios in which the Bank may find itself clearly influence the situa-
tion of the debtors, with regard both to the “risk” of migration of expo-
sures to lower quality classes (and therefore concerning the staging) 
and to the recoverable amounts (and therefore concerning the deter-
mination of the expected loss on the exposures).

In terms of method, various possible alternative approaches designed 
to take account of these elements have been analysed.

Of the various alternatives considered, the Bank has decided to 
adopt the “Most likely scenario+Add-on” approach. According to this 
approach, the macroeconomic conditioning of PD and LGD is car-
ried out through a baseline scenario (“Most Likely”, in line with the 
approach used for other business purposes such as, for example, 
the budget and business plan) and then corrected with an Add-On to 
include any differences compared to downside and upside scenarios. 
If the overall impact of the Add-On on the risk parameters is positive, 
the decision has been made to neutralise the effect for both staging 
and ECL calculation purposes.

The design of the most-likely scenario is performed using a set of ana-
lytical and stand-alone forecasting instruments that determine the 
forecast path for several blocks of variables, namely:
•	� national accounts and inflation of the top 6 Eurozone countries, 

the United States and Japan;
•	� official rates (ECB, Fed, BoJ), EUR and USD swap rate curves, 

and several points of the government curves;
•	� exchange rates for EUR, USD, JPY and GBP;
•	� some specific data for the Italian economy (industrial produc-

tion, employment, public finance balances).

These forecasts are then entered in the Oxford Economics multi-coun-
try structural model (Global Economic Model), where they replace the 
forecast paths of the baseline scenario provided by the company with 
the periodic updating of the database.

The model is then solved to derive a consistent global forecasting 
framework, including variables for which no specific models have been 
developed, and to obtain a simulation environment that can be used to 
generate alternative scenarios. This step may require some iterations, 
particularly if the forecasting framework generated internally is sig-
nificantly different from the one provided by Oxford Economics. If this 
is the case, further fine-tuning may be needed for specific secondary 
variables that the analysts consider to be inconsistent with the fore-
cast scenario or that have an unexplainable quarterly volatility.

The construction of the most-likely scenario is accompanied by the iden-
tification of alternative paths, used as inputs in the calculation of the 
Add-On using the Oxford Economics “Global Model” simulation environ-
ment. For some variables, alternative paths are set with respect to those 
in the most-likely scenario, which are used to solve the model to obtain 
consistent simulated paths for the other variables used in this process.

The assessments made take account of the fact that the consensus 
estimates may include forecasts that already incorporate the total or 
partial realisation of one or more risk factors in their estimates, which 
means that the alternative paths may already incorporate these addi-
tional factors to some extent. Specific considerations apply to “stage 
3” exposures (consisting, as reported above, of the current scope of 
non-performing assets). With regard to non-performing loans in par-
ticular, it should be noted that, despite the fact that the definition of 

“credit impaired” financial assets contained in IFRS 9 compared to the 
previous standard is substantially the same, the methods of calcula-
tion of the lifetime ECL have methodological repercussions also for 
the purposes of the measurements to be carried out in this segment, 
mainly in relation to the following aspects:
•	� the inclusion of forward-looking information, such as the infor-

mation on the macroeconomic scenarios, on the recovery esti-
mates and times, and on the likelihood of migration into worse 
classes, as well as information that can have an influence on the 
value of the collateral or the expected recovery time;

•	� the consideration of alternative recovery scenarios, such as the 
sale of the credit assets, in connection with possible disposals 
of parts of the non-performing portfolio, in relation to company 
objectives of reduction of the non-performing assets, to which 
a probability of realisation must be assigned, to be considered 
within the overall measurement.

With regard to the inclusion of forward looking information, it should 
be noted that, also in relation to non-performing exposures, in addition 
to a component linked to current economic conditions, a component 
linked to the most-likely and downside scenarios expected over the 
period of the next three years has been considered, according to the 
criteria already described. 

As required by IFRS 9, the effects of the forward-looking scenario on 
LGD estimates pegged to the current conditions must also be con-
sidered using the above-mentioned component. As already stated, 
the forward-looking scenario component is aimed at capturing the 
non-linearity of the relationship between the macroeconomic varia-
bles and ECL measurement, by analysing the forecast uncertainty of 
the variables used for the preparation of the most-likely scenario. It is 
based on the methodological framework that is used for performing 
loans, but ignores the upside scenario from a prudential perspective 
and only considers the average downside and most-likely scenarios 
over the period of the next three years.

—   INCLUDING “FORWARD-LOOKING” INFORMATION

The Bank has decided to consider – among the various possible 
approaches identified for inclusion of information on future macroeco-
nomic trends in the countries in which the Group operates – the “most 
likely scenario + add-on” approach.

The elements that determined this choice are briefly summarised as 
follows:
•	� consistency with the other corporate processes (e.g. business 

plan/budget/ICAAP);
•	� greater comprehensibility and comparability of results over 

time;
•	� greater governance and control over process metrics;
•	� possibility of calculating the add-on outside the accounting 

cycle/calendar hence within a time frame compatible with fast 
closing, as required by Regulators;

•	� ability to monitor more closely the natural volatility of expected 
losses;

•	� greater possibility of performing back-testing with period-end 
data to progressively improve the accuracy of estimates.

Briefly stated, this methodology provides that:
•	� each exposure (credit line/tranche of a security) is classified in 

one stage only;
•	� both stage assignment and ECL calculation are defined by con-

sidering a single reference forward-looking macroeconomic 
scenario (the one considered to be most likely and clearly used 
for other internal purposes by the Bank). The risk parameters 
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of the scenario are corrected by an ad hoc “add-on” that takes 
into account the presence of non-linear effects in the relation-
ship between the risk parameters themselves and the macro-
economic variables. Indeed, in reality, only rarely there are a 
direct correlation between the forward-looking macroeconomic 
trends implicit in the scenario used, on the one hand, and the 
magnitude of credit losses, on the other, and consequently the 
impacts of the single scenario identified must be “corrected” by 
a specific factor (“add-on”), which is modelled separately. In the 
absence of such “correction factor”, in other words, the use of 
a single scenario in the absence of a linear correlation between 
“scenarios” and ”losses” would not be considered to be compli-
ant with the provisions of IFRS 9 which seems to rule out the use 
of just one reference forward-looking scenario.

The processes for determining such “add-on”, and the methods for its 
validation and inclusion in stage assignment and in calculation of the 
expected loss of the exposures shown in the accounts, are detailed in 
the following paragraph. Here, we shall only mention that application 
of the add-on is also determined by means of managerial adjustment, 
in line with IFRS 9 to limit any benefits arising from its use that are 
inconsistent with other information available on the future scenarios 
considered.

For completeness, we provide below a table summarising the key fea-
tures of the “Most likely scenario + Add-on” approach adopted by the 
Bank (in line with Intesa Sanpaolo Group decision).

—   DETERMINATION OF FORWARD-LOOKING SCENARIOS

Definition of the Most-likely + Add-on model
To determine value adjustments, the Standard requires consideration 
of all the information that is available at the reporting date concerning 
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic con-
ditions (“forward-looking”). In particular, to determine expected credit 
losses (at one year and lifetime), it is necessary to determine “an unbi-
ased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evalu-
ating a range of possible outcomes”. To this end, as described earlier, 
the Group adopts an approach (“Most-likely scenario+Add-on”) that 
starts from the determination of the parameters in a base scenario, 
considered more plausible (“Most-likely”), to which an adjustment is 
applied (“Add-on”) to reflect the effects of alternative scenarios and 
the associated non-linear impacts due to the changes in the macroe-
conomic variables determined. Indeed, only on occurrence of (i) linear 
links between scenario and risk parameters and (ii) symmetry of the 
alternative macroeconomic trends, would the Most-likely scenario 
alone cover all possibilities.

The “Most-likely scenario+Add-on” approach is consistent with the 
other projection-based corporate processes since it uses the same 
baseline macroeconomic scenario as the basis for building the alter-
native scenarios.

The implementation adopted, which includes calculation of one 
Add-on at lifetime PD level and one at LGD level, also makes it pos-
sible to ensure, for construction, consistency between the parame-
ters used for Staging and those used to calculate ECL. Furthermore, 
incorporation of the effects of the alternative scenarios at the level of 

risk parameters makes it possible to assign the exposure to one Stage 
directly and uniquely and to make one calculation of the correspond-
ing ECL for each exposure.

—   FORWARD LOOKING – QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

The methodology for estimating Expected Credit Loss (ECL) adopted 
for the purpose of determining impairment losses on loans in accord-
ance with IFRS 9 is carried out, at the level of individual transac-
tions or tranches of securities, starting from the IRB modeling of the 
Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure 
at Default (EAD) parameters, on which appropriate corrective actions 
are done to ensure coherence with the specific requirements of the 
principle.

A detailed description of the methods adopted by the Intesa Sanpaolo 
Group is included in the Group Accounting Policies and, in particular, 
provided in Section “A. 2 - Part relating to the main items of the Balance 
Sheet” – paragraph “Methods for determining impairment losses” to 
which reference is made.

In particular, the valuation of financial assets reflects the best esti-
mation of the effects of future conditions, first of all those relating 
to the economic context, on the basis of which PD and LGD forward 
looking are conditioned. In the context of IFRS 9, also on the basis of 
the guidelines of the international Regulators, informations on future 
macroeconomic scenarios in which the Bank may find itself operating 
and which significantly have an influence on the situation of debtors 
with reference to both the “risk” of migration of exposures to lower 
quality classes (i.e. staging) and the recoverable amounts (i.e. the 

Approach chosen Stage Assignment Definition of ECL Main characteristics 

Most likely scenario + Add-on

Each exposure is classified in one 
stage (1, 2 or 3); the change in 
credit risk, between the date of 
initial recognition and the meas-
urement date, is defined by refer-
ence to a single forward-looking 
scenario, (considered to be the 
most likely), plus a possible add-
on in the presence of non-linear 
correlations.

ECL is calculated by reference 
to only one forward-looking eco-
nomic scenario (considered the 
most likely), to which however a 
separately modelled adjustment 
is made (add-on), designed to 
reflect the effects of other less 
likely scenarios and the associ-
ated non-linear impacts. 

This approach is compliant with 
the standard (by introducing 
an add-on to account for the 
impacts of the non-linear cor-
relation between the different 
forward-looking scenarios and 
the associated credit losses, as 
in the case of the ISP Group’s 
portfolios).
Simpler representation and ex-
planation of impairment dynam-
ics between periods compared 
to possible alternative solutions.
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determination of the expected loss on exposures) are to become par-
ticularly important. 

From a methodological point of view, several possible alternative 
approaches have been analysed in order to take these elements into 
account. With respect to the various alternatives considered, the 
approach that the Intesa Sanpaolo Group has decided to adopt is the 
so-called “Most likely scenario + Add-on”. According to this approach, 
the macroeconomic conditioning of PD and LGD is carried out through 
a base scenario (“Most Likely”, consistent with what is used for other 
business purposes such as, for example, budgets and business plans) 
and then adjusted with an Add-On aimed at including any differences 
with respect to worst and best scenarios. If the impact of the Add-On 
is positive overall on the risk parameters, it has been chosen to steri-
lize its effect both for staging and ECL calculation purposes. 

The macroeconomic scenario is determined by the Bank’s Studies 
and Research Department using forecasting models also taking into 

account the forecasts of the main national and international bodies 
and institutions. The alternative improving and worsening scenarios 
are determined by stressing the input variables in the forecast models.

In the period 2019-22, the macroeconomic variables most relevant for 
the determination of the ECL and used for the Most likely scenario 
have compound annual growth rates for the period (CAGR) of +0.46% 
for Real GDP Italy and +1.03% for Real Estate Prices Italy. The unem-
ployment rate for Italy is expected to be 10.0% on average for the 
period. Forecasts for the financial markets show compound annual 
growth rates for the period of +2.62% for the DJ Eurostoxx50 and 
+1.12% for the S&P500, while the Spread BTP-Bund is expected to be 
178 b.p. on average for the period.

The table below shows these variables together with estimations 
according to the improving and worsening scenarios described above:

The estimations of the prospective improving and worsening sce-
narios compared with the most Likely scenario show the following 
differences: Real GDP Italy +21 b.p. for the improving scenario and 
-94 b.p. for the worsening scenario, Price of real estate Italy +63 b.p. 
for the improving scenario and -242 b.p. for the worsening scenario, 
Unemployment rate Italy -20 b.p for the improving scenario and +20 
b.p. for the worsening scenario, DJ Eurostoxx stock index 50 +210 b.p. 
for the improving scenario and -1007 b.p. for the worsening scenario, 
S&P stock index 500 +452 b.p. for the improving scenario and -679 
b.p. for the worsening scenario and Spread BTP-Bund -18 b.p. for the 
improving scenario and +90 b.p. for the worsening scenario.

The Bank’s Expected Credit Loss (ECL) for 2019, determined in 
accordance with IFRS 9, was subject to sensitivity analysis in order 
to analyse the variability with regard to the individual alternative sce-
narios. This analysis was carried out on the performing loans portfolio 
(Stage 1 & Stage 2) in relation to the Group’s representative perim-
eter (Parent Company and banks in the CIB Division, which account 
for approximately 90% of the Group’s total exposure), taking as a 
reference scenario the worsening scenario which, together with the 
improving scenario, contributes to the determination of the Add-on. 
The sensitivity of the portfolio to the worsening scenario shows an 
increase in ECL 2019 of approximately 0.06%.

For the Group companies included in the roll-out plan, the internal rat-
ing models, EAD and LGD components are subject to an independent 
validation process carried out by the Validation function and to third 
level control by the Internal Audit function. At the end of the activities, 
a report on the compliance of the models with the supervisory regula-
tions is produced for the Supervisory Authorities, which also verifies 
the effective deviation between the assumptions made ex-ante and 
the actual values realised ex-post. The report, approved by the Board 

of Directors of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., certifies the on-going/perpet-
ual compliance requirements.

The effectiveness of IFRS 9 models is also monitored by the Validation 
function at least once a year on risk parameters (staging criteria, PD, 
LGD and haircut models), both through model performance tests and 
in terms of model design and data treatment and code review activi-
ties. The results are shown, similarly to what described above, in the 
annual report on internal models for management purposes. With 
regard to the analyses carried out during 2019, no particular critical 
issues emerged and an opinion of general adequacy was expressed 
with respect to the areas under analysis.

Definition of the Most-likely macroeconomic scenario
The baseline scenario is built every six months at the following times, 
unless significant changes require a mid-term update: 
•	� March scenario, which includes largely complete historical data 

on the previous year and it usually allows significant improve-
ments to the forecasts for the current year, to be used to con-
dition the calculation parameters for preparing the half-year 
report and the third quarter report;

•	� September scenario, used to support other corporate processes 
(i.e. budget, business plan) and to determine other balance 
sheet parameters (e.g. goodwill), to be used to condition the 
calculation parameters for preparation of the year-end financial 
statements and the first quarter report.

The global macroeconomic scenario is designed using a set of stand-
alone analytical and forecasting instruments, which determine the 
forecasting process using certain clusters of variables, specifically: 
•	� countries economic indicators and inflation rate of the top six 

countries in the Eurozone, of the United States and of Japan;

Macroeconomic variable Most likely  
Scenario 

Improving  
Scenario 

Worsening  
Scenario 

Real GDP Italy growth rate (CAGR 2019-2022) 0.46% 0.67% -0.48%

Real Estate Prices Italy growth rate (CAGR 2019-2022) 1.03% 1.66% -1.39%

DJ Eurostoxx 50 index growth rate (CAGR 2019-2022) 2.62% 4.72% -7.45%

S&P 500 index growth rate (CAGR 2019-2022) 1.12% 5.64% -5.67%

Italy unemployment rate avg value (Avg 2019-2022) 10.0% 9.8% 10.2%

Avg value Spread vs. Bund (Avg 2019-2022) 178bps 160bps 268bps
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•	� official rates (ECB, Fed, BoJ), EUR and USD swap rate curves, 
some points of the government curves; 

•	 exchange rates for EUR, USD, JPY and GBP;
•	� some detailed data on the Italian economy (industrial output, 

employment, public finance balances).

These forecasts are then applied to the multi-country structural 
model (Global Economic Model) of Oxford Economics, where they 
replace the forecasts of the baseline scenario provided by the com-
pany with the periodic updating of the database. The model is then 
resolved to obtain a coherent overall forecast, inclusive of variables 
for which no ad hoc models have been developed, and to have a simu-
lation environment that can be used to generate possible alternative 
scenarios. This step may require several iterations, especially if the 
forecast based on internally processed data diverges significantly 
from the one produced by Oxford Economics. In this case, additional 
fine-tuning might be required on specific secondary variables that the 
analysts consider not consistent with the forward-looking scenario or 
which display an unexplained quarterly volatility.

Definition of alternative paths to calculate Add-on
At the same time intervals used to prepare the Most-likely scenario, 
alternative paths are identified; they are used as inputs to calculate 
the Add-on, using the Oxford Economics’ Global Model simulation 
environment. For certain variables, alternative paths to that provided 
for in the Most-likely scenario are imposed. These are used as the 
basis to resolve the model in order to obtain coherent simulated paths 
for the other variables used in the process in question. 

The key variables are the following:
•	� average annual GDP growth rates in certain countries (Italy, 

United States, Germany, France, Spain and United Kingdom); 
•	 European stock exchange index (DJ Eurostoxx 50);
•	 US stock exchange index (S&P500);
•	 price of residential real estate (United States);
•	 price of residential real estate (Italy).

To select the alternative paths external information is used. More 
specifically:
•	� average annual GDP growth rates of certain countries: this is 

a key driver of the simulation; deviations are determined so as 
to replicate the dispersion of the growth estimates published 
by Consensus Economics in the latest report available at the 
date of the simulation, considering the minimum and maximum 
forecast (after applying a Grubbs filter to identify and remove 
any outliers). In the presence of outliers, the abnormal data is 

removed and the maximum and minimum of the remaining val-
ues are considered. Since consensus estimates are available 
only for the first two years of the simulation timeframe, for the 
third year an extrapolation is made of the deviations identified 
for the first two years;

•	� Stock market indices (DJ Eurostoxx 50, S&P500) and indices 
of US residential property prices: the minimum and maximum 
forecast of the Thomson Reuters panel are used;

•	� Italian residential property prices: since no consensus esti-
mates are currently available, the alternative paths rely on the 
distribution of past quarterly variations available from 1980 to 
the current quarter. 

For each quarter, the percentile relating to the variation of the quar-
ter present in the Most-likely scenario with respect to the histori-
cal distribution of the changes in the above-mentioned indicators is 
identified. Starting from the identified percentile value, the variations 
corresponding to probability deviation ±∆p are identified; they are cal-
culated by means of statistical analysis of the historical distribution 
of the observations. The new values identified are then used as input 
to determine the negative Add-on factor (lowest value) and the input 
for the positive Add-on (highest value). The two changes (positive 
and negative) compared to the Most-likely scenario, are then used to 
calculate the level of the individual indices identified, reconstructing, 
for each, two alternative paths (one positive and one negative) which 
constitute the input for determining the Add-on factor. The probability 
deviation adopted is identified on the basis of the variability character-
istics of the series, so as to obtain a significantly large deviation from 
the Most-likely scenario. 

When applying the annual changes to the quarterly profile of the varia-
bles, each deviation from the annual average is distributed, within that 
year’s forecast quarters, according to a standardised levelling meth-
odology that minimises the overall variability of the variable’s profile.
	
The two sets of alternative variables thus obtained are used as inputs 
in the above-mentioned Global Model of Oxford Economics, which is 
then resolved to obtain coherent paths for all the remaining variables 
and countries. The output of the model consists in two datasets of 
variables that reflect, through the model’s equations, the two shocks 
applied (respectively adverse and positive). The datasets are checked 
to detect any excessive quarterly volatility and/or inconsistencies 
in the path of the secondary variables. If necessary, the results are 
fine-tuned. From these datasets, another set of variables is extracted; 
these are the narrower datasets supplied to produce the alternative 
Add-on scenarios in the next stages of the process.
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(ii)	� Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position, including derivatives. The 
maximum exposure is shown before the effect of mitigation through the use of collateral agreements but after deduction of impairments.

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the amounts shown above represent the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the 
future as a result of change in values. 

For more detail on the maximum credit exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instruments, references shall be made to the  
specific notes.

(In €) MAXIMUM EXPOSURE 
2019

MAXIMUM EXPOSURE 
2018

Cash and cash balances with central banks 726,382,833 109,032,333

Financial assets held for trading 30,193,047 48,445,482

Financial assets designated at fair value --- 10,365,456

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL 613,898 789,701

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 2,265,365,852 2,351,170,517

Loans and advances 19,145,330,494 18,382,338,580

Derivatives held for hedging 2,111,798 210,014

Other assets 35,638,829 25,473,149

TOTAL 22,205,636,751 20,927,825,232

Guarantees 316,141,594 479,967,237

Commitments 4,639,628,905 6,480,805,726

TOTAL 4,955,770,499 6,960,772,963
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(iii)	 Credit quality per class of financial assets

For classification of non-performing exposures in the various risk categories (doubtful loans, substandard exposures and past due exposures), the 
Bank rules laid down by its ultimate Parent Company.

The table below gives a breakdown by categories of gross financial assets and credit quality (except for cash balances with central banks)  
before impairment: 

(iv)	 Credit quality per class of financial assets

The gross and net exposures of loans and advances are as follows:

As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, there is no credit position that could qualify for loan forbearance as defined by the ESMA (European Security 
and Market Authority).

In 2018
(In €)

PERFORMING 
ASSETS

DOUBTFUL 
ASSETS

UNLIKELY  
TO PAY

PAST DUE 
EXPOSURES 

TOTAL 

Financial assets held for trading  48,445,482  --- ---  --- 48,445,482

Financial assets designated  
at fair value

 10,365,456 --- --- --- 10,365,456

Financial assets mandatorily 
measured at FVTPL

789,701 --- --- --- 789,701

Financial assets at FVTOCI  2,351,170,517 --- --- --- 2,351,170,517

Loans and advances  18,359,635,371 --- 43,891,293 --- 18,403,526,664

TOTAL  20,770,406,527 --- 43,891,293 --- 20,814,297, 820

In 2019
(In €)

PERFORMING 
ASSETS

DOUBTFUL 
ASSETS

UNLIKELY  
TO PAY

PAST DUE 
EXPOSURES 

TOTAL 

Financial assets held for trading 30,193,047  --- ---  --- 30,193,047

Financial assets designated at fair 
value

--- --- --- --- ---

Financial assets mandatorily 
measured at FVTPL

613,898 --- --- --- 613,898

Financial assets at FVTOCI 2,265,365,852 --- --- --- 2,265,365,852

Loans and advances 19,128,483,235 --- 44,341,339 --- 19,172,824,574

TOTAL 21,424,656,032 --- 44,341,339 --- 21,468,997,371

In 2018
(In €)

PERFORMING ASSETS INDIVIDUAL  
IMPAIRMENT

COLLECTIVE  
IMPAIRMENT

TOTAL

Performing loans  18,359,635,371 --- (9,402,314) 18,350,233,057

Doubtful loans --- --- --- ---

Unlikely to Pay  43,891,293 (11,785,770) --- 31,105,523

TOTAL  18,403,526,664 (11,785,770) (9,402,314) 18,382,338,580

In 2019
(In €)

GROSS 
EXPOSURE 

INDIVIDUAL  
IMPAIRMENT

COLLECTIVE  
IMPAIRMENT

TOTAL

Performing loans 19,128,483,235 --- (15,557,116) 19,112,926,119

Doubtful loans --- --- --- ---

Unlikely to Pay 44,341,339 (11,936,964) --- 32,404,375

TOTAL 19,172,824,574 (11,936,964) (15,557,116) 19,145,330,494
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(v)	 Concentration of risks

In order to avoid a too high concentration of risks, the Bank has to respect the following limit on a permanent basis: 
-	� the total risk exposure toward a single client or group of connected clients must not exceed 25% of the own funds of the Bank.

As at 31 December 2019, the lending limit amounted to EUR 631 million (2018: EUR 622 million) and no borrower exceeded this amount after the 
application of credit risk mitigation. The main exposures relates to 105 borrowers or group of borrowers (2018: 92 borrowers or group of borrow-
ers) with financing between EUR 12 billion and EUR 15 million each (2018: between EUR 8 billion and EUR 15 million).

The Bank produces large exposures reports, which are the main tests of exposure concentration, as they include exposures to individual clients as 
well as group of counterparties and banking counterparties. They are communicated to the Management on a regular basis.

Following the Bank’s request, the CSSF has approved an exemption from including in its calculation of the large risk exposures, in accordance with 
point 24, part XVI of CSSF circular 06/273 as subsequently amended and article 400.2 of the EU Regulation No 575/2013, the risks to which the 
Bank is exposed with the Intesa Sanpaolo Group. The exposures on related parties are disclosed in Note 27.
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(vi)	 Geographical allocation of risks

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the distribution by geographical area of the risks held in securities (except for trading positions and derivatives 
held for hedging) and loans and advances before taking into account collateral held and other credit enhancements can be summarized as follows:

(In €)

2019 2018

INVESTMENT 
SECURITIES 

 (FVTOCI, FVTPL)

LOANS  
AND ADVANCES

SECURITIES  
 (FVTOCI, FVTPL)

LOANS  
AND ADVANCES

Italy 1,057,344,024 8,885,426,471 1,271,871,969 11,143,277,724

USA --- 84,287,344 --- 83,959,305

Japan --- 23,231 --- 669,239

France 133,098,898 3,798,009 217,423,749 21,544,385

Spain 431,105,112 133,680,344 364,948,047 210,892,051

Luxembourg 132,426,544 1,533,592,629 97,154,426 1,274,178,524

Belgium 26,773,314 136,813,862 25,159,254 111,446,296

Germany 95,138,248 326,573,589 55,874,337 400,978,818

United Kingdom 16,379,620 315,202,388 10,030,655 381,458,938

Switzerland --- 273,467,849 --- 161,264,324

The Netherlands 118,974,132 590,181,612 52,914,321 828,296,462

Poland --- 11,722 --- 3,702,743

Qatar --- 429,482,907 --- 382,702,947

Russia --- 4,753,253,244 --- 2,203,621,629

Croatia --- --- --- 507,992

Hungary --- 154,814 --- 196,411

Romania --- 120,342,733 --- 123,286,073

Supranational 187,403,846 --- 226,111,159 ---

Slovenia --- --- ---  2,246,663

Portugal --- --- --- 180,172

South Africa --- 282,581,478 --- 317,060,369

Ireland 10,310,603 29,314,783 10,035,944 64,346,535

Czech Republic --- 4 --- 724,067

Denmark --- 10,321 --- 48,722

Norway 2,549,733 45,697 10,430,116 20,176

Canada 37,456,273 1,059,235 15,043,319 355,579

Austria --- 32,404,235 --- 33,750,689

Sweden --- 40,170 5,045,741 39,609

Cyprus --- 151,300,878 --- 157,964,063

Azerbaijan --- 147,575,869 --- 264,727,975

Man Island 9,978,648 --- --- ---

India 7,040,755 136,381,591 --- --- 

Saudi Arabia --- 613,178,560 --- --- 

Other --- 165,144,925 --- 208,890,100

TOTAL 2,265,979,750 19,145,330,494 2,362,043,037  18,382,338,580
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(In €)
2019 2018

GUARANTEES COMMITMENTS GUARANTEES COMMITMENTS

Belgium 111,269,361 414,801,937 106,986,900  400,151,990

Cyprus 90,000 --- 60,000 25,437,741

France 70,000 --- 70,000 ---

Germany --- 66,497,287 --- 127,768,339

Tunisia 10,000 --- 10,000 ---

Ghana --- 1 --- 1

Hungary 110,000 --- --- ---

Italy 49,533,233 119,078,150  49,539,078  378,640,497

Luxembourg 52,289,825 484,934,897  46,093,814  496,882,202

The Netherlands 18,967,112 1,321,121,311  4,403,111 949,634,256

Kuwait --- 133,523,233 --- 131,004,367

Principato di Monaco 80,000 --- 30,000 ---

Qatar --- 724,249,504 --- 801,129,228

Spain --- 40,778,200 --- ---

Switzerland 585,758 28,648,834  574,707  38,071,483

Turkey 10,000 --- 15,000 ---

USA 2,655,305 1 7,802,101 192,610,895

United Kingdom 80,292,000 51,467,137 264,342,526 129,327,189

Venezuela 40,000 --- 10,000 ---

Congo Dem. Republic 30,000 --- 30,000 ---

South Africa --- 78,161,748 --- 78,338,768

Russia --- 654,228,237 --- 2,731,808,770

Azerbaijan --- 1 --- ---

India --- 522,138,427 --- ---

Israel 9,000 --- --- ---

Brazil 10,000 --- --- ---

British Virgin Isl. 50,000 --- --- ---

Lebanon 40,000 --- --- ---

TOTAL 316,141,594 4,639,628,905  479,967,237 6,480,805,726 

Significant concerns about creditworthiness of certain Eurozone countries persisted during the year leading to speculation as to the long-term 
sustainability of the Eurozone.
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The Bank is exposed to such risk mainly through the Italian sovereign debt securities held in its securities portfolio.

(viii)	 Industry sector allocation of risks

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the breakdown by industry sector of the risks held in securities (except for trading positions and derivatives 
held for hedging) and loans and advances before taking into account collateral held and other credit enhancements can be summarized as follows:

(In €)

2019 2018

INVESTMENT
SECURITIES  

(FVTPL, FVTOCI)

LOANS  
AND ADVANCES

SECURITIES  
(FVTOCI, FVTPL)

LOANS  
AND ADVANCES

Financial institutions 369,352,846 8,558,435,684 353,060,971 7,991,992,641

Public sector 1,888,972,251 921,794,790 1,998,405,425 312,023,770

Other industries 7,654,653 9,655,017,330 10,576,641 8,159,400,224

Individuals --- 10,082,690 --- 1,918,921,945

TOTAL 2,265,979,750 19,145,330,494 2,362,043,037 18,382,338,580

(In €)
2019 2018

GUARANTEES COMMITMENTS GUARANTEES COMMITMENTS

Financial institutions 195,775,496 5,000,000 380,536,858 ---

Public sector --- 724,249,505 ---  801,129,228

Other industries 119,559,251 3,910,379,400  98,808,926  5,602,145,908

Individuals 806,847 ---  621,453  77,530,590

TOTAL 316,141,594 4,639,628,905  479,967,237  6,480,805,726

MATURING ON FAIR VALUE (EUR)

2020 175,123,200

2021 50,430,817

2022  186,032,271

2023 161,039,297

2024 130,693,894

2025 85,649,231

2026 52,379,710

2027 53,928,655

2028 80,773,216

TOTAL  976,050,291
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3.3.	 LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank is not able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due (funding liquidity risk). Normally, the 
Bank is able to cover cash outflows with inflows of cash, readily marketable assets and its own capacity to obtain credit. With regards to readily 
liquid assets in particular, market turmoil may occur which makes their sale or use of guarantee in exchange for funds extremely difficult (or even 
impossible); from this point of view, the Bank’s liquidity is closely tied to the market liquidity conditions (market liquidity risk). The Liquidity Risk 
Management policy of the Bank is intended to define the guidelines for prudent management of this risk, outlining all the control processes and 
standards designed to prevent situations of liquidity crisis for the Bank. The policy defines the rules, measurement methodologies, behavioural 
parameters for the Bank, according to the Intesa Sanpaolo Group Guidelines. Liquidity risk is subject to supervisory requirements in compliance 
with the applicable regulation and to internal limits as set in the Bank’s Risk Appetite Framework (RAF).

In accordance with the guidelines and with the aim of guaranteeing a sufficient and balanced level of liquidity to ensure on-going availability of 
sufficient funds to meet its day-to-day payment commitments:
-	� the Bank developed a prudent approach to liquidity management, so as to maintain an overall risk profile at extremely contained levels;
-	� the liquidity risk management policy is clearly communicated to the whole organisation;
-	� all the Bank’s operational units which carry out activities which have an impact on the liquidity are familiar with the liquidity management 

strategy and with the corresponding costs and should act within the framework of approved policies and limits;
-	� the units responsible for managing the liquidity risk operate within the approved limits;
-	� the Bank maintains a sufficient level of readily liquid assets to enable business-as-usual and overcome the initial stages of any shock to its 

own liquidity or that of the system.

The Bank also complies with Group regulations that from time to time may be imposed on the Bank as part of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group, such as 
occasional limitation of the access to the market by concentrating with the Parent Company any excess of liquidity. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio of the Bank as defined in the article 416 of EU Regulation No 575/2013 and Delegated 
Regulation EU No 2015/61 was 277% (2018: 193%). 

The tables below present the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative and derivative financial liabilities held for managing liquidity 
risk by remaining contractual maturities at the date of the statement of financial position. 

31ST DECEMBER 2019
IN MILLION €

< 1 
MONTH

≥ 1 MONTH 
< 3 MONTHS

≥ 3 MONTHS
< 6 MONTHS

≥ 6 MONTHS
< 1 YEAR

 ≥ 1 YEAR
< 2 YEARS

≥ 2 YEARS
< 5 YEARS

≥ 5 YEARS TOTAL

Deposit from central banks --- --- 810 --- --- --- --- 810

Financial liabilities at FVTPL and 
derivatives held for hedging 4,131 570 969 433 768 1,615 954 9,440

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss --- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 2,959 2,199 3,238 2,627 4,372 3,159 215 18,769

TOTAL 7,090 2,769 5,017 3,060 5,140 4,774 1,169 29,019

31ST DECEMBER 2018
IN MILLION €

< 1 
MONTH

≥ 1 MONTH 
< 3 MONTHS

≥ 3 MONTHS
< 6 MONTHS

≥ 6 MONTHS
< 1 YEAR

 ≥ 1 YEAR
< 2 YEARS

≥ 2 YEARS
< 5 YEARS

≥ 5 YEARS TOTAL

Deposit from central banks --- --- --- --- 812 --- --- 812 

Financial liabilities held for 
trading and derivatives held for 
hedging

 299  13 4,833  126 163 909 33 6,376 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss ---  1 ---  1 3 5 --- 10 

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost  3,095  3,682 1,826  2,145 2,948 3,640 216 17,552 

TOTAL 3,394 3,696 6,659 2,272 3,926 4,554  249 24,750 
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The breakdown by sector of financial liabilities is as follows (in EUR):

2019
(In €)

GOVERNMENT 
AND CENTRAL 

BANKS

OTHER PUBLIC 
ENTITIES

FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS

NON- 
FINANCIAL 

COMPANIES

OTHER TOTAL

Deposits from central banks 809,894,291 --- --- --- --- 809,894,291

Financial liabilities held for trading 
and for hedging --- --- 163,566,999 1,361 15,374,355 178,942,715

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss --- --- --- --- --- ---

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost --- 153,458,317 3,916,727,803 1,206,255,562 13,492,614,705 18,769,056,387

TOTAL 809,894,291 153,458,317 4,080,294,802 1,206,256,923 13,507,989,060 19,757,893,393

2018
(In €)

GOVERNMENT 
AND CENTRAL 

BANKS

OTHER PUBLIC 
ENTITIES

FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS

NON- 
FINANCIAL 

COMPANIES

OTHER TOTAL

Deposits from central banks 812,487,716 --- --- --- --- 812,487,716

Financial liabilities held for trading 
and for hedging --- --- 119,445,466 --- 16,941,817 136,387,283

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss --- --- 10,240,794 --- --- 10,240,794

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost --- 138,127,304 1,072,688,424 559,660,454 15,781,433,247 17,551,909,429

TOTAL 812,487,716 138,127,304 1,202,374,684 559,660,454 15,798,375,064 18,511,025,222

2019
(In €)

ZONE EURO OTHER EUROPEAN 
COUNTRIES

OTHER TOTAL

Deposits from central banks 809,894,291 --- --- 809,894,291

Financial liabilities held for trading and for hedging 178,732,504 180,389 29,822 178,942,715

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss --- --- --- ---

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 17,788,852,353 691,508,262 288,695,772 18,769,056,387

TOTAL 18,777,479,148 691,688,651 288,725,594 19,757,893,393

2018
(In €)

ZONE EURO OTHER EUROPEAN 
COUNTRIES

OTHER TOTAL

Deposits from central banks 812,487,716 --- --- 812,487,716 

Financial liabilities held for trading and for hedging 135,730,009  130,193  527,081 136,387,283 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 10,240,794 --- --- 10,240,794 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 16,852,491,535  479,158,739  220,259,155 17,551,909,429 

TOTAL 17,810,950,054  479,288,932  220,786,236 18,511,025,222 
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3.4.	 MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

The Bank’s primary financial instruments comprise money markets assets and liabilities, some cash and liquid resources and various other items 
that arise directly from its operations.

The Bank enters into derivatives transactions, which are mainly interest rate swaps (“IRS”) and forward foreign currency contracts. Those deriva-
tives are held from an economic point of view for the purpose of monitoring the Bank’s interest rate risk and currency risk respectively.

The Treasury Department is part of Dealing Room and is responsible for managing the interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk generated within 
the Bank and for maintaining them within risk limits validated by the Board of Directors of the Bank.

To assess market risk, the Bank has put in place a reporting addressed to the Authorized Management, the Internal Audit, the Financial Markets 
Division and any other operational service responsible.

The Risk Control Function carries out their own analyses and assessments and the results are communicated periodically to the members  
of Authorized Management of the Bank, to the Financial Markets Division, to the ALCO Committee and to the Board of Directors, through the  
Audit Committee.

The Risk Management conducts daily controls of positions in foreign exchange, securities trading and interest rate. The result of these checks and 
any overruns positions are communicated through a daily report to the Management of the Bank.

The Bank has in place Policies and a manual of procedures for the Treasury department and Risk Management, which describe limits, rules  
and controls.

Risk measurements

A Value at Risk (VaR) measurement of the proprietary portfolio is computed by the Parent Company Risk Management on a weekly basis and com-
municated to the Bank Risk Control Function in charge of the analysis.

The VaR model used by the Group and applied to the Bank is based on simulations where calculations of risk is made through the construction of 
“n” scenarios possible variations compared to the initial value of the risk factors: the scenarios are applied to the initial value of the risk positions 
in order to estimate the theoretical distribution of profit and loss on which to calculate the VaR at a predetermined percentile. 

The approach used for the VaR computation is characterised by:
•	 a model of historical simulation using the platform Mark-to-Future (Algorithmics);
•	 a confidence interval of 99-th percentile;
•	 a considered holding period of 1 day;
•	 a full revaluation of positions.

A daily VaR limit is fixed at EUR 15 million.

3.4.1.     �INTEREST RATE RISK

Average interest rates

The average effective interest rates on financial instruments by main currencies for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Interest rate risk is the risk arising from potential changes in interest rates that have an impact on the Bank’s assets and liabilities other than those 

that are present in the trading portfolio. 

2019 2018

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

EUR 0.4804% 0.2604% 0.4881% 0.2695% 

USD 3.0374% 2.2539% 4.0516% 3.1808% 
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In general, the interest rate risk is covered as follows:
•	� concerning client deposits in Euro as well as credit, investment and interbank loans, the Bank generally uses floating rates, which sustain 

profit margin. Euro bonds that pay fixed rate are hedged by interest rate swaps.
•	 concerning loan and credit operations held in foreign currencies, the Bank uses a roll over interest rates with a pre-agreed fixed margin.
 
The interest rate risk is mainly represented by treasury operations which are not perfectly hedged at maturity or risk of maturity transformation.

The interest rate risk is analysed based on the maturity of claims and liabilities, which also gives a measure of average margins and durations  
for treasury operations in given currencies. In order to optimise treasury activities, a mismatch is authorised either through cash positions, off 
balance sheet positions short term IRS, FRS or Futures. It is subject to certain limits in terms of interest rate positions, liquidity and concentration 
of client deposits.

The set of “Shift sensitivity +100bps” limits for the Bank have been approved by the Group Financial Risk Committee and by the Bank Board on  
15 December 2017 and updated on September 2019:

In addition a shift sensitivity +100bps limit for USD currency has been introduced and equal to ± 3.5 million.

In order to measure interest rate risk, the Risk Management Department uses on a daily basis the “shift sensitivity of Fair Value” (EVE) indicator 
which measures the changes in economic value of a financial portfolio resulting from a parallel shift (± 100bps) in the discount curves (yield curve) 
related to currencies. To calculate the present value, discount curves which are suitable for measuring individual financial instruments are applied. 
The total value of shift sensitivity is broken down by time bucket (bucket analysis), in order to identify the distribution of risk over the time axis.

At year end, the values of shift sensitivity ± 100bps (EVE) have been as follows:

At 31 December 2019, the Net Interest Income Sensitivity (NII), which measures the impact on net interest income of a parallel and instantaneous 
shock in the interest rate curve of ± 50 bps, over a period of 12 months, has been as follows:

 
The tables below present the financial assets and liabilities by repricing dates. Interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities are classified in the 
respective categories according to the interest rate repricing dates. For derivatives, the fair value of the instruments is used. 

Bucket Shift +100p per bucket Shift -100p per bucket Limits

Short term (3,514,846) 2,086,376 +8 / -17 mln

Medium term (535,811) 798,192 +14 / -14 mln

Long term (2,969,281) 2,124,775 +8 / -10 mln

TOTAL (7,019,938) 5,009,343 +18 / -24 mln

-50bps +50bps

(14,277,897) 8,475,582

Limit per time bucket

Limits Short term Medium term Long term

Total 0 - 18 months 18 months - 5 years > 5 years

+18 / -24 million +8 / -17 million +14 / -14 million +8 / -10 million
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Under the assumptions as defined here above taking into account assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019, a 100 bp increase or decrease in 
market interest rates would influence the interest income before tax by EUR (7,019,938) and EUR 5,009,343 respectively.

31st December 2019 
 (In million €)

< 1 
MONTH

≥ 1 MONTH 
< 3 MONTHS

≥ 3 MONTHS
< 6 MONTHS

≥ 6 MONTHS
< 1 YEAR

 ≥ 1 YEAR
< 2 YEARS

≥ 2 YEARS
< 5 YEARS

≥ 5 
YEARS

TOTAL

Cash and cash balances with 
central banks

726 --- --- --- --- --- --- 726

Financial assets held for trading 
derivatives held for hedging 
and financial assets mandatorily  
at FVTPL

--- --- --- --- --- --- 33 33

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

Financial assets at FVTOCI 14 175 25 91 131 992 837 2,265

Loans and advances 2,543 1,875 2,537 1,775 4,654 4,265 1,496 19,145

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 3,283 2,050 2,562 1,866 4,785 5,257 2,366 22,169

Deposits from central banks --- --- 810 --- --- --- --- 810

Financial liabilities held for trading 
and derivatives held for hedging

--- --- --- --- --- --- 179 179

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

--- --- --- --- --- --- --- ---

Financial liabilities measured  
at amortised cost

2,960 2,200 3,236 2,627 4,372 3,159 215 18,769

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 2,960 2,200 4,046 2,627 4,372 3,159 394 19,758
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Under the assumptions as defined here above taking into account assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018, a 100 bp increase or decrease in 
market interest rates would influence the interest income before tax by EUR (9,151,355) and EUR 540,356 respectively.
 

31st December 2018 
 (In million €)

< 1 
MONTH

≥ 1 MONTH 
< 3 MONTHS

≥ 3 MONTHS
< 6 MONTHS

≥ 6 MONTHS
< 1 YEAR

 ≥ 1 YEAR
< 2 YEARS

≥ 2 YEARS
< 5 YEARS

≥ 5 
YEARS

TOTAL

Cash and cash balances with 
central banks

109 --- --- --- --- --- --- 109

Financial assets held for trading 
derivatives held for hedging 
and financial assets mandatorily  
at FVTPL

--- --- --- --- --- --- 49 49

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

--- --- --- --- --- 10 --- 10

Financial assets at FVTOCI --- 50 50 225 313 717 996 2,351

Loans and advances 3,646 4,081 610 2,581 1,102 5,206 1,156 18,382

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 3,755 4,131 660 2,806 1,415 5,933 2,201 20,901

Deposits from central banks --- --- --- --- 812 --- --- 812

Financial liabilities held for trading 
and derivatives held for hedging

--- --- --- --- --- --- 136 136

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

--- --- --- --- --- 10 --- 10

Financial liabilities measured  
at amortised cost

3,095 3,682 1,826 2,145 2,948 3,640 216 17,552

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 3,095 3,682 1,826 2,145 3,760 3,650 352 18,510
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3.5.	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK

Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Specific limits are set-up based on the open positions in foreign currencies. In particular, for transactions involving derivative instruments, ad hoc 
limits are established.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the financial assets and liabilities denominated in EUR, in USD and in other currencies are as follows (in EUR):

31st December 2018 (In €) EUR USD OTHER TOTAL

Cash and cash balances with central banks 109,018,906 5,917 7,510 109,032,333

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 
held for trading 789,701 41,561,416 17,249,522 59,600,639

Financial assets at FVTOCI 2,351,170,517 --- --- 2,351,170,517

Loans and advances 15,798,612,329 2,457,647,095 126,079,156 18,382,338,580

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 18,259,591,453 2,499,214,428 143,336,188 20,902,142,069

Deposits from central banks 812,487,716 --- --- 812,487,716

Financial liabilities held for trading and held for hedging 69,947,022 57,906,471 8,533,790 136,387,283

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss --- --- 10,240,794 10,240,794

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 16,611,292,787 789,547,469 151,069,173 17,551,909,429

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 17,493,727,525 847,453,940 169,843,757 18,511,025,222

31st December 2019 (In €) EUR USD OTHER TOTAL

Cash and cash balances with central banks 726,365,857 3,805 13,171 726,382,833

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
and held for trading --- 27,147,799 3,045,248 30,193,047

Financial assets at FVTOCI 2,258,325,097 7,040,755 --- 2,265,365,852

Loans and advances 16,065,207,311 2,650,018,509 430,104,674 19,145,330,494

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 19,049,898,265 2,684,210,868 433,163,093 22,167,272,226

Deposits from central banks 809,894,291 --- --- 809,894,291

Financial liabilities held for trading and held for hedging 96,451,824 75,916,358 6,574,533 178,942,715

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss --- --- --- ---

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 17,255,412,950 1,175,996,234 337,647,203 18,769,056,387

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 18,161,759,065 1,251,912,592 344,221,736 19,757,893,393
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3.6.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

3.6.1.     REGULATORY CAPITAL
The Bank is required to comply with the Luxembourg prudential regulations that transpose the European Directive on “Capital adequacy for credit 
institutions” into national law.

During the past years the Bank has complied with its entire externally imposed capital requirement.

The Bank regulatory capital is determined in compliance with CSSF circulars, which adopted the Basel III capital requirements with effect from 
1 January 2014.

The Bank regulatory capital consists of the sum of the following elements:
-	� Tier 1 capital (all qualifies as Common Equity Tier 1 – CET 1 – capital), which includes ordinary share capital, related share premiums, 

retained earnings, reserves and NCI after adjustment for foreseeable dividends and deductions for goodwill, intangible assets and other 
regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes;

-	� Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities and certain provisions for loans losses that are presently unidentified on an 
individual basis. 

Banking operations are categorised as either trading book or non-trading book, and risk-weighted assets are determined according to specified 
requirements that seek to reflect the varying level of risk attached to assets and exposures not recognised in the statement of financial position. 

The Bank’s aim is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investors, creditors and market confidence and to sustain the future devel-
opment of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Bank recognised the need to main-
tain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound  
capital position.
 
The Bank’s regulatory position under Basel III at 31 December 2019, excluding income for the current year, is as follows:

(In €)
TIER 1 CAPITAL

2019 2018

Ordinary share capital 1,389,370,555  1,389,370,555

Share premium 7,720,692  7,720,692

Other reserves and retained earnings less 50% of holdings 
in other credit and financial institutions amounting to more 
than 10% of their capital

934,051,636  895,709,492

Others deductions (5,533,853)  (23,400,273)

TOTAL TIER 1 2,325,609,030 2,269,400,466

TIER 2 CAPITAL 2019 2018

General credit risk adjustments --- ---

Subordinated loan 200,000,000 200,000,000

TOTAL TIER 2  200,000,000  200,000,000

TOTAL OWN FUND ELLIGIBLE FOR SOLVENCY PURPOSES 2,525,609,030  2,469,400,466
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3.6.2.     CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND RISK WEIGHTS 
The following table summarises the risks broken down by Basel regulatory class. These risks serve as a reference for calculating the solvency 
ratio of the Bank within the framework of regulatory reports filed with the CSSF.

3.6.3.     CAPITAL ADEQUACY
Under the European regulation transposed into national law by the CSSF circulars as amended, the Bank is required to comply with the regulatory 
ratios at all times meaning minimum common equity capital ratio at least equal to 4.5%, a minimum Tier 1 Capital ratio at least equal to 6% and a 
minimum Total Capital plus Conservation buffer of 10.5%. 

As at 31 December 2019, the solvency ratio of the Bank is 29.52% (2018: 26.21%), above the regulatory limit of 8% and above the regulatory 
limit including conservation buffer limit of 10.5%. Over the year 2019, the higher solvency ratio amounted to 29.52% (December) and the lower 
amounted to 24.74% (September).

3.6.4.     CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND PLANNING
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally imposed capital require-
ments and maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise the shareholder value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of 
its activities. No changes have been made to the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years.

As part of the internal assessment process for its capital adequacy (relative to Basel III Pillar 2), the Bank considers that the Pillar 1 risks (credit, 
market and operational risks) are sufficiently covered by the regulatory capital under Pillar 1 as at 31 December 2019 and going forward. 

(In €) 2019 2018

AMOUNT OF RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS AMOUNT OF RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS

CREDIT AND COUTERPARTY RISK 8,173,661,171 9,065,433,489 

Central governments and central banks 13,788,761 57,439,997

Public Sector Entities 266,181,945 ---

Corporates 4,404,058,244  5,036,477,865

Institutions 3,233,233,294  3,767,875,731

Retail 1,502,204 2,428,184

Exposures in default 140 33,385

Equity exposures 38,214,814 35,724,886

Other items 48,722,842  37,407,503

Covered bonds 135,052,187 86,215,772

Collective investments undertakings (CIU) 32,906,740 41,830,166

MARKET RISK --- ---

OPERATIONAL RISK 377,498,367 351,189,200

CREDIT VALUATION ADJUSTMENT 4,247,864 5,382,489

TOTAL RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS  
AND CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 8,555,407,402 9,422,005,178

TIER 1 capital ratio 27.18%  24.09%

Total capital ratio 29.52%  26.21%
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3.6.5.     THE ICAAP (INTERNAL CAPITAL ASSESSMENT PROCESS)
The second Pillar of Basel III capital framework describes how supervisory authorities and the Bank can effectively assess the appropriate level 
of regulatory capital. This assessment must cover all risks incurred by the Bank, their sensitivity to crises scenarios and how they are expected 
to evolve in light of development projects.

This internal assessment system is regularly integrated into the Bank’s decision-making and the management processes and supported, where 
appropriate, by impact analyses of crises scenarios on business plans and by models that reflect concentrations and diversifications in an eco-
nomic manner.

3.7.	 OPERATIONAL RISK

The operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed processes, people and systems or from external events. This definition 
includes legal risk.

Segregation of duties, internal procedures, and technological systems in force mitigate the risk of losses due to errors or inadequacies.

3.8.	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

During 2019 and 2018, in order to manage efficiently its treasury position, the Bank used mainly foreign exchange transactions and interest  
rate swaps.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the notional amount and fair value of the derivatives held for trading are as follows (in EUR):

As mentioned in Note 2, as far as interest rate risk is concerned, only fair value hedge is applied by the Bank. 

3.9.	 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost (excluding cash 
balances with central banks) in the statement of financial position (in millions of EUR):

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities corresponds to the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

(In €)
2019 2018

NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

ASSETS

Interest rate instruments --- --- --- ---

Currency instruments 2,870,722,666 30,193,047  2,846,361,067 48,445,482 

2,870,722,666 30,193,047  2,846,361,067 48,445,482 

LIABILITIES

Interest rate instruments 35,000,000 660,551 65,000,000 1,464,664 

Currency instruments 3,544,863,548 80,040,342  3,410,238,045  65,878,843

3,579,863,548 80,700,893  3,475,238,045  67,343,507

(In €)
CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

2019 2018 2019 2018

ASSETS

Loans and advances 19,145  18,382 18,903  18,398

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities measured  
at amortised cost

18,769  17,552 19,723  18,224
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The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost have been determined through the present value of future 
cash flows: the value of a financial instrument held to maturity at the year-end analysis is equal to the sum at that date of all the discounted cash 
inflows and outflows expected.

The cash flows are discounted with reference to the zero-coupon curve associated with currency in which the instrument is denominated and 
translated, where applicable, to the reference currency using the exchange rate applying on the analysis date.

3.9.1.     FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quo-
tations. For all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other valuation techniques.

(i)	 Valuation models

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank uses the following fair value hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instru-
ments, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. This level includes listed equity securities 
and debt instruments on exchanges (for example: London Stock Exchange, Frankfurt Stock Exchange, New York Stock Exchange) and exchanges 
traded derivatives like futures (for example: Nasdaq, S&P 500).

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identi-
cal or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly 
or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based on 
observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that 
are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments for which market observa-
ble prices exist and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, 
credit spreads and other premia used in estimating discount rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected 
price volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid 
to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more simple financial instruments, such as inter-
est rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little management judgement and estimation. Observable prices or 
model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchanged-traded derivatives and simple over-the-counter 
derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is 
prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

(ii)	 Valuation framework

The Bank has adopted and applied a specific policy issued by the Group, denominated “Fair Value Policy”, which states principles and methodolo-
gies to calculate financial instruments fair value.

In relation to controls and procedures put in place concerning valuation framework, please refer to Note 3.d “Market risk”.

(iii)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value – fair value hierarchy

The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at year-end, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair 
value measurement is categorised. The amounts are based on the values recognised in the statement of financial position.
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During the reporting years ending 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 categories, and 
no transfers into and out of Level 3 category.

31 December 2018 
(In €) LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS (FVTPL)

Financial assets held for trading --- 48,445,482 --- 48,445,482

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 789,701 --- --- 789,701

Financial assets designated at fair value --- 10,365,456 --- 10,365,456

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTOCI

Equity instruments (other than investments  
in subsidiaries) --- 211,185 --- 211,185

Debt instruments 2,350,959,332 --- --- 2,350,959,332

DERIVATIVES HELD FOR HEDGING --- 210,014 --- 210,014

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 2,351,749,033 59,232,137 --- 2,410,981,170

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING

Derivatives held for trading --- 67,343,507 --- 67,343,507

Short positions --- --- --- ---

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT  
OR LOSS --- 10,240,794 --- 10,240,794

DERIVATIVES HELD FOR HEDGING --- 69,043,776 --- 69,043,776

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES --- 146,628,077 --- 146,628,077

31 December 2019 
(In €) LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS (FVTPL):

Financial assets held for trading --- 30,193,047 --- 30,193,047

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 613,898 --- --- 613,898

Financial assets designated at fair value --- --- --- ---

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTOCI

Equity instruments (other than investments  
in subsidiaries) --- 211,185 --- 211,185

Debt instruments 2,258,113,912 --- --- 2,258,113,912

Loans --- --- 7,040,755 7,040,755

DERIVATIVES HELD FOR HEDGING --- 2,111,798 --- 2,111,798

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 2,258,727,810 32,516,030 7,040,755 2,298,284,595

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING

Derivatives held for trading --- 80,700,893 --- 80,700,893

Short positions --- --- --- ---

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT  
OR LOSS --- --- --- ---

DERIVATIVES HELD FOR HEDGING --- 98,241,822 --- 98,241,822

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES --- 178,942,715 --- 178,942,715
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3.9.	 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Bank has four reportable operating segments which are the Bank’s strategic divisions. The Bank’s Management reviews the divisions internal 
management reports on a monthly basis while the Bank’s Board of Directors reviews these internal management reports on a quarterly basis. 

Alongside these strategic divisions the Bank has also governance and administration divisions. The strategic divisions include: the Corporate 
Banking division which operates on loans, deposits, securities trading and other transactions with corporate customers. The Wealth Management 
division operates on loans, deposits, securities trading and other transactions with private customers. The Financial Markets division undertakes 
the Bank’s funding and centralised risk management activities through borrowings, issue of debt securities, use of derivatives for risk management 
purposes and investing in debt or equity securities.

2019
RESULTS BY STRATEGIC 
DIVISIONS
(In € ‘000)

CORPORATE 
& FINANCIAL 

INSTITUTIONS

WEALTH  
MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL 
MARKETS

OTHERS  
FINANCIAL 

 INSTITUTIONS

GOVERNANCE TOTAL  
REVENUES

Net interest margin 81,569 1,746 80,776 (10,010) --- 154,081

Dividends --- --- 51 --- --- 51

Net commission margin 23,003 2,909 9,281 157 --- 35,350

Net trading income (1,355) 369 (30,952) (1,966) --- (33,904)

Net other expenses (18) (312) (1) (1,335) --- (1,666)

Impairment on financial assets (6,316) (22) (987) 734 --- (6,591)

TOTAL AREA RESULTS 96,883 4,690 58,168 (12,420) --- 147,321

Depreciation --- --- --- --- (2,236) (2,236)

Provision --- --- --- --- (1,172) (1,172)

Staff and operating expenses --- --- --- --- (43,204) (43,204)

Tax expenses --- --- --- --- (6,626) (6,626)

TOTAL OPERATING &  
EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSES 

--- --- --- --- (53,238) (53,238)

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 94,083

2018
RESULTS BY STRATEGIC 
DIVISIONS
(In € ‘000)

CORPORATE 
& FINANCIAL  

INSTITUTIONS

WEALTH  
MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL 
MARKETS

OTHERS  
FINANCIAL 

 INSTITUTIONS

GOVERNANCE TOTAL  
REVENUES

Net interest margin 67,837 1,981 84,576 (11,383) --- 143,011

Dividends --- 620 52 --- --- 672

Net commission margin 29,590 4,238 8,607 101 --- 42,536

Net trading income 2,121 476 (36,580) (858) --- (34,841)

Net other expenses (137) (270) (46) (2,404) --- (2,857)

Impairment on financial assets (4,027) (79) 1,413 76 --- (2,617)

TOTAL AREA RESULTS 95,384 6,966 58,022 (14,468) --- 145,904

Depreciation --- --- --- --- (960) (960)

Provision --- --- --- --- 179 179

Staff and operating expenses --- --- --- --- (38,841) (38,841)

Tax expenses --- --- --- --- (2,285) (2,285)

TOTAL OPERATING &  
EXTRAORDINARY EXPENSES 

--- --- --- --- (41,907) (41,907)

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 103,997
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2019
ASSETS BY STRATEGIC DIVISION
(In € ‘000)

CORPORATE & 
FINANCIAL  

INSTITUTIONS

WEALTH  
MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL 
MARKETS

OTHERS
FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS

TOTAL

Cash and cash balances with central banks --- --- 725,910 473 726,383

Financial assets held for trading --- 117 29,497 579 30,193

Financial assets designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

--- --- --- --- ---

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value --- --- 614 --- 614

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 7,041 --- 2,258,114 211 2,265,366

Loans and advances 10,715,284 12,794 8,089,738 327,514 19,145,330

 Loans and advances to credit institutions 142,263 --- 8,088,691 327,481 8,558,435

 Loans and advances to customers 10,573,021 12,794 1,047 33 10,586,895

Derivatives held for hedging --- --- 2,112 --- 2,112

Tangible fixed assets 556 --- --- 4,053 4,609

Intangible assets --- --- --- --- ---

Tax assets 8,969 --- --- 5,755 14,724

Other assets 11,751 84 8,072 15,732 35,639

TOTAL ASSETS 10,743,601 12,995 11,114,057 354,317 22,224,970

2018
ASSETS BY STRATEGIC DIVISION
(In € ‘000)

CORPORATE 
& FINANCIAL  

INSTITUTIONS

WEALTH  
MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL 
MARKETS

OTHERS
FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS

TOTAL

Cash and cash balances with central banks --- --- 108,551 481 109,032

Financial assets held for trading --- 83 47,197 1,165 48,445

Financial assets designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

--- --- 10,365 --- 10,365

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value --- --- 790 --- 790

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI --- --- 2,350,960 211 2,351,171

Loans and advances 10,390,228 22,442 6,217,547 1,752,122 18,382,339

 Loans and advances to credit institutions 53,630 --- 6,216,349 1,722,014 7,991,993

 Loans and advances to customers 10,336,598 22,442 1,198 30,108 10,390,346

Derivatives held for hedging --- --- 210 --- 210

Tangible fixed assets 236 --- --- 546 782

Intangible assets --- --- --- 2 2

Tax assets 6,202 --- --- 22,976 29,178

Other assets 3,335 179 1,970 19,989 25,473

TOTAL ASSETS 10,400,001 22,704 8,737,590 1,797,492 20,957,787
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2019
LIABILITIS & EQUITY BY STRATEGIC DIVISION
(In € ‘000)

CORPORATE &
FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS 

WEALTH  
MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL 
MARKETS

OTHERS
FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS

TOTAL

LIABILITIES

Deposits from central banks --- --- 809,894 --- 809,894

Financial liabilities held for trading --- 247 80,454 --- 80,701

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

--- --- --- --- ---

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,296,378 819,836 16,440,172 212,670 18,769,056

Deposits from credit institutions 158,172 --- 2,716,690 --- 2,874,862

Deposits from customers 1,136,533 819,836 995,585 212,082 3,164,036

Debts evidenced by certificates 1,673 --- 12,727,897 588 12,730,158

Derivatives held for hedging --- --- 95,791 2,451 98,242

 Provisions 2,576 53 1 1,748 4,378

 Tax liabilities 6,704 --- --- 3,581 10,285

 Other liabilities 10,746 115 5,915 22,846 39,622

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,316,404 820,251 17,432,227 243,296 19,812,178

EQUITY 

Share capital and share premium --- --- --- 1,397,091 1,397,091

Revaluation reserve 18 --- (6,913) 1,724 (5,171)

Other reserves and retained earnings 398 273 (14,747) 940,865 926,789

Net profit for the year 183,287 (551) (65,046) (23,607) 94,083

TOTAL EQUITY 183,703 (278) (86,706) 2,316,073 2,412,792

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,500,107 819,973 17,345,521 2,559,369 22,224,970
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2018
LIABILITIS & EQUITY BY STRATEGIC DIVISION
(In € ‘000)

CORPORATE &
FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS 

WEALTH  
MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL 
MARKETS

OTHERS
FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS

TOTAL

LIABILITIES

Deposits from central banks --- --- 812,488 --- 812,488

Financial liabilities held for trading --- 735 66,608 --- 67,343

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss 

10,241 --- --- --- 10,241

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 3,804,691 798,171 12,704,919 244,128 17,551,909

Deposits from credit institutions 65,441 --- 967,552 39,695 1,072,688

Deposits from customers 3,736,327 798,171 1,557,429 203,856 6,295,783

Debts evidenced by certificates 2,923 --- 10,179,938 577 10,183,438

Derivatives held for hedging --- --- 68,482 562 69,044

 Provisions 1,277 48 8 1,727 3,060

 Tax liabilities 9,175 --- --- 3,176 12,351

 Other liabilities 7,394 151 1,560 40,024 49,129

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,832,778 799,105 13,654,065 289,617 18,575,565

  
EQUITY   

Share capital and share premium --- --- --- 1,397,091 1,397,091

Revaluation reserve --- --- (40,545) --- (40,545)

Other reserves and retained earnings 399 273 6,241 914,766 921,679

Net profit for the year 159,463 769 (63,007) 6,772 103,997

TOTAL EQUITY 159,862 1,042 (97,311) 2,318,629 2,382,222

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3,992,640 800,147 13,556,754 2,608,426 20,957,787

3.10.	 RETURN ON ASSETS (“ROA”)

The Bank return on asset is as follow:

(In €) 2019 2018

Total assets 22,224,969,767 20,957,787,120

Net profit for the year 94,082,728  103,997,153

RETURN ON ASSETS 0.42% 0.50% 
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3.11.	 PILLAR III DISCLOSURES REQUIREMENTS

As part of Intesa Sanpaolo Group, proper Pillar III disclosures are provided in a dedicated and specific document the Parent Company elaborates 
and publishes on a quarterly basis on its web site. 

 The document, denominated “Third pillar of Basel 2 and Basel 3 (“Pillar 3”)” is available at the following web address:
“http://www.group.intesasanpaolo.com/scriptIsir0/si09/governance/eng_terzo_pilastro_basilea.jsp”

3.11.1.     THE ICAAP (INTERNAL CAPITAL ASSESSMENT PROCESS)

The revised disclosure requirements will enable market participants to better compare banks’ disclosures of risk-weighted assets. The revisions 
notably focus on improving the transparency of the internal model-based approaches that banks use to calculate minimum regulatory capital 
requirements. This assessment must cover all risks incurred by the Bank, their sensitivity to crises scenarios and how they are expected to evolve 
in light of development projects.

This internal assessment system is regularly integrated into the Bank’s decision-making and the management processes and supported, where 
appropriate, by impact analyses of crises scenarios on business plans and by models that reflect concentrations and diversifications in an  
economic manner.

The Benchmark Regulation

On 29 June 2016, Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the 
performance of investment funds (the “Regulation”) was published in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) and entered into force on 
30 June 2016.

The Regulation sets out to establish a common regulatory framework at the EU level under which benchmarks are provided, produced and used, 
and to restore trust in indices used as financial benchmarks. The aim of this Regulation is to enhance the benchmark-setting process, improve 
transparency and prevent conflicts of interest in order to enhance the robustness and reliability of benchmarks, thereby strengthening confidence 
in financial markets.

According to the Regulation, a benchmark is any index by reference to which the amount payable under a financial instrument or a financial 
contract, or the value of financial instrument is determined, or an index that is used to measure the performance of an investment fund with the 
purpose of tracking the return of such index, of defining the asset allocation of a portfolio or of computing the performance fee.

The Regulation has the following objectives:
•	� Improving governance and controls over the benchmark process, in particular to ensure that administrators avoid conflicts of interest, or at 

least manage them appropriately;
•	� Improving the quality of input data and methodologies used by benchmark administrators;
•	� Ensuring that contributors to benchmarks and the data they provide are subject to adequate controls, in particular to avoid conflicts of 

interest. Therefore, a legally-binding code of conduct is introduced to contributors specifying their responsibilities with respect to the con-
tribution of input data;

•	� Protecting consumers and investors through greater transparency and adequate rights of redress.

Benchmarks have been classified in three categories:
•	� Critical Benchmarks;
•	� Significant Benchmarks;
•	� Non-significant Benchmarks.

And they are subjected to requirements appropriate to their size and nature, while at the same time respecting a core set of minimum requirements 
in line with the internationally agreed principles of the International Organization of Securities Commission (IOSCO).

With reference to those Benchmarks for European short term rates classified as “Critical”, it has been necessary to issue new rules concerning:
•	� Euribor: the EMMI (European Money Market Institute) has reviewed the method to fix the Euribor during 2019, introducing a new hybrid 

methodology, which uses a hierarchical approach consisting of three levels, applied progressively. 
	 —	� Under level 1, panel bank contributions are based solely on eligible transactions for that particular tenor. 
	 —	� Level 2 looks at contributions based on transactions across the maturity spectrum using a calculation technique provided by EMMI.
	 —	� Finally, under level 3, contributions are based on transactions and/or data from a range of markets closely related to the unsecured euro 

money market, using a combination of modelling techniques and/or panel bank judgment.
•	� Eonia: stating from October 2019 EONIA has been replaced as Euro risk-free rate benchmark for all products and contracts by the €STR 

(Euro short-term rate), which is calculated by the European Central Bank (ECB) and is based on the money market statistical reporting of 
the Eurosystem. Eonian fixing will be published until the end of 2021 and then it will definitively be replaced by the €STR.

•	� Libor USD: LIBOR is an indicative measure of the average interest rate at which major global banks could borrow from one another. LIBOR 
is quoted in multiple currencies and multiple time frames using data reported by private-sector banks. LIBOR is used extensively in the U.S. 
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and globally as a “benchmark” or “reference rate” for various commercial and financial contracts, including corporate and municipal bonds 
and loans, floating rate mortgages, asset-backed securities, consumer loans, and interest rate swaps and other derivatives. It is expected 
that a number of private-sector banks currently reporting information used to set LIBOR will stop doing so after 2021 when their current 
reporting commitment ends, which could either cause LIBOR to stop publication immediately or cause LIBOR’s regulator to determine that 
its quality has degraded to the degree that it is no longer representative of its underlying market. As regulators and market participants seek 
to avoid business and market disruptions resulting from the expected discontinuation of LIBOR, implementing alternative reference rates in 
advance of the discontinuation has taken on urgency. The U.S. and other countries are currently working to replace LIBOR with alternative 
reference rates.

The Benchmarks Project in Intesa Sanpaolo Group

The Group paid a lot of attention on the evolution in terms of Benchmarks Regulation, starting a dedicated project since 2016 involving many 
functions. Several updates have been provided to the Group Risk Committee, Board of Directors, Italian Regulators and the topic has been also 
discussed with the JST during their periodical meetings with the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Risk Officer of the Group.

The Group was also involved actively in some working groups organized by EMMI and European Central Bank. 

With specific reference to the last one, being voting member, the Group participated to the Working Group on risk free rates, where among the 
main tasks it appointed the €STR as new benchmark for the short term money market and published recommendations to manage the transition 
period from Eonia to €STR.

The main interventions covered by the Benckmark project at Group level can be summarized as follows:
•	� Risk and Valuation Assessment: 
	 —	 Of the main impacts generated by transition from Eonia to €STR;
	 —	 On risk valuation on trading and banking book financial instruments;
	 —	 On impacts given by the new Benchmarks fixing methodology on NII and EVE;
	 —	 Of the impacts on counterparty risks, operational one and liquidity;
•	� Screening of the existing contracts based on Euribor, Eonia and Libor, analysing terms and conditions and updating/adding fallback condi-

tions; updates issued by ISDA have been also analysed and external legal opinions have been required if necessary;
•	� Contributions to benchmarks with methodology update, processes and procedures update to fix Euribor and blocking the contribution to 

Eonia;
•	� Organization of internal training seminars;
•	� Internal newsletters and external communication to inform customers on Euribor new regulation when issuing their 31 December 2019 bank 

account statement;
•	� Accounting impacts analysis in terms of hedge accounting and involvement on dedicated meetings organized by the IASB Committee;
•	� Screening of the Operation and IT impacts on the whole procedures following the adoption of the new benchmarks, issuing updates concern-

ing Eonia/€STR/Euribor since 2019 and planning further actions on Libor in 2020-2021;
•	� Foreign branches and subsidiaries involvement in the project.

Benckmark Regulation: focus on Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg S.A.

Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg S.A. has analyzed its financial instruments to identifiy connections with the above mentioned rates. The out-
comes are presented as follows in dedicated tables where data as at 31 December 2019 are presented.
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HEDGING DERIVATIVES (€ MIO - NOMINAL)
BENCHMARK MATURITY

TOTAL

HEDGING TYPE 2020 2021 2022 - 2024 2025 & MORE

EURIBOR

FVH 650 285 1,022 731 2,688

Macro FVH --- --- --- --- ---

CFH --- --- --- --- ---

Macro CFH --- --- --- --- ---

TOTAL EURIBOR 650 285 1,022 731 2,688

Libor USD

FVH --- --- --- 36 36

Macro FVH --- --- --- --- ---

CFH --- --- --- --- ---

Macro CFH --- --- --- --- ---

TOTAL LIBOR USD --- --- --- 36 36

Libor GBP

FVH --- --- --- --- ---

Macro FVH --- --- --- --- ---

CFH --- --- --- --- ---

Macro CFH --- --- --- --- ---

TOTAL LIBOR GBP --- --- --- --- ---

Other benchmarks affected by the reform

FVH --- --- --- 275 275

Macro FVH --- --- --- --- ---

CFH --- --- --- --- ---

Macro CFH --- --- --- --- ---

TOTAL OTHER BENCHMARKS --- --- --- 275 275

TOTAL 650 285 1,022 1,042 2,999

TRADING DERIVATIVES (€ MIO - NOMINAL)
BENCHMARK MATURITY

TOTAL

LEG TYPE 2020 2021 2022 - 2024 2025 & MORE

EURIBOR
Placement 1,033 791 390 --- 2,214

Deposit --- --- --- --- ---

Libor USD
Placement --- --- --- --- ---

Deposit 1,015 801 125 --- 1,941

Other benchmarks
Placement --- --- --- --- ---

Deposit --- ---  275 --- 275

Fix rates
Placement --- --- --- --- ---

Deposit 35 --- --- --- 35

TOTAL
Placement 1,033 791 390 --- 2,214

Deposit 1,050 801 400 --- 2,251
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FINANCIAL ASSETS VALUED AT AMORTIZED COST  
(€ MIO) RATE TYPE

TOTAL

FLOATING FIX

Loans and advances to credit institutions 2,564 5,994 8,558

Euribor 2,453 --- 2,453

Libor USD 102 --- 102

Libor GBP 5 --- 5

Other 4 --- 4

Loans and advances to customers 9,217 1,370 10,587

Euribor 6,865 --- 6,865

Libor USD 2,302 --- 2,302

Libor GBP 10 --- 10

Other 40 --- 40

FINANCIAL ASSETS VALUED AT AMORTIZED COST 11,781 7,364 19,145

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTOCI 
(€ MIO) RATE TYPE

TOTAL

FLOATING FIX ZERO C.

Debt securities 235 1,823 200 2,258

Euribor 235 --- --- 235

Loans and receivables 7 --- --- 7

Euribor 7 --- --- 7

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTOCI 242 1,823 200 2,265
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(In €) 2019 2018

NET CARRYING AMOUNT NET CARRYING AMOUNT

Cash and cash balances with central banks 726,382,833 109,032,333 

Loans and advances to credit institutions  
with maturity ≤ 3 months 

3,618,873,691 4,158,192,064 

TOTAL 4,345,256,524 4,267,224,397 

Cash balances with Central Banks and Deposits from Central Banks are not influenced by the Benchmark Regulation being regulated on a fixed 
rate basis. 

NOTE 4 – 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

In accordance with the requirements of the European Central Bank, the Luxembourg Central Bank implemented effective on 1 January 1999, a 
system of mandatory minimum reserves applicable to all Luxembourg credit institutions. The amount outstanding as at 31 December 2019 is EUR 
719,612,098 (2018: EUR 105,999,996).

Concerning the branch of the Bank in Amsterdam, the mandatory reserve as at 31 December 2019 at De Nederlandsche Bank amounts to EUR 
6,297,698 (2018: EUR 2,551,806).

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST  
(€ MIO) RATE TYPE

TOTAL

FLOATING FIX

Deposits from credit institutions 2,098 777 2,875

Euribor 2,041 --- 2,041

Libor USD 56 --- 56

Libor GBP ---- --- ---

Other 1 --- 1

Deposits from customers 1,548 1,616 3,164

Euribor 1,340 --- 1,340

Libor USD 164 --- 164

Libor GBP 23 --- 23

Other 21 --- 21

Debts evidenced by certificates 7,366 5,364 12,730

Euribor 7,365 --- 7,365

Libor USD 1 --- 1

Libor GBP --- --- ---

Other --- --- ---

FINANCIAL ASSETS VALUED AT AMORTIZED COST 11,012 7,757 18,769
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NOTE 5 – 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”)

The position designated at fair value through profit or loss was represented by a unique structured corporate bond issued in JPY, maturing in 
February 2021, and it has been disposed in February 2019. It was funded by a deposit in the same currency from the Bank’s ultimate Parent 
Company. Designation at FVTPL eliminated accounting mismatches.

NOTE 6 –  
FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (“FVTOCI”) 
As at end of the year, investment securities measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income portfolio was composed as follows:

Financial assets measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income with recycling:
During the last part of 2019 the Bank concluded one originate to share deal, which belongs to the Hold to Collect and Sale business model and 
classified in the FVTOCI portfolio for the part of the loan designated to be sold.

(In €)
2019 2018

NET CARRYING AMOUNT NET CARRYING AMOUNT

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 
LOSS (“FVTPL”) 30,193,047  48,445,482

Derivatives held for trading 30,193,047 48,445,482

INVESTMENT SECURITIES MANDATORILY MEASURED AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”) 613,898 789,701

Mutual funds shares --- 282,637

Securities 613,898 507,064

TOTAL 30,806,945 49,235,183 

INVESTMENT SECURITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”)

Securities --- 10,365,456 

TOTAL --- 10,365,456 

(In €)
2019 2018

NET CARRYING AMOUNT NET CARRYING AMOUNT

QUOTED DEBT INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY

Financial institutions 369,141,661 352,553,907 

Public sector 1,888,972,251 1,998,405,425 

TOTAL 2,258,113,912 2,350,959,332 

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES GRANTED TO

Non Financial companies 7,040,755 ---

TOTAL 7,040,755 ---
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The loan has been valued for the first time at its fair value at the end of December 2019 and the NPV adjustment booked amounts to EUR 18,452.

Given that the mentioned deal was still in the primary syndication phase, the fair value has been kept at par plus accrued interests.

The Luxembourg Central Bank’s long-term refinancing operation (LTRO) is a process by which the Luxembourg Central Bank provides financing to 
local banks in exchange of a deposit with the former of eligible bonds as collateral for that purposes.

The Bank started participating in the program in 2012, obtaining a financing of EUR 1,200,000, maturing in 2015. As at the end of 2014, the  
LTRO transactions were again available by auctions and the Bank decided to participate obtaining a new financing for an amount of  
EUR 90,000,000 maturing in 2018, which has been increased by EUR 500,000,000 during 2015 reaching the total amount of EUR 591,259,790  
as at end of December 2015.

During 2016, EUR 90,000,000 has been reimbursed and a new TLTRO mechanism has been subscribed for an amount equal to EUR 821,440,000.

The last deposit received has been hedged entering in a hedge accounting relationship where an Interest Rate Swap has been used as hedging 
instrument: as a consequence of the hedge accounting, the TLTRO mechanism carrying amount of EUR 809,748,171, of which negative accrued 
interests amount to EUR 11,691,829 and negative NPV adjustment amounts to EUR 146,120 as at 31 December 2019.

During 2018, the TLTRO deposit amounting to EUR 500,000,000 has been reimbursed.

The last deposit still alive is collateralised by eligible securities for an amount of EUR 842,023,178.

Financial assets measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income without recycling:

As at 31 December 2019, shares in affiliated undertakings, which are classified in this category, where the Bank held at least 20% are as follows: 

At 1 January 2018, the Bank designated the investment shown in the table above as equity security at FVTOCI and designation was made because 
the investment is expected to be held for the long term for strategic purposes.

Equity instruments elected to present changes in value in other comprehensive income will never recycle to profit or loss, even in the event of 
disposal of the financial instrument (Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income without “recycling”).

The below table describes the movements on the revaluation reserve related to the investment securities and loans measured at FVTOCI per type 
of financial asset:

(In €)
2019 2018

NET CARRYING AMOUNT NET CARRYING AMOUNT

QUOTED AND NOT QUOTED SHARES ISSUED BY

Corporates 211,185 211,185 

TOTAL 211,185 211,185 

Company
REGISTERED  

OFFICE
PERCENTAGE  

OWNED
NET EQUITY

(IN EUR)*
OF WHICH

PROFIT OF THE YEAR
(IN EUR)*

Lux Gest Asset Management S.A. Luxembourg 100% 464,252 15,283

* Based on unaudited figures.
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NOTE 7 –  
LOANS AND ADVANCES

7.1.	 IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCE FOR LOANS AND ADVANCES

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank has determined its individual impairment at EUR 11,936,964 (2018: EUR 11,785,770) and a collective provision 
amounting to EUR 15,557,116 (2018: EUR 9,402,314).

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans and advances is as follows (in EUR):

(In €) FIXED
INC. SECURITIES

FLOATING 
INC. SECURITIES

LOANS
HTCS

TOTAL

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 (31,982,975) (8,562,391) --- (40,545,366)

Increase (decrease) of unrealised gain (474,602) (115,231) 18,452 (571,381)

(Increase) decrease of unrealised gain 35,124,252 9,804,978 --- 44,929,230

Amount reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
for the year

3,772,956 --- --- 3,772,956

Unrealised fair value gain made on assets 
bought during the year

(661,461) --- --- (661,461)

Loss allowance movement 319,966 115,231 2,754 437,951

Deferred taxes (9,959,828) (2,568,199) (4,601) (12,532,628)

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 (3,861,692) (1,325,612) 16,605 (5,170,699)

(In €) 2019 2018

Impairment as at 1st January 21,188,084 242,884

Charge of the year/First Time Adoption of IFRS 9 13,099,161 36,244,149

Recoveries/amounts written off (6,793,165) (15,298,949)

IMPAIRMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 27,494,080 21,188,084 

of which:  

Individual impairment 11,936,964 11,785,770 

Collective impairment 15,557,116 9,402,314 

(In €)
2018 2018

NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

OF WHICH: 
IMPAIRMENT

NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT

OF WHICH: 
 IMPAIRMENT

Unquoted loans and advances to:

Financial institutions and public sector 9,480,231,094 5,142,088 8,304,016,411 3,871,909 

Private customers 10,082,070 27,741 1,918,921,945 118,145 

Corporate customers 9,655,017,330 22,324,251 8,159,400,224 17,198,030 

TOTAL 19,145,330,494 27,494,080 18,382,338,580 21,188,084 
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7.2.	 GUARANTEES RECEIVED AS COLLATERAL

Loans and advances are secured by the following guarantees received by the Bank:

NOTE 8 –  
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(In €)

2019 2018

LOANS AND ADVANCES
TO CUSTOMERS

LOANS AND  
ADVANCES TO CREDIT  

INSTITUTIONS

LOANS AND ADVANCES
TO CUSTOMERS

LOANS AND  
ADVANCES TO CREDIT  

INSTITUTIONS

NET CARRYING AMOUNTS 10,586,894,810 8,558,435,684 10,390,345,939 7,991,992,641 
 
REAL GUARANTEES

Securities 400,000,000 --- 5,210,387 ---

Other real guarantees 224,797,713 38,062,077  2,576,932,145 45,294,306 

OTHER GUARANTEES

Government guarantees 1,641,882,285 --- 1,698,890,101 ---

Credit institutions guarantees 2,971,384,136 --- 929,812,227 ---

TOTAL GUARANTEES 5,238,064,134 38,062,077 5,210,844,860 45,294,306 

(In €) LAND & 
BUILDING

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT

OTHER 
EQUIPMENT

TOTAL

CARRYING VALUE BEFORE DEPRECIATION  
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 210,631 1,419,774 2,038,730 3,669,135

Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial application  
of IFRS 16

5,310,466 --- 261,904 5,572,370

CARRYING VALUE BEFORE DEPRECIATION AS 1ST JANUARY 2019 5,521,097 1,419,774 2,300,634 9,241,505

Additions 154,940 834 332,620 488,394

Disposals/Transfers --- (6,786) (45,065) (51,851)

Cost as at 31 December 2019 5,676,037 1,413,822 2,588,189 9,678,048

Accumulated depreciation as at 1st January 2019 (155,091) (1,234,472) (1,497,181) (2,886,744)

Depreciation charge (1,795,441) (35,536) (403,574) (2,234,551)

Depreciation reversal --- 6,786 45,065 51,851

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2019 (1,950,532) (1,263,222) (1,855,690) (5,069,444)

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 3,725,505 150,600 732,499 4,608,604
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(In €) LAND & 
BUILDING

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT

OTHER 
EQUIPMENT

TOTAL

CARRYING VALUE BEFORE DEPRECIATION  
AS AT 1ST JANUARY 2018 49,550,706 1,551,678 8,141,863 59,244,247 

Additions --- 23,532 326,478 350,010 

Disposals/Transfers  (49,340,075) (155,436) (5,776,655) (55,272,166) 

Cost as at 31 December 2018 210,631 1,419,774 2,038,730 3,669,135 

Accumulated depreciation as at 1st January 2018 (17,841,212) (1,349,408) (7,239,486 ) (26,430,106)

Depreciation charge (883,845) (40,500) (35,350) (959,695)

Depreciation reversal 18,569,966 155,436 5,777,655 24,503,057

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2018 (155,091) (1,234,472) (1,497,181) (2,886,744)

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018  55,540 185,302 541,549 782,391

NOTE 9 –  
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTE 10 –  
TAX EXPENSE, CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
Current taxes recorded are related to the Amsterdam branch of the Bank; they comprise tax payable on the taxable income realised by the branch 
and they represent the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid.

In relation to the Luxembourg entity, instead, no current taxes are recorded considering the tax integration since 2002 with the Luxembourg Bank’s 
local shareholder Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A. The income from the Branch in the Netherlands is subject to the local income tax 
(25% as at 31 December 2019).

(In €) 2019

COST AS AT 1ST JANUARY 2019 4,968 

Additions ---

Disposals/Transfers ---

Cost as at 31 December 2019 4,968 

Accumulated depreciation as at 1st January 2019 (3,375) 

Depreciation charge (1,124) 

Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2019 (4,499) 

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 469

(In €) 2019 2018

Current tax assets 8,969,210 6,201,905 

Current tax liabilities (6,760,165) (9,174,660) 

NET CURRENT TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 2,209,045 (2,972,755)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

A deferred tax amount has been booked even if the Bank calculates current income in relation to the tax integration with the Bank’s local 
shareholder. 

The deferred tax expenses presented in profit or loss are related to temporary differences generated by financial instruments fair value changes 
booked through profit or loss.

Deferred taxes amount as at 1 January 2019 have been restated to correctly present amounts related to Financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, which were related respectively to one financial asset 
and one financial liability classified in those caption to avoid any accounting mismatch. Amount related to financial liabilities has been conse-
quently restated accordingly, presenting an amount in line with financial assets held for trading.

The deferred tax assets calculated on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are showing a net deferred tax asset 
balance. The deferred tax amount has been consequently shown in deduction of the relative comprehensive income.

The deferred tax assets calculated on the IFRS 9 First Time Adoption contributing to the other comprehensive income have been reversed for an 
amount related to underlying assets arrived at maturity during 2019 and no more part of financial assets at 31 December 2019.

(In €) 2019 2018

Deferred tax assets 5,754,733 22,975,999 

Deferred tax liabilities (3,524,440) (3,176,749) 

TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 2,230,293 19,799,250 

(In €) 1 JANUARY 2019 INCOME STATEMENT EQUITY 31 DECEMBER 2019

Financial assets held for trading (24,227,224) 466,437 --- (23,760,787)

Instruments held for trading 57,417 80,658 --- 138,075

Financial assets designated at fair 
value through profit or loss

128,673 (128,673) --- ---

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 14,202,825 --- (12,532,628) 1,670,197

Financial liabilities held for trading 23,947,624 (480,582) --- 23,467,042

Financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss

(76,213) 76,213 --- ---

Provisions and value adjustments 208,674 --- --- 208,674

IFRS 9 – FTA 5,557,474 (5,050,382) --- 507,092

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) 19,799,250 (5,036,329) (12,532,628) 2,230,293
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NOTE 11 –  
OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

 
NOTE 12 –  
DEPOSITS FROM CENTRAL BANKS 
The Luxembourg Central Bank’s long-term refinancing operation (LTRO) is a process by which the Luxembourg Central Bank provides financing to 
local banks in exchange of a deposit with the former of eligible bonds as collateral for that purposes.

The Bank started participating in the program in 2012, obtaining a financing of EUR 1,200,000, maturing in 2015. As at the end of 2014,  
the LTRO transactions were again available by auctions and the Bank decided to participate obtaining a new financing for an amount of  
EUR 90,000,000 maturing in 2018, which has been increased by EUR 500,000,000 during 2015 reaching the total amount of EUR 591,259,790 as 
at end of December 2015.

During 2016, EUR 90,000,000 has been reimbursed and a new TLTRO mechanism has been subscribed for an amount equal to EUR 821,440,000.

The last deposit received has been hedged entering in a hedge accounting relationship where an Interest Rate Swap has been used as hedging 
instrument: as a consequence of the hedge accounting, the TLTRO mechanism carrying amount of EUR 809,748,171, of which negative accrued 
interests amount to EUR 11,691,829 and negative NPV adjustment amounts to EUR 146,120 as at 31 December 2019.

During 2018, the TLTRO deposit amounting to EUR 500,000,000 has been reimbursed.

The last deposit still alive is collateralised by eligible securities for an amount of EUR 842,023,178.

(In €) 2019 2018

Prepaid charges 3,013,032 2,486,745 

Taxes 12,574,711 16,293,566 

Accrued commission income 7,305,977 590,552 

Other 12,745,109 6,102,286 

OTHER ASSETS 35,638,829 25,473,149 

(In €) 2019 2018

Social security charges 680,913 677,296 

Withholding taxes and VAT 13,014,673 30,142,879 

Administrative expenses to be paid 18,525,725 11,091,781 

Accrued commission expenses 5,255,804 5,110,782 

Short term payable and other sundry accounts 2,144,866 2,106,206 

OTHER LIABILITIES 39,621,981 49,128,944 
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NOTE 13 –  
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FVTPL
The caption included until February 2019 a financial liability which was eligible, according to IFRS 9 to fair value option, with a fair value based on 
the discounted cash flows method. That financial liability has been reimbursed in February 2019. The value of this financial liability amounted to 
EUR 10,240,794 at 31 December 2018.

NOTE 14 –  
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

(In €)
2019 2018 VARIATION

CARRYING AMOUNT CARRYING AMOUNT IN EUR IN %

DEPOSITS FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
Current accounts and amounts with period 
of notice

615,198,776 228,808,275 386,390,501  169%

Term deposits 2,259,663,547  843,880,149 1,415,783,398  168%

TOTAL 2,874,862,323   1,072,688,424  1,802,173,899   168%

CORPORATE CUSTOMERS
Current accounts and amounts with period 
of notice

1,253,110,243 1,058,338,112 194,772,131  18%

Term deposits 1,755,041,294  4,402,432,879 (2,647,391,585) (60%)

TOTAL 3,008,151,537   5,460,770,991  (2,452,619,454)  (45%)

PRIVATE CUSTOMERS
Current accounts and amounts with period 
of notice

97,743,760  489,716,555 (391,972,795) (80%)

Term deposits 58,140,721  345,295,764 (287,155,043) (83%)

TOTAL 155,884,481   835,012,319 (679,127,838) (81%)

DEBTS EVIDENCED BY CERTIFICATES

Certificates of deposits 5,454,880,667  4,844,685,272 610,195,395 13%

Term notes 3,533,001,234  3,772,365,418 (239,364,184) (6%)

Commercial paper 3,742,276,145  1,566,387,005 2,175,889,140 139%

TOTAL 12,730,158,046   10,183,437,695 2,546,720,351  25%

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED  
AT AMORTISED COST 18,769,056,387   17,551,909,429  1,217,146,958 7%
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14.1.	 EUROPEAN MEDIUM TERM NOTES

Since November 2011, the Bank participates as an additional issuer in a EUR 70 billion Euro Medium Term Notes (EMTN) Programme, developed 
by its ultimate Parent Company, alongside Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Ireland (INSPIRE). The programme is guaranteed by Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 
The EMTN (the “bonds”) issued under this programme bear a maturity date of maximum 5 years. The maximum aggregate principal amount 
of notes from time to time outstanding in respect of all issuers will not exceed EUR 70 billion or the equivalent thereof in other currencies. The 
notes are denominated in any currency subject to compliance with any applicable legal and or regulatory and or central bank requirements. As at  
31 December 2019, such notes issued by the Bank amount to EUR 3,533 million (2018: EUR 3,772 million).

14.2.	 COMMERCIAL PAPER

Since March 2011, the Bank participates as an additional issuer in a EUR 30 billion Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) Programme, developed by its 
ultimate Parent Company, alongside Intesa 
Sanpaolo Bank Ireland (INSPIRE). The ECP (further the “notes”) issued under this programme bear 
a maturity date under 1 year (short term notes) and are denominated in Euro, US Dollars or any other currency subject to compliance with any 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The maximum aggregate principal amount of notes from time to time outstanding in respect of all 
issuers will not exceed EUR 30 billion or the equivalent thereof in other currencies. As at 31 December 2019, such ECP issued by the Bank amount 
to EUR 3,742 million (2018: EUR 1,566 million).

NOTE 15 –  
DERIVATIVES HELD FOR HEDGING
The Bank mainly uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to changes in the fair values of certain fixed-rate bonds classified as financial 
assets measured at FVTOCI due to adverse changes in interest rates. In more details, the risk investment strategy is to invest in fixed rate securi-
ties carried at FVTOCI. The exposure of the fixed interest rate hedged item to interest rate risk is converted to floating rates with an interest rate 
swap in order to mitigate a potential fall in its value. The investment in the hedged assets and the completion of the covering hedging instrument 
are done simultaneously (Asset Swaps).

Each interest rate swap is matched with a specific bond subscribed and each hedging relationship is formally documented at inception. The docu-
mentation describes the hedging strategy, identifies the hedged item and the hedging instrument and the nature of the hedged risk.

For each hedging relationship, ex-ante and ex-post hedge effectiveness is measured by ensuring that fair value changes of the hedged items match 
with fair value changes of the hedging instruments.

The fair values of derivatives designed as fair value hedges are as follows:

(In €)
2019 2018

NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

ASSETS

Interest rate instruments 1,050,474,479 2,111,798 155,000,000 210,014 

TOTAL 1,050,474,479 2,111,798 155,000,000 210,014 

LIABILITIES

Interest rate instruments 1,948,906,195 98,241,822 2,342,734,498 69,043,776 

TOTAL 1,948,906,195 98,241,822 2,342,734,498 69,043,776 
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(In €)
2019 2018

CARRYING VALUE CARRYING VALUE

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 1,807,492,881 1,515,661,025

Loans and advances 522,080,675  245,934,498

Deposits from central banks 821,440,000 821,440,000

Deposits from customers 155,000,000 155,000,000

TOTAL 3,306,013,556  2,738,035,523

Hedged items are as follows (in EUR):

NOTE 16 –  
PROVISIONS

Financial guarantee contracts, loan commitments issued and uncommitted credit lines
As at 31 December 2019, the amount in respect of financial guarantee contracts issued, loan commitments issued and uncommitted credit lines 
represent the sum of ECL provisions calculated following IFRS 9 implementation.

Other provisions
The following table sets out other provisions.

The above table shows provisions movements from 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2019. Increase has been generated by foreign exchange 
movements (linked to some provisions in foreign currency).

(In €) 2019 2018

Financial guarantee contracts issued 264,227 382,690 

Loan commitments issued and uncommitted  
credit lines 2,365,547  927,437

Other provisions 1,748,185 1,749,385

TOTAL 4,377,959  3,059,512

(In €) 2019

PROVISION AS AT 1ST JANUARY 2019 1,749,385

Reduction ---

Forex impact 22,170

Provision reversed during the year (23,370)

PROVISIONS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 1,748,185

(In €) 2018

PROVISION AS AT 1ST JANUARY 2018 1,679,138

Reduction ---

Forex impact 70,247

Provision reversed during the year ---

PROVISIONS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 1,749,385
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NOTE 17 –  
EQUITY
17.1.	 SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2011, the Bank’s subscribed and paid-up capital amounts to EUR 280,000,000, represented by 1,750,000 shares with  
no par value.

On 29 June 2012, the Bank transferred the ownership of its subsidiary Intesa Sanpaolo Private Bank (Suisse), S.A., Lugano (ISPB) to its share-
holder Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A., Luxembourg through a partial demerger without dissolution. Consequently, ISPB is ultimately 
controlled by the same party both before and after the partial demerger.

In a partial demerger without dissolution, both assets and liabilities are transferred, this implied the Bank transferring an equivalent portion of own 
funds equal to the book value of the transferred asset. 

According to the demerger contract concluded between the Bank and its sole shareholder, as published in the draft demerger project in the 
Luxembourg official newspaper (Mémorial), dated 26 May 2012, the book value of the subsidiary was fixed at EUR 16,605,170 and the Bank 
reduced its paid-up capital by EUR 4,908,480 cancelling 30,678 shares without par value and reduced its retained earnings and other reserves by 
an amount of EUR 11,696,690, drawing back its shares capital from EUR 280,000,000 to EUR 275,091,520 represented by 1,719,322 shares with 
no par value.

On 10 December 2012, the Bank increased its subscribed and paid-up capital by EUR 260,000,000.

On 1 February 2016 the Bank purchased the Branch from the Group through a contribution in kind. For that purpose, 13,750 shares have  
been issued to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. consisting of EUR 4,279,308.01 to share capital and EUR 7,720,691.99 to share premium in exchange  
of the Branch.

On 22 September 2016, the Bank performed a capital increase of EUR 449,999,892.27 through the issuance of 1,445,911 shares integrally sub-
scribed by Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A. 

The Board of Directors of the Bank during the last meeting held on 25 October 2017 resolved to increase – within the limit of the statutory author-
ized capital - the share capital by an amount of EUR 399,999,835.08 to raise it from EUR 989,370,720.28 to the amount of EUR 1,389,370,555.36 
by creation and issue of 1,285,254 new shares without any nominal value. 

These new shares all subscribed by the sole shareholder Intesa Sanpaolo Holding International S.A, fully paid off, benefit from the same rights 
and privileges as the existing shares. 

As at 31 December 2019, the subscribed capital was therefore EUR 1,389,370,555.36 represented by 4,464,237 shares (integrally subscribed).

17.2.	 REVALUATION RESERVE

Revaluation reserve caption is composed of the cumulative net change in fair value of debt securities measured at FVTOCI until the assets are 
derecognised or reclassified and it amounts to EUR (5,170,699). This amount includes the ECL loss allowance equal to EUR 1,076,786 (gross of 
deferred taxes equal to EUR 268,550). FTA revaluation reserve calculated as at 1 January 2018 following the IFRS 9 implementation has been 
recorded in Retained Earnings.

These revaluation reserves are not distributable.

17.3.	 LEGAL RESERVE

Under Luxembourg Law, the Bank must appropriate to a legal reserve an amount equivalent to 5% of the annual net profit until such reserve is 
equal to 10% of the share capital. This appropriation is made in the following year. 

Distribution of the legal reserve is restricted. As at 31 December 2019, the legal reserve amounts to EUR 71,615,139 (2018: EUR 66,415,281).  
As a consequence of the share capital increase the Bank had during 2017, it has been increased by EUR 5,199,858 during 2019.
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17.4.	 NET WEALTH TAX

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank allocated to the Net Wealth tax reserve an amount equal to EUR 17,000,000, which constitutes an  
unavailable reserve. 

17.5.	 OTHER RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, other reserves amount to EUR 841,268,027 (2018: EUR 841,268,027). 

17.6.	 RETAINED EARNINGS

As at 31 December 2019, retained earnings amount to EUR 13,905,387 (2018: EUR 13,995,691) and mainly include:
•	� the impact of the implementation (FTA) of IFRS 9 as adopted by the European Union (EUR -15,430,609);
•	 the impact of the first time adoption (FTA) of IAS/IFRS standards as adopted by the European Union (EUR 4,850,848);
•	 the impact of the disposal of the functional property carried at fair value (EUR 24,513,535);
•	 the impact of other retained earnings (EUR -28,387).

17.7.	 PROFIT ALLOCATION PROPOSAL

The amount attributable to shareholders, including earnings profit from previous financial years but excluding the impact of the first time appli-
cation of IFRS as adopted by European Union, totals EUR 94,094,546, which corresponds to a return on equity of circa 4.06% (2018: 4.56%). It is 
proposed to the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting approving the financial statements as at 31 December 2019 to allocate the above men-
tioned amounts as follows (in EUR):

(In €) 2018

Net profit of 2019 financial year 94,082,728

Retained profit from previous year (excluding FTA and reclassification from revaluation reserves) 11,818

AMOUNT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 94,094,546

Allocation to legal reserve (5% Net profit) 4,704,137

Allocation to the NWT reserve 17,256,550

Dividend for the financial year (77% rounded up) 72,100,000

TOTAL 94,060,687

Retained profit carried forward to the next financial year 33,859
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NOTE 18 –  
NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest income and expenses from loans and advances, financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and financial assets at FVTOCI are  
recognized according to the effective interest rate methodology.

(In €) 2019 2018

Financial assets held for trading 424,434  746,917

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 44,487 353,910

Hedging derivatives 1,574,235 935,977

Financial assets at FVTOCI 19,870,233 23,997,338

Loans and advances 248,041,782 242,204,180

Interest income on liabilities 7,693,994 6,622,500

Other --- 12,862

TOTAL INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME 277,649,165  274,873,684

(In €) 2019 2018

Hedging derivatives 25,851,502 24,678,664

Financial liabilities held for trading 172,261 507

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 97,507,917 106,960,467

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 36,001 222,559

Interest expenses on assets --- ---

TOTAL INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR CHARGES 123,567,681 131,862,197

NET INTEREST INCOME 154,081,484 143,011,487
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NOTE 19 –  
NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
19.1.	 DISAGGREGATION OF FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

In the following table, fee and commission income from contracts with customers in the scope of IFRS 15 is disaggregated by major type of 
services.

(In €) 2019 2018

Credit activities 71,008,020 47,291,488 

Wealth management and Treasury activities 20,576,873 22,096,875 

Corporate services 726,013 1,005,608 

Other 2,744,270 4,205,581 

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 95,055,176 74,599,552 

Credit activities 49,284,733 19,175,610 

Brokerage and clearing fees 7,165,320 9,355,570 

Other 3,254,854 3,532,639 

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES 59,704,907 32,063,819 

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 35,350,269 42,535,733 
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In the following table, fee and commission income from contracts with customers in the scope of IFRS 15 is disaggregated by nature:

(In €) 2019 2018

Wealth management and Treasury activities 20,576,873 22,097,604 

Structuring fees 29,700,000  15,998,571 

Commitment fees 14,006,274 11,028,688 

Commission income on limited recourse transactions 1,864,386  5,023,575 

Upfront fees 9,767,153  4,568,836 

Arrangement fees 9,435,579  3,798,054 

Cash management fees 733,032  2,408,512 

Amendment fees 1,580,773   1,622,677 

Participation fees 1,878,219    878,450 

Corporate services fees 513,421 770,313

Credit activities – other 1,071,208 727,607 

Commission income on guarantees 659,819   669,863 

Buy out fees 212,592 162,546 

Other 3,055,847 4,844,256

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 95,055,176 74,599,552 

Structuring fees 29,700,000  11,400,000

Brokerage and clearing fees 7,165,320 9,355,570

Servicing fees 8,319,838  2,784,710

Credit activities - other 4,774,545  2,167,448

Commitment fees 1,400,635  1,265,714

Upfront fees 3,545,866   987,520

Arrangement fees 2,096,413  570,218

Other 2,702,290  3,531,910

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES 59,704,907 32,063,819 

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 35,350,269 42,535,733 
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In the following table, fee and commission income from contracts with customers in the scope of IFRS15 is disaggregated by origin:

(In €) 2019 2018

Luxembourg 11,499,192    24,982,514  

Italy 6,218,029    10,745,246  

Netherland 6,870,710     6,661,489  

Qatar 4,188,587    6,078,450 

U.S.A. 3,344,318   4,700,990 

France 1,320,437   2,494,000 

United Kingdom 1,708,657   2,482,516 

Germany 721,420   1,846,963 

South africa 1,856,675   1,751,378 

Spain 2,759,095   1,244,331 

Belgium 971,728   1,036,269 

Ireland 1,258,968   1,022,947 

Russia 38,004,764     919,172 

Cyprus Rep. 76,394      860,955  

Hong kong 1,385,762      810,666  

Japan 708,215      794,496  

Ghana 548,611      664,669  

Switzerland 844,339      616,432  

South korea 395,875      536,656  

China 433,463      399,350  

Kuwait 521,219      395,802  

Cayman Isl 509,687      360,835  

Taiwan 235,426      266,279  

Austria 57,568      265,324  

Canada 225,402      257,111  

India 6,130,389      218,036  

Pakistan 31,217      147,468  

Nigeria 69,877      133,383  

Monaco 86,783      124,681  

Brazil 481,339      113,025  

Saudi Arabia 104,010      106,673  

Other countries 1,487,020     1,561,446  

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 95,055,176   74,599,552  
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19.2.	 CONTRACT BALANCES

Revenues are mainly recognised at a specific point in time, when the Bank satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised service 
to the customer.

As at 31 December 2019 the Bank recognised a receivable amounting to EUR 6,800,000 in relation to a transaction finalized at the end of the year 
and concerning up-front fees to be received during the first quarter of 2020.

(In €) 2019 2018

United Kingdom 33,762,093   13,701,853 

Italy 16,573,779   7,565,127 

U.s.a. 1,180,058   2,349,258 

Luxembourg 3,813,466   2,005,866 

France 861,372   1,874,411 

Russia 517,246    576,641 

Cyprus Rep. 267,369    452,605 

Germany 163,181    324,441 

Japan 231,816    313,844 

South Korea 199,090    279,504 

Ireland 182,362    243,780 

China 228,246    211,610 

Switzerland 44,356    163,633 

India 152,194    152,669 

Taiwan 143,210    152,135 

Cayman Isl 219,476    148,721 

South Africa 100,987    147,986 

Hong Kong 199,287    119,819 

Netherland 90,480    105,288 

Canada 83,573    100,882 

Other Countries 691,266   1,073,746 

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES 59,704,907 32,063,819 

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 35,350,269 42,535,733 
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19.3.	 PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS AND REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The 
Bank recognises revenue when it transfers control over a service to a customer.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with customers, 
including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies.

NOTE 20 –  
DIVIDEND INCOME
As at 31 December 2019 dividend income relates to financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value; 2018 amount relates to financial assets 
mandatorily measured at fair value and to financial assets measured at FVTOCI.

NOTE 21 –  
NET (UN)REALISED LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  
HELD FOR TRADING
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the net (un)realised (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading are composed of:

As at 31 December 2019 net (un)realised losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading are mainly composed of:
•	� Losses realised on Interest rate swap contracts unwinded before their maturity for an amount of EUR -2.9 million (of which EUR -0.2 million 

paid in relation to their NPV and EUR -2.7 million paid in relation to interest rate differentials); as at 31 December 2018 corresponding figures 
were respectively EUR -12.6 million, EUR -15.2 million and EUR 2.6 million. Those contracts have been unwinded in relation to the sale of 
bond instruments disclosed in note 23;

•	�� Losses unrealised on Cross Currency Interest rate swap contracts for an amount of EUR -48.5 million, of which EUR 3.9 million of gains 
linked to their NPV and EUR -52.4 million of losses linked to the interest rate differentials related to the hedging of forex exposures; as at 31 
December 2018 corresponding figures were respectively EUR -56.4 million, EUR -7.6 million and EUR -48.8 million;

•	� Global positive impact generated by foreign translation differences for an amount of EUR 18 million.

Type of service Nature and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations, including 
significant payment terms 

Revenue recognition under IFRS 9 and 15  
(applicable from 1 January 2018)

Corporate banking service The Bank provides banking services to 
corporate customers.
Fees for ongoing account management are 
charged to the customers’ account on a 
monthly basis.
Transaction-based fees are charged when the 
transaction takes place.

Revenue from account service is recognised 
over time as the services are provided.
Revenue related to transactions is recognised 
at the point in time when the transaction takes 
place.

Asset management service The Bank provides asset management services.
Fees for asset management services are 
calculated based on a fixed percentage of the 
value of assets managed and deducted from 
the customers’ account balance on a monthly 
basis.

Revenue from asset management services 
is recognised over time as the services are 
provided.

(In €) 2019 2018

Equity instruments and linked derivatives (116,727) 18,204 

Interest rate instruments and linked derivatives (8,886,285) (18,978,087) 

Foreign exchange transactions (30,044,680) (41,333,014) 

TOTAL (39,047,692) (60,292,897) 
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NOTE 22 –  
NET (UN)REALISED GAINS/(LOSSES) ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
As at 31 December 2019 the net (un)realised gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are mainly composed of 
realised losses on assets classified at fair value through profit or loss for an amount of EUR 251 thousands (2018: EUR 175 thousands) and of real-
ised gains on deposits for an amount of EUR 296 thousands (2018: EUR 273 thousands). Those amounts have been realized following the disposal 
in February 2019 of a security classified as financial asset designated at fair value and the consequent reimbursement of the linked deposit in the 
liability side.

NOTE 23 –  
NET REALISED GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
As at 31 December 2019 net realised gains on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are mainly composed of net 
gains realised on the sale of bond instruments measured at FVTOCI for an amount of EUR 5.2 million (2018: EUR 25.9 million).

NOTE 24 –  
NET OTHER EXPENSES
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, net other expenses are mainly composed of withholding taxes, which are linked to the Bank’s business activity.

(In €)
2019 2018

PROFITS LOSSES NET PROFITS LOSSES NET 

Due from banks and customers 37,048 - 37,048 203,531 (948,000) (744,469) 

Financial assets available for sale 6,381,243 (1,162,536) 5,218,707 28,512,359 (2,562,689) 25,949,670

Debt securities 6,381,243 (1,158,543) 5,222,700 28,512,359 (2,562,689) 25,949,670

Equities --- (3,993) (3,993) --- --- ---

TOTAL ASSETS 6,418,291 (1,162,536) 5,255,755  28,715,890 (3,510,689) 25,205,201 

Securities issued --- --- --- --- --- ---

TOTAL LIABILITIES --- --- --- --- --- ---

NET REALISED GAINS AND LOSSES 6,418,291 (1,162,536) 5,255,755  28,715,890 (3,510,689) 25,205,201 
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NOTE 25 – 
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The average number of personnel employed by the Bank at the end of the financial year was as follows:

NOTE 26 – 
NET IMPAIRMENT ON FINANCIAL ASSETS
During the year, the Bank has recorded impairment on financial assets as follows:

(In €) 2019 2018

Wages and salaries 14,520,032 14,246,034 

Social security charges 2,185,206 2,160,859 

Legal pension and similar expenses 862,716 854,225 

Employee benefits 1,776,381 1,632,146 

Other 736,650 152,497 

TOTAL STAFF EXPENSES 20,080,985 19,045,761 

Operating expenses 8,145,257 5,982,750 

Repair and maintenance 241,127 349,044 

Training and moving 1,037,564 1,083,963 

IT outsourcing costs 9,116,627 8,047,329 

Legal and professional fees 1,499,188 1,524,454 

Marketing and representation fees 1,551,815 1,582,330 

Charges linked to Corporate activity and other charges 1,531,352 1,225,562 

TOTAL GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 23,122,930 19,795,432 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 43,203,915 38,841,193 

2019 2018

Senior Management 4 4 

Middle Management 53 59 

Employees 112 109 

TOTAL 169 172 

(In €) 2019 2018

Write-downs Write-backs Total Total

Loans and advances (13,472,723) 7,369,416 (6,103,307) (3,076,196)

Debt securities (642,324) 154,583 (487,741) 459,660

IMPAIRMENT (14,115,047) 7,523,999 (6,591,048) (2,616,536)
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NOTE 27 – 
RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
27.1.	 IDENTITY OF RELATED PARTIES

The Bank has a related party relationship with its direct and non-direct parent companies, entities of its Group and with its directors (hereafter 
“administrative bodies”) and executive officers (hereafter “other key management personnel”). All transactions made with related parties are 
concluded on an arm’s length basis.

The amount of main assets, liabilities, income and expenses as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 concerning Group entities and the parent compa-
nies are as follows: 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(In €) 2019 2018

Assets held for trading and assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss

27,885,550 41,300,587 

Investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL 613,898 507,064 

Investment securities at FVTOCI 211,185 211,185 

Loans and advances 8,410,988,691 7,955,946,319 

Hedging derivatives – Assets 2,111,798 210,014 

Tangible assets* 3,298,698 ---

Financial liabilities held for trading and liabilities carried at 
fair value through profit or loss 65,084,904 60,304,445 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost* 7,555,827,031 9,505,200,327 

Hedging derivatives – Liabilities 98,241,822 69,043,776 

Provisions 36,956 136,523 

INCOME AND EXPENSES 
(In €) 2019 2018

Interest income* 51,214,474 46,799,881 

Fees and commissions income 757,693 1,621,224 

Dividend income 50,878 672,427 

Net (un)realised losses on financial assets and liabilities 
held for trading (84,549,073) (185,547,082) 

Net unrealised losses on financials assets and liabilities 
held for hedging (33,643,116) (54,268,176) 

Net (un)realised losses on financials assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss 296,312 191,474 

Net realized gains on financials assets and liabilities not at 
fair value through profit or loss (2,896) (1,151,622) 

Interest expenses* (75,800,052) (84,732,473) 

Fees and commissions expenses (16,537,939) (15,210,779) 

Impairment 265,791 1,088,202 

Administrative expenses (12,081,912) (11,249,070) 

Other operating income and expenses (1,446,823) (1,949,352) 

Depreciation* (1,073,524) ---

* �Tangible assets amount (and the related amount booked in caption “Depreciation”) relates to real estate operating lease contract subscribed by the Bank with its parent company Intesa Sanpaolo 
Holding International S.A. (ISPH); concerning financial liabilities measured at AC, the amount includes EUR 221 mio of deposits and EUR 4,309 mio of debt certificates with ISPH. In relation to 
Income and expenses captions, interest expenses related to transactions with ISPH amounted to EUR 27 mio.
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27.2.	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Bank incurred expenses with respect to the remuneration of the members of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies  
as follows:

Administrative bodies are related to Directors composing the Bank’s board. The amount relates to their participation to each board.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank has no obligations related to retirement pensions for former administrative bodies and key manage-
ment personnel.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank has not granted advances and credits and has not entered into guarantee commitments for the above 
mentioned bodies and personnel.

During 2019 the Bank has paid bonuses to other key management personnel for an amount of EUR 280,000 (2018: EUR 331,940). 

NOTE 28 – 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Bank’s commitments and contingent liabilities may be analysed as follows:

(In €) 2019 2018

Administrative bodies 200,946 131,392 

Other key management personnel 1,317,188 1,506,370 

TOTAL 1,518,134 1,637,762 

(In €) 2019 2018

Unused confirmed credits 4,639,628,905 6,480,805,726 

 - out of which towards related parties --- 25,065 

Guarantees and other direct substitutes for credit 316,141,594 479,967,237 

 - out of which towards related parties 83,945,442 273,000,316 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS     91

28.1.	 GUARANTEES RECEIVED BY THE BANK:

Unused confirmed credits and contingent liabilities are secured by guarantees received by the Bank as follows:

NOTE 29 – 
DEPOSIT GUARANTEE AND INVESTOR COMPENSATION SCHEMES 
The law related to the resolution, reorganisation and winding-up measures of credit institutions and certain investment firms and on deposit guar-
antee and investor compensation schemes (“the Law”), transposing into Luxembourgish law the directive 2014/59/EU establishing a framework 
for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms and the directive 2014/49/EU related to deposit guarantee and investor 
compensation schemes, was passed on 18 December 2015.

The deposit guarantee and investor compensation scheme “Association pour la Garantie des Dépôts Luxembourg” (AGDL) was replaced by a new 
contribution based system of deposit guarantee and investor compensation scheme. This new system covers eligible deposits of each depositor 
up to an amount of EUR 100,000 and investments up to an amount of EUR 20,000. The Law also provides that deposits resulting from specific 
transactions or fulfilling a specific social or other purpose are covered for an amount above EUR 100,000 for a period of 12 months.

The funded amount of the “Fonds de résolution Luxembourg” (FRL) shall reach by the end of 2026 at least 1% of covered deposits, as defined in 
article 1 number 36 of the Law, of all authorized credit institutions in all participating Member States. This amount will be collected from the credit 
institutions through annual contributions during the years 2015 to 2024. 

The target level of funding of the “Fonds de Garantie des Dépôts Luxembourg” (FGDL) is set at 0.8% of covered deposits, as defined in article 163 
number 8 of the Law, of the relevant credit institutions and was to be reached by the end of 2018 through annual contributions. The contributions 
were made in the form of annual payments during the years 2016 to 2018. 
 
Since the level of 0.8% was reached, the Luxembourgish credit institutions are to continue to contribute for 8 additional years in order to constitute 
an additional safety buffer of 0.8% of covered deposits as defined in article 163 number 8 of the Law.

	

(In €) CONTINGENT 
LIABILITIES

UNUSED 
CONFIRMED CREDITS

2019

NET CARRYING AMOUNTS 316,141,594 4,639,628,905

Real guarantees
Securities 2,893,810 ---

Other real guarantees 40,707,113 15,290,523

Personal guarantees
Government guarantees --- 873,327,084

Credit institutions guarantees --- 2,999,970

TOTAL GUARANTEES 43,600,923 891,617,577

2018

NET CARRYING AMOUNTS 479,967,237 6,480,805,726 

Real guarantees
Securities  1,520,969 ---

Other real guarantees  3,950,268 28,610,765 

Personal guarantees
Government guarantees --- 801,129,228 

Credit institutions guarantees  12,153 2,650,000,000 

TOTAL GUARANTEES 5,473,390 3,479,739,993 
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NOTE 30 –  
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES AND UNDERWRITING FUNCTIONS
The Bank provides its customers with, among others, the following services:
-	 Private Banking;
-	 Corporate services;
-	 Custody.

Assets managed on behalf of third parties are as follows:

NOTE 31 –  
AUDIT FEES	
The audit fees and audit related fees for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

NOTE 32 –  
ENCUMBERED ASSETS	
In 2019 and 2018 the Bank participated to the Long Term Refinancing Operation mechanism organised by the Banque centrale du Luxembourg for 
an amount of EUR 812 million (2018: EUR 812 million). Those deposits are collateralised by eligible securities classified in the securities at fair 
value through OCI portfolio for an amount of EUR 842 million (2018: EUR 873 million).

(In €) 2019 2018

Custody and administration of transferable securities 8,838,417,094 8,766,001,222

Wealth Management 161,141,167  216,904,473

(In €) 2019 2018

Audit fees 200,500 200,500 

Audit related fees 350,500 350,500 

Other 25,000 111,000 

TOTAL 576,000 662,000 

ASSET ENCUMBRANCE

(In €) ENCUMBERED UNENCUMBERED CARRYING AMOUNT

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

FAIR VALUE CARRYING 
AMOUNT

FAIR VALUE 2019 2018

Cash and cash 
equivalents

--- --- 4,345,256,524 --- 4,345,256,524 4,267,224,397

Debt securities 842,023,178 842,023,178 1,416,090,734 1,416,090,734 2,258,113,912 2,361,324,788

Equities --- --- 825,083 825,083 825,083 1,000,886

Loans and advances 148,720,000 --- 15,384,777,558 --- 15,533,497,558 14,224,146,516

Other financial assets --- --- 32,304,845 32,304,845 32,304,845  48,655,496

Non financial assets --- --- 54,971,845 --- 54,971,845  55,435,037

TOTAL 2019 990,743,178 842,023,178 21,234,226,589 1,449,220,662 22,224,969,767  20,957,787,120
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NOTE 33 –  
ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN FINANCING DURING THE YEAR

(In €) LIABILITIES EQUITY

DEBT  
SECURITIES

SUBORDINATED 
LIABILITIES

ORDINARY  
SHARES

SHARE  
PREMIUM

RETAINED  
EARNINGS

TOTAL

OPENING BALANCE AT  
1 JANUARY 2019 5,338,752,423 200,000,000 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 13,995,691 6,949,839,361

Changes from financing 
cash flows

Proceeds from issue  
of debt securities 6,596,197,971 --- --- --- --- 6,596,197,971

Repayment of debt  
securities (4,659,344,538) --- --- --- --- (4,659,344,538)

Proceeds from issue  
of subordinated loans --- --- --- --- --- ---

Proceeds from disposal  
of assets --- --- --- --- --- ---

TOTAL CHANGES FROM 
FINANCING CASH FLOW 1,936,853,433 --- --- --- --- 1,936,853,433

Other changes (328,477) --- --- --- --- (328,477)

Allocation of 2018 result --- --- --- --- (2,705) (2,705)

BALANCE AT  
31 DECEMBER 2019 7,275,277,379 200,000,000 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 13,992,986 8,886,361,612

(In €) LIABILITIES EQUITY

DEBT  
SECURITIES

SUBORDINATED 
LIABILITIES

ORDINARY  
SHARES

SHARE  
PREMIUM

RETAINED  
EARNINGS

TOTAL

OPENING BALANCE AT  
1 JANUARY 2018 6,454,645,627 --- 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 4,850,848 7,856,587,722

Changes from financing 
cash flows

Proceeds from issue of 
debt securities 3,276,013,564 --- --- --- --- 3,276,013,564

Repayment of debt  
securities (4,391,439,737) --- --- --- --- (4,391,439,737)

Proceeds from issue  
of subordinated loans --- 200,000,000 --- --- --- 200,000,000

Proceeds from disposal  
of assets --- --- --- --- 24,513,535 24,513,535

TOTAL CHANGES FROM 
FINANCING CASH FLOW (1,115,426,173) 200,000,000 --- --- 24,513,535 (890,912,638)

IFRS9 - First time 
adoption --- --- --- --- (15,343,010) (15,343,010)

Other changes (467,031) --- --- --- --- (467,031)

Allocation of 2017 result --- --- --- --- (25,682) (25,682)

BALANCE AT  
31 DECEMBER 2018 5,338,752,423 200,000,000 1,389,370,555 7,720,692 13,995,691 6,949,839,361
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NOTE 34 –  
OPERATING LEASES
The Bank leases cars and office premises under operating leases. 

Right-of-use-assets
Right-of-use-assets mainly relate to leased branch and office premises that are presented within property and equipment (see Note 8).

As at 31 December 2019, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are mainly composed of Luxembourg real 
estate location contract, which will arrive at maturity at the end of December 2021.

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities mainly relate to real estate operating leases of the branch and of the office premises.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

As at 31 December 2018, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

(In €) MOTOR VEHICLES REAL ESTATE LOCATION 
CONTACTS

TOTAL

Within 1 year 74,964 1,768,750 1,843,714

1 to 5 years  179,169 3,537,500 3,716,669

Over 5 years --- --- ---

TOTAL 254,133 5,306,250 5,560,383

(In €) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2019 5,572,370

Depreciation charge of the year (1,984,406)

Additions 446,783

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 4,034,747

(In €) LEASE LIABILITIES

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2019 5,572,370

Reductions (1,932,928)

Additions 446,783

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 4,086,225

(In €) 2019

Interest on lease liabilities (19,409)

Depreciation charge of the year (1,984,406)

Expenses relating to short-term leases (16,487)

Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets (22,676)

TOTAL AMOUNT (2,042,978)
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NOTE 35 –  
IMPACTS OF MACROECONOMIC FACTORS ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Bank does not expect a significant impact on its performance and financial stability due to the Brexit.

The above conclusion has been reached analysing the different types of risks Brexit shall generate.

Exchange rate volatility:
A fall in value of sterling and exchange rate volatility could be generated in the aftermath of the Brexit. Taking into consideration the structure of 
exchange rate risk of the Bank, no significant impacts are expected.

Industry sectors:
Probably companies operating in the real estate-related sectors cited uncertainty within the UK property market, deferred investment decisions, 
and increases in construction and labour costs as being potential risks. Companies operating in the travel industry have cited the availability of 
markets, for example, securing flying rights in Europe, as being a major concern. The Bank has analysed the type of activities performed by its 
clients, and no major issues related to Brexit have been identified.

Securities issued by the Bank:
Intesa Sanpaolo London S.p.A. acts as one of the dealers used by the Bank to place its issuance.
Following the Brexit, the Bank may engage a new dealer without any impact to the ECP/EMTN issuance program.

Involvement of Group entities located in UK in the Bank corporate lending activity:
From time to time the Bank interacts with entities of the Group located in London (Banca IMI London Branch or ISP London Branch) to finalize its 
corporate lending activities. Following the Brexit, the Bank will interact with the Group to achieve the same goals and have no impacts.

Positive impact of Brexit:
Following the Brexit, Luxembourg market will benefit of a favourable impact following the transfer of activities and entities. As per consequence, 
the Bank will dialogue with the Group to develop a strategy to capture opportunities to go on developing its business. 

NOTE 36 – EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The Bank is not aware of any adjusting or non-adjusting event that would have occurred since 31 December 2019.
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Intesa Sanpaolo Bank Luxembourg S. A.
19-21, boulevard du Prince Henri
L-1724 Luxembourg

Tél.	:	+352 46 14 11 1
Fax	:	+352 22 37 55

www.intesasanpaolobankluxembourg.lu
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